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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Let's go back on the
  

 2   record.
  

 3                 Mr. Moyes, have you filed all the
  

 4   late-filed exhibits in the docket?
  

 5                 MR. MOYES:  We are in the process of doing
  

 6   that right now.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  Excellent.
  

 8                 Members, you should have Chairman's 1 on
  

 9   your tablet which is the PDF version of the certificate
  

10   we'll be working from.  And then Chairman's 2 will be the
  

11   Word document that we'll modify as we go.
  

12                 I guess if we can get, I guess, Chairman 2
  

13   up on the right screen and then Chairman 1 on the left
  

14   screen that'll work.  And then two on the screens so
  

15   Ms. Larsen can see what we're doing.
  

16                 Do members have any questions before we
  

17   start deliberations on the certificate?
  

18                 (No audible response.)
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I see online we have Member
  

20   French.
  

21                 Can you hear us?
  

22                 MEMBER FRENCH:  Yes, I can.  And I do have
  

23   a copy of Chairman's 1.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Excellent.
  

25                 Member DiCiccio, do you have a copy of
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 1   Chairman's 1?
  

 2                 MEMBER DICICCIO:  I believe I do.  It was
  

 3   sent to me by Tod this morning.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Excellent.  Members, if you
  

 5   can review the introduction.
  

 6                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Chair, are you looking
  

 7   for a motion?
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, please.
  

 9                 MEMBER HILL:  Motion to approve the
  

10   introduction.
  

11                 MEMBER FANT:  Second.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

13                 (No audible response.)
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

15                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

17                 (No audible response.)
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the
  

19   introduction is adopted.
  

20                 On to the project description.
  

21                 MR. MOYES:  Mr. Chairman, Mr. Davies made
  

22   some valuable points to me this morning that in the first
  

23   line of the project description, the technical nameplate
  

24   capacity could be up to 700.2 megawatts.  He wanted that
  

25   technicality preserved and also that we ought to make
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 1   sure it's clear that it's -- because of the propane
  

 2   backup facility that should be deemed a dual fuel
  

 3   electric generation facility instead of simply a natural
  

 4   gas-fired.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Excellent.  I was -- I have
  

 6   a number of suggestions of things we might want to add to
  

 7   the project description.
  

 8                 Can I get a motion for the probation
  

 9   description?
  

10                 MEMBER LITTLE:  So moved.
  

11                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

13                 All right, so looking at Chairman's 1,
  

14   page 2, line 23, so you suggest to put natural gas
  

15   fired/propane fired or --
  

16                 MR. MOYES:  Or we can simply put dual
  

17   fuelled, dual fuel fired.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  To replace the natural gas?
  

19                 MR. MOYES:  Correct.
  

20                 Can I get a motion?
  

21                 MEMBER MERCER:  So moved.
  

22                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Chair.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes.  Is that a second?
  

24                 MEMBER HILL:  Sure.  For discussion.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
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 1                 MEMBER HILL:  When we did the additions to
  

 2   Redhawk, there was a discussion about coming back to the
  

 3   committee if we're using hydrogen fuel -- if they were
  

 4   using hydrogen fuel.  It was alluded to in this
  

 5   conversation nobody knows where that's going.
  

 6                 But when you add dual fuel, does that --
  

 7   what does that mean?  Does it mean natural gas, propane,
  

 8   hydrogen fuel, like, I mean, what are we -- what do we
  

 9   mean by that?
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  My suggestion -- I have
  

11   several suggestions I want to discuss with the committee
  

12   about amending the project description.  One of which
  

13   would be to add reference to the sources of the natural
  

14   gas and the propane, which would state that they're
  

15   stored -- the amounts to be stored on-site, to reference
  

16   that so we'll be clear what the dual fuels are because
  

17   we'll talk about natural gas and propane.
  

18                 MEMBER HILL:  Okay.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then do we want to add
  

20   a reference to the diesel block start generators that
  

21   will also be located on-site?
  

22                 And then my other thing to talk about would
  

23   be its reference is going to connect to the APS-owned
  

24   substation, and I just want to clarify that APS will own
  

25   and operate it, but it's going to be paid for by the
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 1   applicant, is that correct, the substation?
  

 2                 MR. DAVIES:  We expect in the APS facility
  

 3   study that, you know, they will put the costs on us, and
  

 4   that will be recouped over time.  We don't have a draft
  

 5   of that agreement yet.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

 7                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  One second.  Member Hill
  

 9   had a follow-up question.
  

10                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Sure.
  

11                 MEMBER HILL:  I don't object to any of
  

12   those amendments.  I don't have any proposed language,
  

13   but I did want to bring up the hydrogen thing just
  

14   because we have precedence for that discussion.
  

15                 MR. DAVIES:  And I'll actually agree with
  

16   that.  You know, we're not asking to burn diesel or other
  

17   things.  You know, planes today store butane and
  

18   isobutane.  I think technically in an emergency situation
  

19   if someone, like, Luke really wanted us to burn butane
  

20   and isobutane we probably could.  My engineers are not
  

21   going to like it.  So we're not asking for blanket pick
  

22   two fuels on any given day.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And what -- and I recall
  

24   testimony that these generators are -- they have
  

25   potential for hydrogen, and we didn't really go into it
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 1   that much.  I'm assuming that it's -- they can take a
  

 2   blend up to some percentage.  I think other units have
  

 3   been about 30, but it would take --
  

 4                 MEMBER KRYDER:  40.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Up to 40?
  

 6                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Yes.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then it would be -- and
  

 8   then it would be take -- they have to have different
  

 9   parts added to convert to full hydrogen, but, again,
  

10   there's no way to get the fuel to the generators.
  

11                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Right.
  

12                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Chair, my understanding
  

13   is that it could be blended into existing pipelines that
  

14   service area, and we just want to know that.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, if they're just
  

16   blending it as part of the delivery of all of the natural
  

17   gas that's coming, I think -- I don't know if that makes
  

18   a difference because the prior one was going to be --
  

19   they were going to -- I think the issue was that they
  

20   were going to manufacture the hydrogen at the site, and
  

21   it was the water use that we were concerned with.  But I
  

22   don't think that's even a possibility here.  I'm looking
  

23   at Mr. Davies and he's shaking his head.
  

24                 MR. DAVIES:  Yeah.  No, we're not going to
  

25   be manufacturing any hydrogen on-site.  I can guarantee

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 253     VOLUME IV     12/04/2025 680

  

 1   that.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So I think if they're going
  

 3   to blend hydrogen at some point, I mean, I don't think it
  

 4   matters much to the purpose of the certificate because
  

 5   it's going to be -- it would be --
  

 6                 MEMBER FANT:  Just another fuel.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It would -- it would just
  

 8   be kind of like -- if the compensation of the natural gas
  

 9   varies over time, we wouldn't get to that level of detail
  

10   I don't think.
  

11                 MR. DAVIES:  I think as long as we're
  

12   saying natural gas, not methane.  I think natural gas
  

13   encompasses the variability of the fuel in the pipeline.
  

14   I feel comfortable with that.
  

15                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Correct.
  

16                 MEMBER HILL:  That's helpful.  I just
  

17   remembered that had we had a hydrogen thing.  I just
  

18   couldn't remember the details.  Now I remember that it
  

19   was -- the concern was the manufacturing it on-site and
  

20   not having -- okay.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And the water
  

22   rights to that site was significantly higher than this.
  

23   Significantly.  I think like 10 times at least.
  

24                 MEMBER FANT:  Mr. Chair.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Fant.
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 1                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

 2                 I suggest we replace the phrase 700
  

 3   megawatt --
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, we're still on the
  

 5   first amendment here.  We're looking at just adding the
  

 6   word dual fired.  So we're discussing that.  I think on
  

 7   that note I think it should be hyphenated.  Dual fire
  

 8   would be hyphenated, wouldn't it?
  

 9                 MEMBER HILL:  Dual fuel.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Dual fuel.  Excuse me,
  

11   yeah.
  

12                 MEMBER FANT:  Mr. Chair.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Fant.
  

14                 MEMBER FANT:  I suggest we change the
  

15   amended from dual fired to thermal fired and it does
  

16   matter what the fuel is.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is that -- do you want to
  

18   amend the amendment?
  

19                 MEMBER FANT:  I'm offering an amendment to
  

20   the amendment, yes, Mr. Chair.
  

21                 MEMBER HILL:  I'm looking at the attorneys
  

22   in the room.  I don't know.
  

23                 MR. MOYES:  That would be acceptable to us,
  

24   Mr. Chairman.
  

25                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Kryder.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Are we trying to write the
  

 3   description for something that the applicant is not
  

 4   asking for?
  

 5                 The applicant seemed very fine with dual
  

 6   fuel meaning propane and natural gas.  Why are we talking
  

 7   about hydrogen and coal and garbage and all of this
  

 8   other?
  

 9                 MEMBER HILL:  I'll respond.  I brought up
  

10   hydrogen because we actually had a conversation about it.
  

11   I didn't bring up any other fuels.  But when dual --
  

12                 MEMBER KRYDER:  No, I didn't.
  

13                 MEMBER HILL:  Yeah.  So, I mean, that's the
  

14   only reason I asked about the hydrogen piece.
  

15                 MR. DAVIES:  At the risk of stirring the
  

16   pot I'll suggest dual fuel, natural gas and propane,
  

17   electrical generation facility.  So it's clear what the
  

18   two fuels approved are.  We'll come back if, you know, a
  

19   hydrogen facility shows up next door or we want to do
  

20   something else.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And that's
  

22   something that could be amended to add that I think.
  

23   Something like that I don't think would even require a
  

24   hearing.  I think if you guys provide enough information
  

25   to Staff, they can say yes.  It doesn't -- based on
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 1   undisputed facts, they could say, yeah, that's fine.
  

 2                 MR. MOYES:  Yes.  They typically do
  

 3   administrative amendments like that without an open
  

 4   meeting.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant.
  

 6                 MEMBER FANT:  Mr. Chair, I withdraw my
  

 7   suggested amendment to the amendment.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  All right.  So the
  

 9   current amendment is dual fuel, natural gas and propane,
  

10   and that was offered by -- who offered the amendment?
  

11                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Wait a second.  Who offered
  

13   the amendment?
  

14                 MEMBER HILL:  The applicant.  Me.  I'll
  

15   take it.  I'll take one for the team.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then it was seconded
  

17   by?
  

18                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Me.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little.  So we're on
  

20   further discussion.
  

21                 I saw Member Kryder, did you have a comment
  

22   or question or no?
  

23                 MEMBER KRYDER:  It was an English issue,
  

24   and that is instead of dual fuelled, I believe it could
  

25   be dual-fuel (natural gas and propane), no comma, because
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 1   the way it is now written it says something else.  I'm
  

 2   not sure what it says.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, I think the paren
  

 4   would probably make more sense.
  

 5                 MR. MOYES:  We agree.
  

 6                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Mr. Chairman.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Comstock.
  

 8                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  I would suggest we remove
  

 9   the word "and" and put "or."  I don't think you're going
  

10   to burn them both at the same time.
  

11                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Davies, are you thinking
  

12   about that?
  

13                 MR. DAVIES:  I think the dual fuel probably
  

14   covers it.  And if it is blending on the fly, which, you
  

15   know, we're still working through their engineers.
  

16   "And/or"?
  

17                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  And/or:  Would work
  

18   better then if you're thinking about blending.
  

19                 But the way it was written before was
  

20   handcuffing a little bit.
  

21                 MR. DAVIES:  I appreciate it.
  

22                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Chair, what do you need
  

23   from me to amend my proposed amendment?
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Let's withdraw the prior
  

25   amendment and offer a new amendment then.
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 1                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.  So offered.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Second, Member Little.
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Second.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So offer the new amendment
  

 5   that will -- to add the phrase "dual-fuelled" with
  

 6   "natural gas and/or propane" in parentheses after
  

 7   "megawatts" on line 23 of page 2 of Chairman's 1.
  

 8                 There's a motion?
  

 9                 MEMBER HILL:  Yes.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It's been seconded.
  

11                 Further discussion?
  

12                 (No audible response.)
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

14                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

15                 MEMBER FANT:  Mr. Chair.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Fant.
  

17                 MEMBER FANT:  I suggest we -- I suggest we
  

18   remove the phrase "700 megawatt" and per the applicant's
  

19   suggestion add in "702-megawatt" name -- "name-plate
  

20   capacity" as the phrase in its stead.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is that what the nameplate
  

22   capacity would be, Mr. Davies?
  

23                 MR. DAVIES:  Yes.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That is your amendment?
  

25                 MEMBER HILL:  Second.
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 1                 MEMBER FANT:  Yes, sir.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 3                 (No audible response.)
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I'm waiting to see it on
  

 5   the screen before I call for a vote.
  

 6                 Oh, so it was 700.2, not 700 and 2?
  

 7                 MR. MOYES:  Correct.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

 9                 (No audible response.)
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

11                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

13                 (No audible response.)
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, that
  

15   amendment is adopted.
  

16                 I suggest we move the word "separate" after
  

17   the word 18 in line 24, page 2, Chairman's 1.
  

18                 MEMBER HILL:  Second.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

20                 (No audible response.)
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

22                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

24                 (No audible response.)
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, that
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 1   amendment's adopted.
  

 2                 And that's the right -- it's 38.9 is the
  

 3   correct nameplate capacity for each individual --
  

 4                 MR. MOYES:  Yes.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- generator?  All right.
  

 6                 Scroll down to the next paragraph -- I
  

 7   guess the next page, actually.
  

 8                 Now, do we want to reference the source of
  

 9   the natural gas and the propane and mention the on-site
  

10   storage facilities?
  

11                 MEMBER HILL:  Yes.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I'm looking at the
  

13   applicant to --
  

14                 MR. MOYES:  We're fine with that.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- add it to it.
  

16                 MR. MOYES:  Mr. Davies, do you have the
  

17   proper wording of where those fuels will be stored or
  

18   sourced from?
  

19                 MR. DAVIES:  Stored on -- I think, you
  

20   know, we have some on-site.  My technical team is not
  

21   here right now, but we discussed yesterday eight 45,000-
  

22   gallon propane.  You know, I want to make sure -- you
  

23   know, let's put a cap on that, but I don't know if it's
  

24   eight or nine, that sort of thing.  I mean, we were going
  

25   through that engineering right now.
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 1                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Maybe "up to" then?
  

 2                 MR. DAVIES:  Yeah, I think so.
  

 3                 MR. MOYES:  Mr. Chairman, my only concern
  

 4   about specifically laying this out, I haven't seen that
  

 5   in a previous power plant CEC when engineering details to
  

 6   that detail have not been finalized.  I would suggest we
  

 7   can reference the general concept of these fuels being
  

 8   stored both off and on-site because the Bumstead facility
  

 9   is going to do a large part in the storage of the propane
  

10   with some limit on-site, but I would hate to restrict my
  

11   client to some specific engineering detail that --
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  But I think it's in
  

13   the application that's -- you're kind of limited by
  

14   what's in the application anyway.  So I think just to add
  

15   the language because I think I recall testimony that in
  

16   the application said a greater number of tanks than you
  

17   probably are actually going to use.
  

18                 MR. DAVIES:  I think in the application we
  

19   had was it 20-something, 90,000-gallon tanks?
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  So you said up
  

21   to -- if you add that language and then --
  

22                 MR. DAVIES:  I have no concern saying "up
  

23   to" and then reference whatever we had in the
  

24   application.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  Right.  Because
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 1   we're not trying to, like, tie your hand.
  

 2                 MR. DAVIES:  Yeah, yeah.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  But your hands are tied by
  

 4   what's in the application, so --
  

 5                 MR. DAVIES:  Yes.  And it's also going to
  

 6   be tied by how much space we have on-site as my engineers
  

 7   point out to me.  So I think -- yeah, whatever's in the
  

 8   application I think is absolutely fine.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

10                 MR. DAVIES:  That is -- that is a very
  

11   comfortable, you know, cap.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  And then also -- so
  

13   it -- my suggestion is we'll kind of tell you what we
  

14   would like to see, and then we'll give you an opportunity
  

15   to wordsmith and come back to that to us.
  

16                 So let's kind of give you, like, a list of
  

17   chores to do, I guess.  So that they have the reference
  

18   to the on-site storage of the propane.
  

19                 And the natural gas will be a pipeline that
  

20   will be fed from Southwest Gas; correct?
  

21                 MR. DAVIES:  Correct.  There's -- you know,
  

22   anticipate no natural gas storage on-site.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And so then -- so
  

24   add -- just you can, like, cut and paste language from
  

25   the application to reference that.
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 1                 MR. DAVIES:  Yeah.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then add a reference to
  

 3   the four diesel black start generators and the maximum
  

 4   storage for that fuel you'd have on-site.  Because we
  

 5   have conditions that later on that say, hey, you know,
  

 6   you're going to follow these registrations and safe
  

 7   handling of all these things.  And this -- this will make
  

 8   it easier so when the Commission looks at it they know
  

 9   what we're talking about.
  

10                 And then I think in the application it says
  

11   Class 2 or Tier 2 black -- the diesel generators.
  

12                 MR. DAVIES:  We are okay requiring Tier 4
  

13   because that's what we put in our permit application for
  

14   Maricopa County.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  So I would like to
  

16   reference that as well.
  

17                 MR. DAVIES:  Yep.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then when it comes to
  

19   the substation, because it's going to -- how that gets --
  

20   how that shakes out will be determined by the large
  

21   generator interconnection agreement; correct?
  

22                 MR. DAVIES:  Uh-huh.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And the typical practice
  

24   would be for you that's a necessary upgrade that you
  

25   would be required to front the money to construct it?
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 1                 MR. DAVIES:  Yeah.  What's going to happen
  

 2   in this case is the load interconnection agreement is
  

 3   leading the generator interconnection agreement.  So we
  

 4   will also be -- or anticipate being held responsible for
  

 5   the cost of that switchyard for the load, and we are
  

 6   working with APS to design it such that it can be an
  

 7   export facility as well.
  

 8                 Until we have our LGIA, we anticipate that
  

 9   APS will be putting restrictions on it and the equipment
  

10   such that we cannot export.  That equipment will be
  

11   basically decommissioned and -- once we get the LGIA.
  

12   That is our anticipation.  But we are -- we do believe we
  

13   will be responsible for fronting that money to APS for
  

14   the construction of the substation.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  So I don't think we
  

16   need to reference who's going to pay for it in the
  

17   project description.  I think when we say -- later we
  

18   talk about the large generator interconnection agreement
  

19   you're going to have to comply with that, so I think that
  

20   we cover that one.
  

21                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Chair.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Hill.
  

23                 MEMBER HILL:  Do you have a place -- I was
  

24   going to suggest the project description, but maybe you
  

25   have it somewhere else because I haven't been able to

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 253     VOLUME IV     12/04/2025 692

  

 1   review your draft that references ED7's role in this or
  

 2   their relationship to the CEC.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, I hadn't -- I don't
  

 4   have any specific conditions that address that.  I
  

 5   guess -- I guess putting it in the project description --
  

 6                 MEMBER HILL:  As a --
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- would make the most
  

 8   sense because we're not -- it's not going to be a
  

 9   condition.  It's just how the system will operate.
  

10                 MEMBER HILL:  Yes.
  

11                 And then the other question I had is what's
  

12   the significance of putting the adjacent data center
  

13   information in here?
  

14                 And I only say that because I think this
  

15   case was a particular learning experience for me.  We
  

16   talked a lot about the data center.  And, you know, if
  

17   APS comes to us and asks us to build a power plant, they
  

18   don't spend half the meeting talking about their biggest
  

19   customer or off-taker.
  

20                 But we learned a lot here, so I'm not --
  

21   I'm not being critical of the process because I do feel
  

22   like we learned a lot and there was valuable conversation
  

23   to have there.
  

24                 But at the end of the day we are permitting
  

25   a project that is a natural gas generation site.  And so
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 1   I'm not sure of the value of adding the data center
  

 2   information into the project description.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think it's merely
  

 4   descriptive.  And I think if we're going to add the ED7's
  

 5   role, it doesn't make sense to do that without having the
  

 6   reference to the data center.
  

 7                 MR. MOYES:  It's simply intended as a
  

 8   generic description of what the project is serving.  As
  

 9   we've seen in all of the renewable CECs there's almost
  

10   always a general description of either the solar facility
  

11   or the wind facility attached to the transmission line.
  

12                 But I've never seen us go into detail about
  

13   prescribing limits or detailed descriptions of
  

14   nonjurisdictional components of a project.
  

15                 So in this case, for instance, the
  

16   substation itself is not jurisdictional to the CEC.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, but we reference
  

18   substations all the time.  They're just not part of the
  

19   CEC.
  

20                 I think it used to make more sense because
  

21   that was when -- before they changed the definition in
  

22   '23 it was that's where the line started.
  

23                 MR. MOYES:  Correct.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So they have to -- now it's
  

25   what's the first pole outside of whatever the substation
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 1   or its site is.  It makes no sense.
  

 2                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

 4                 MEMBER LITTLE:  The way it's described here
  

 5   it sounds like the interconnection is going to be
  

 6   directly to APS.  And my understanding is the
  

 7   interconnection is to ED7.
  

 8                 MR. DAVIES:  That is what we anticipate,
  

 9   yes.  We will be building the 34.5kV on-site system and
  

10   then leasing it to ED7 for their regulatory purposes.  So
  

11   I think we could probably wordsmith this -- this sentence
  

12   to add in a reference to ED7, you know, basically as an
  

13   intermediary here.  If that would be helpful, we're happy
  

14   to take that back.
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I think that's important.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, I think so too
  

17   because when I first looked at this -- well, I think it
  

18   was in the nine-day filing my thought was is this going
  

19   to work?  I mean, how is this data -- is this going to be
  

20   behind the meter?  Is it going to be -- how -- and if it
  

21   is, how is -- when is it going to own the power plant and
  

22   another entity own the data center and how can the power
  

23   plant entity sell that power to the data center without
  

24   being a public service corporation?
  

25                 And so I think -- I'm just thinking forward
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 1   because when it comes before the Commission if it's
  

 2   spelled out in the document itself, then it's less likely
  

 3   they'll need me to explain it to them at the open
  

 4   meeting.
  

 5                 MR. DAVIES:  We'll put some more
  

 6   descriptive in here and kind of circle back.  And I'm
  

 7   sure you're going to have a couple interesting years
  

 8   because I know others that are proposing collocated
  

 9   facilities but without an ED or someone else standing in
  

10   between.  Others will probably be before this Commission
  

11   in the next couple years proposing true collocated or
  

12   behind-the-meter common ownership.  I don't even want to
  

13   weigh into how that's going to go.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.
  

15                 MR. DAVIS:  But you're going to see a lot
  

16   of different business models I anticipate, so --
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And I think we should be
  

18   clear in what we're -- who's owning what and how --
  

19                 MR. DAVIES:  Yes.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think it makes sense to
  

21   add ED7's role in that -- in the description, so it's --
  

22   like I said, so it's when the Commission gets the
  

23   certificate, they can see, oh, this is what's happening
  

24   and not -- they don't have to go back and review the
  

25   record to find out what's going on.
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 1                 MR. MOYES:  May I suggest the wording
  

 2   "Project site will eventually house adjacent data center
  

 3   buildings interconnected via ED7 to a new substation to
  

 4   be owned by APS"?
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That sounds acceptable to
  

 6   me.
  

 7                 Members?
  

 8                 MEMBER FANT:  Mr. Chair.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Mr. Fant.
  

10                 MEMBER FANT:  You might spell out
  

11   electrical district -- Electrical District Number 7 the
  

12   first time.
  

13                 MR. MOYES:  Good suggestion.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  But it probably won't be
  

15   referenced a second time, though.  Maybe we'll start that
  

16   way, and we can -- and I can take it out later on the
  

17   back end if necessary.
  

18                 MEMBER FANT:  Yes.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is there a motion to do
  

20   that?
  

21                 MEMBER FONTES:  Are you still seeking --
  

22                 MEMBER FANT:  So moved.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Second?  Is there a second
  

24   for discussion?
  

25                 MEMBER HILL:  Sure, for discussion.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  For discussion.
  

 2                 Member Fontes.
  

 3                 MEMBER FONTES:  Yes.  Mr. Moyes.
  

 4                 MR. MOYES:  Yes.
  

 5                 MEMBER FONTES:  I always like -- and I
  

 6   pointed this out yesterday -- "owned and operated" if
  

 7   that's the case on the -- for -- because the power flows
  

 8   in the physical infrastructure versus the contractual.
  

 9   So if you're not opposed, "owned and operated."
  

10                 MR. MOYES:  For the substation?
  

11                 MEMBER FONTES:  Yes, sir.
  

12                 MR. MOYES:  We are not opposed to that.
  

13                 MEMBER FANT:  Mr. Chair.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant.
  

15                 MEMBER FANT:  I accept that friendly
  

16   amendment to my amendment.
  

17                 MEMBER HILL:  I do too.
  

18                 MR. DAVIES:  I would also just correct the
  

19   name of Electrical District Number 7.  It is technically
  

20   Electrical District Number 7 of Maricopa County, Arizona.
  

21                 MEMBER FANT:  Mr. Chair, I accept that
  

22   amendment also.
  

23                 MEMBER HILL:  Me too.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And after "Arizona" put in
  

25   ("ED7")?
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  "ED-7."
  

 2                 MEMBER FANT:  Mr. Chair, accept that
  

 3   amendment.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Oh, we're just kind of
  

 5   talking through here.  I'm going to have to remove it
  

 6   all, and I'm going to read it out what the actual
  

 7   amendment is before we vote on it.
  

 8                 Does it make sense to say -- looking at the
  

 9   sentence now, would it be -- to take out the "will
  

10   eventually house data center buildings" because the
  

11   project will be interconnected via the ED7; correct?
  

12                 MR. DAVIES:  Correct.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

14                 MR. DAVIES:  And the -- it does say "the
  

15   project site," but where's the definition the boundary of
  

16   the site?  I mean, we've talked about 160 acres
  

17   immediately -- and that is true.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, I think the project
  

19   site is the whole 160 acres, but the project itself will
  

20   only occupy a portion of that site.
  

21                 MR. DAVIES:  Correct.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So I think if you say, "The
  

23   project site will interconnect" and just take out the
  

24   "eventually house data centers buildings" out and
  

25   reference that in a different spot.
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 1                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.  And I believe it should
  

 2   say "the project," not "the project site."
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I guess the site will be
  

 4   connected too, but it's going to be -- the focus is the
  

 5   project of the actual plant itself we're talking about.
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  But with the word "to"
  

 9   after ED7 it sounds like the project connects to ED7, ED7
  

10   connects to the substation.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I believe that's accurate,
  

12   isn't it?
  

13                 MR. DAVIES:  That is correct.
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And so then I guess you
  

16   could --
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  One-line doesn't show that.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Do you want to reference
  

19   the data center because it's going to be on Exhibit A
  

20   anyway; right?
  

21                 You could add it after the reference to the
  

22   transmission system.
  

23                 MR. DAVIES:  Uh-huh.
  

24                 MEMBER FONTES:  Would it be acceptable to
  

25   say "via ED7 'at' a new substation" because, again, go
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 1   back the one-line I heard Member Little say, and it does
  

 2   show "'at' the APS new substation" as opposed to "to."
  

 3   Just change the word at -- "to" to "at."
  

 4                 MR. DAVIES:  I don't have a strong view
  

 5   either way on that.
  

 6                 MEMBER FONTES:  Member Little, does that
  

 7   work for you to consist with graphic on the one-line?
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I'm looking for the
  

 9   one-line.
  

10                 MEMBER FONTES:  I can't read the one-line
  

11   still, and I'm the young one here.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Pull it up on the tablet
  

13   and you can blow it up.
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Excuse me.
  

15                 MEMBER FONTES:  I'll get my readers out,
  

16   Mr. Chairman.
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I don't see the APS
  

18   substation in the one-line.
  

19                 MR. DAVIES:  It's the big yellow box at the
  

20   top.
  

21                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Oh, oh, excuse me, yes, of
  

22   course, it is.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  You need to zoom in.
  

24                 MR. DAVIES:  As you look at it -- the point
  

25   of it is the red does not connect directly to the yellow.
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 1   The red only connects to the yellow via the purple.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Which is ED7; right?
  

 3                 MR. DAVIES:  Yes.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

 5                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes.  Okay.  I see what
  

 6   you're saying.
  

 7                 I think either word is fine.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  And then so I
  

 9   think after the sentence that ends "transmission system,"
  

10   you could say reference "the project site will eventually
  

11   house" -- the site will -- or "The project site will
  

12   eventually house data center buildings adjacent to the
  

13   project."
  

14                 MR. DAVIES:  Yeah, you can say, The project
  

15   site will eventually house the project -- yeah, data
  

16   center -- or, you know, collocated data center buildings.
  

17   Maybe want to be careful of the word collocated.  We
  

18   don't want to imply something here that we haven't
  

19   already stated.
  

20                 And the ED7 distribution system.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

22                 MR. DAVIES:  You know, connecting the
  

23   formally aforementioned --
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, after the project and
  

25   connected to the ED7 distribution system.
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That doesn't make sense.
  

 2                 MR. DAVIES:  Well, we could say -- if we
  

 3   want to emphasize the fact that it's connected say,
  

 4   "house data center buildings adjacent to the project
  

 5   which shall be connected."
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That makes sense.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right, because I think we
  

 8   want to spell it out that the data center's not directly
  

 9   connected to the project.
  

10                 MR. DAVIES:  Yes.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It is adjacent to the
  

12   project and they share the connection with ED7.
  

13                 MR. DAVIES:  Yep.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think we just take out
  

15   "adjacent to the project" in the -- its entirety.
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I agree because the "which
  

17   shall be connected" --
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think that's enough.
  

19                 MEMBER LITTLE:  -- modifies the project.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.
  

21                 MEMBER LITTLE:  And it doesn't refer to the
  

22   project.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  It should be
  

24   "buildings."  So what -- so we cite -- because the prior
  

25   sentence says, "That the project will be interconnected
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 1   to ED7."  And then the later sentence says, "The eventual
  

 2   data center buildings will be connected to ED7 as well."
  

 3   So that spells out that the two are not directly
  

 4   connected.  It's the ED7 is the intermediary between the
  

 5   two.
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yep, that's okay.
  

 7                 MR. DAVIES:  I might suggest the next
  

 8   sentence say, "Description of the proposed project and
  

 9   other facilities on the project site."
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes.  Excellent.
  

11                 MEMBER LITTLE:  "Are."
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, "are shown."  There
  

13   you go.  Got it.  Whoops, we lost the video, the visual
  

14   of the document.
  

15                 I think the way to approach this when we
  

16   get around to this change I think we want to withdraw
  

17   your motion and then -- Member Fant's motion and then
  

18   offer a new motion, and I will read the text so that will
  

19   be clear to what we're making the amendment to.
  

20                 MEMBER HILL:  Excellent suggestion.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We are experiencing
  

22   technical difficulties.  There we go.
  

23                 All right.  So are we happy with this
  

24   section of the language?
  

25                 Member Fant.
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 1                 MEMBER FANT:  Mr. Chair, I withdraw my
  

 2   original motion related to amending the noted language on
  

 3   the screen.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

 5                 So, I guess, I'm going to ask for a new
  

 6   motion to amend the project description to change the
  

 7   sentence from Chairman's 1, page 3 beginning on line 2
  

 8   with the project site to read, "The project site will
  

 9   interconnect via electric district" -- what.
  

10                 MEMBER HILL:  "Site" is out.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Oh, yes, okay.  I'll start
  

12   over again.
  

13                 So it will be, "The project will
  

14   interconnect via Electrical District Number 7 of Maricopa
  

15   County, Arizona at a new substation to be owned and
  

16   operated by Arizona Public Service connecting the project
  

17   to the regional APS 230kV transmission system.  The
  

18   project site will eventually house data center buildings
  

19   which shall be connected to the ED7 distribution system.
  

20   A map and depiction of the proposed project and other
  

21   facilities on the project site are shown on Exhibit A."
  

22                 MEMBER MERCER:  So moved.
  

23                 MEMBER HILL:  Second.
  

24                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Second.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
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 1                 (No audible response.)
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

 3                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 5                 (No audible response.)
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, that
  

 7   amendment is adopted.
  

 8                 So, I guess, the only other thing to add to
  

 9   this would be the references to the source -- sources and
  

10   storage of the gas and propane and then the reference to
  

11   the diesel black start generators.
  

12                 Did you want to circle back to this,
  

13   Mr. Moyes?
  

14                 MR. MOYES:  Yes, please.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  So we will not yet
  

16   adopt the project amendment -- the project description as
  

17   amended because we're going to further amend it.
  

18                 So we can move on now to the conditions.
  

19                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

20   Condition Number 1.
  

21                 MEMBER FANT:  Second.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

23                 (No audible response.)
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

25                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 2                 (No audible response.)
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 1
  

 4   is adopted.
  

 5                 Condition 2.
  

 6                 Now I added the City of Glendale to the
  

 7   notification because --
  

 8                 MR. MOYES:  Mr. Chairman.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- the applicant plans to
  

10   be annexed, so -- yes, Mr. Moyes.
  

11                 MR. MOYES:  I was reading so I didn't
  

12   realize you were moving on from Condition Number 1.
  

13   Mr. Davies pointed out the concern that as of the
  

14   phased-in nature of the construction of the project it
  

15   may take longer than 10 years depending on the equipment
  

16   availability, et cetera, so --
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Oh, so --
  

18                 MR. MOYES:  -- either a request to change
  

19   the expiration date to 15 years or some couched language
  

20   regarding extending the time line.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think it's clearer to
  

22   extend the time line.
  

23                 MEMBER FONTES:  Is there a precedent,
  

24   Mr. Chairman, on other CECs given your call yesterday?
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, we've had -- we --
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 1   well --
  

 2                 MEMBER FANT:  Yes.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- we've had double
  

 4   circuits where they've done 10 for the first and 20 for
  

 5   the second.  And they've had other cases where they gave
  

 6   them in tranches, but I think this one is not -- the
  

 7   tranches of it aren't as fixed as some of the other ones
  

 8   were.
  

 9                 MEMBER FONTES:  Phases.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  The phases.  Because
  

11   they've done -- one, because I think they call them
  

12   tranches I think in the APS one where they had the --
  

13   they would originally be 12, but they're going to put 10
  

14   in initially and then add the two later.  But then they
  

15   never added the two because they didn't need them.  But
  

16   then they came back and said, well, we do need them now,
  

17   and it was after the 10 years, so they just had to get
  

18   them.
  

19                 MR. DAVIES:  Well, what my thought here
  

20   would be, you know, just at the end of this paragraph 1,
  

21   you know, we may request a time extension and just
  

22   something about if we are in the process of construction.
  

23   It's not like, you know, hey, if we only put in 14 of
  

24   them and then we pause, that's a different question.
  

25                 But if it's still kind of moving through a
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 1   continuous construction and we're making those efforts,
  

 2   we just want to make sure that if Siemens, you know, for
  

 3   some reason has got something going on, we're not timed
  

 4   out mid-construction.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  But those typically
  

 6   are -- that's a -- they turn those around pretty quick at
  

 7   the Commission.
  

 8                 MR. DAVIES:  Right.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  If you come in there and
  

10   say, "Hey, we need to extend it by another 10 years,"
  

11   they do them routinely without hearing.
  

12                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.  And if that's the
  

13   precedent and, you know, and, Jason, you guys are good
  

14   with that, then I don't need the language.  I'm just not
  

15   familiar with how it normally works in Arizona, so --
  

16                 MEMBER FONTES:  I will offer being a former
  

17   lender credit officer who approves project finance, that
  

18   language has been looked at, and that's good for your
  

19   lender too as written there with request that it may
  

20   extend over time.
  

21                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.
  

22                 MEMBER FONTES:  You don't want to add too
  

23   much.  You kind of want to remain silent because it helps
  

24   you thread the needle better with that side of your --
  

25                 MR. DAVIES:  Thank you.
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 1                 MEMBER FONTES:  I think you're good, but
  

 2   I'll defer to you, Mr. Moyes.
  

 3                 MR. DAVIES:  No, if Jason says we're good
  

 4   and, you know, with your background having, you know,
  

 5   know what lenders are looking for, let's not rock the
  

 6   boat.
  

 7                 MEMBER FONTES:  I think you're better off
  

 8   remaining a little silent here on that, not too precise.
  

 9                 MR. MOYES:  I'm fine with that.
  

10                 MR. DAVIES:  Thank you.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Back to
  

12   Number 2.  So I did add the City of Glendale.  I thought
  

13   that was appropriate seeing how it's highly -- I don't
  

14   know, five-nine -- five-nine is likely that you're going
  

15   to be annexed by Glendale for the wastewater and water
  

16   provisions.
  

17                 MR. DAVIES:  Yeah.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So I think it makes sense
  

19   to leave them as to have notification.
  

20                 MR. MOYES:  I would also suggest,
  

21   Mr. Chairman, that we drop the notification radius to one
  

22   mile.  As you can see, this was a copy of the Bella
  

23   example, which was a very rural area, and so we extend it
  

24   beyond the normal of one.  But in this highly residential
  

25   dense area I think one would be more appropriate.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  So I guess the
  

 2   one-mile radius would be from the edge of the project as
  

 3   opposed to the center of the project.
  

 4                 MR. DAVIES:  "Edge" is good.
  

 5                 MEMBER FONTES:  Mr. Chairman and Mr. Moyes,
  

 6   what do you do with Surprise -- the residents of Surprise
  

 7   within that one mile?  Just observing your call on how
  

 8   you address that.
  

 9                 MR. MOYES:  There are certainly residents
  

10   of Surprise within that radius.  I believe the Copper
  

11   Canyon subdivision is part of Surprise, but --
  

12                 MEMBER FONTES:  The City of Glendale, other
  

13   towns and entities as may be affected by residents.  I
  

14   don't know.  I'm just trying to --
  

15                 MR. MOYES:  Well, typically we don't -- we
  

16   name the actual jurisdictions who have regulatory
  

17   control --
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Over the land.
  

19                 MR. MOYES:  -- or site control over the
  

20   land, and right now that is only Maricopa County.  But it
  

21   will eventually be the City of Glendale.  It will never
  

22   be the City of Surprise.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And when it comes to
  

24   mitigation stuff, I've added the City of Surprise and El
  

25   Mirage in later conditions.
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 1                 MEMBER FONTES:  Where I'm going with this
  

 2   is our discussion with Ms. Justus on fire and safety and
  

 3   the ample discussion we had with my fellow members here
  

 4   with sharing agreements on implementations as this may
  

 5   impact that just for consistency.  So, again, your call.
  

 6   I'm just pointing out something.
  

 7                 MR. MOYES:  I believe we have a later
  

 8   condition regarding emergency services that references.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It's a broader.  It's
  

10   broader than just Glendale and Maricopa County.
  

11                 Well, for this one I think it should be
  

12   with the one-mile radius of the edge of the project site
  

13   because we're going to go off the entire project site,
  

14   not just the power plant itself.
  

15                 MR. DAVIES:  That's fine.
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

18                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Could we replace the word
  

19   "edge" with "boundary"?
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, I think "boundary" is
  

21   a better term.
  

22                 I'm looking to the applicant.
  

23                 MR. MOYES:  We agree.
  

24                 MR. DAVIES:  That's fine.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  So we're
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 1   looking to amend Condition 2.  Looking at Chairman's 1,
  

 2   page 3, beginning on line 17 and a half, I guess,
  

 3   after -- so the amendment would be after the board of
  

 4   supervisor of Maricopa County, amended to read "The City
  

 5   of Glendale, all landowners and residents within a
  

 6   one-mile radius of the boundary of the project site," and
  

 7   the rest would continue as written.
  

 8                 Can I get a motion?
  

 9                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.
  

10                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

12                 (No audible response.)
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

14                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

16                 (No audible response.)
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

18   is adopted.
  

19                 Can I get a motion to adopt Condition 2 as
  

20   amended?
  

21                 MEMBER LITTLE:  So moved.
  

22                 MEMBER HILL:  Second.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

24                 (No audible response.)
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
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 1                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 3                 (No audible response.)
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 2
  

 5   is amended as adopted.
  

 6                 Moving on to 3.
  

 7                 MEMBER HILL:  Move approval Condition 3.
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Second.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

10                 MEMBER HILL:  I'm just thinking through all
  

11   the things, so --
  

12                 MEMBER FONTES:  Mr. Chairman, do we need
  

13   anything with respect to Luke Air Force Base in this
  

14   section?
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, the County's
  

16   responsible under the statute for making determination
  

17   whether it's compatible with the base, so I think that's
  

18   covered by Maricopa County.
  

19                 And then, I guess, it's anything that the
  

20   base would require would be under the authority of the
  

21   United States of America, so I think -- I think this is
  

22   general enough to cover anything.
  

23                 I'm looking at the applicant.
  

24                 MR. MOYES:  We agree with that.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  So Condition 3 has
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 1   been moved.
  

 2                 Has it been seconded?  I believe it was.
  

 3                 Was it seconded?
  

 4                 MEMBER MERCER:  Yes.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 6                 (No audible response.)
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

 8                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

10                 (No audible response.)
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 3
  

12   is adopted.
  

13                 Number 4.
  

14                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

15   approval of Condition 4.
  

16                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

18                 I added the City of Glendale because
  

19   eventually you will be subject to their jurisdiction once
  

20   you're annexed.
  

21                 I'm looking at Mr. Moyes.
  

22                 MR. MOYES:  Yes, we agree with that in all
  

23   instances.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

25                 MR. DAVIES:  Mr. Moyes, just the -- it says
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 1   here, "will obtain permits necessary to construct and
  

 2   operate."  I just want to make sure that the order of
  

 3   operations between, you know, any sort of permits from
  

 4   Maricopa County.  And then we go into the annexation.  I
  

 5   just want to make sure we're not messing up our order of
  

 6   operations.
  

 7                 MR. MOYES:  I would say this is a standard
  

 8   condition in every CEC.
  

 9                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.
  

10                 MR. MOYES:  I don't think any of the cities
  

11   would have concerns with this language.
  

12                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.  I just want to make
  

13   sure it's not making -- requiring us to get the
  

14   annexation when we're really looking at that point in the
  

15   process a preannexation agreement.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  No, I don't --
  

17                 MR. DAVIES:  All right.
  

18                 MR. MOYES:  No, it does not dictate any
  

19   kind of --
  

20                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I don't see it that way at
  

22   all -- I think it's just -- it's -- if you weren't
  

23   planning to annex to the City of Glendale we wouldn't
  

24   reference it because it wouldn't apply.
  

25                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And I guess -- I guess, but
  

 2   it's virtually certain you're going to annex.
  

 3                 MR. DAVIES:  I think so.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So you'll have to comply
  

 5   with them anyway.
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I think the words "having
  

 7   jurisdiction."
  

 8                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.
  

 9                 MEMBER LITTLE:  If you're not in the City
  

10   of Glendale, they won't have jurisdiction.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  Right.  Like, for
  

12   example, Surprise won't have jurisdiction nor will El
  

13   Mirage, so they're not -- but they're also not named,
  

14   so --
  

15                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  4 has been moved and
  

17   seconded.
  

18                 Who was the second?
  

19                 MEMBER KRYDER:  I did.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

21                 MEMBER KRYDER:  I moved it, Gabby second.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Excellent.
  

23                 Further discussion?
  

24                 (No audible response.)
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
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 1                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 3                 (No audible response.)
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 4
  

 5   is adopted.
  

 6                 Number 5.
  

 7                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

 8   approval of Condition 5.
  

 9                 MEMBER HILL:  Second.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

11                 I think Arizona Game and Fish made their
  

12   standard recommendations, but I think it's pretty
  

13   unlikely any of that's really going to apply in this area
  

14   with this previously disturbed land.  I don't -- unless
  

15   Member Little feels otherwise, I don't feel the need to
  

16   reference any specific mitigation things for Fish and
  

17   Wildlife for this currently heavy industrial-zoned site.
  

18                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, I disagree
  

19   for a couple of reasons.  First, it talks about things
  

20   like introducing -- I mean, I realize that this is a very
  

21   different situation than we've been faced with before.
  

22                 But the other thing is that the mitigations
  

23   that AGFD proposes have been referenced regularly in all
  

24   of the recent CECs, and I see no reason not to put it in
  

25   here.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And that's why we have
  

 2   discussion on it.
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  So I guess I would move
  

 4   that we -- that we say that -- I'm not quite sure what
  

 5   the language has been in previous CECs, but the
  

 6   mitigation measures that are proposed to be abided by are
  

 7   in Exhibit C, Table C-3 in the application.  And they're
  

 8   pretty consistent with the fish and game letter.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  Let me pull the --
  

10   I guess we can look at an older CEC that has that
  

11   language in there because there's a specific sentence we
  

12   usually add to it.
  

13                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yeah, let me look here.
  

14                 MR. MOYES:  This language was taken from
  

15   the most recent CEC that was approved by the Commission.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  248.  Which one was that
  

17   one?
  

18                 MR. MOYES:  This was the Copia -- the
  

19   Harquahala HoldCo transmission.
  

20                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Really.  Hmm.
  

21                 MEMBER HILL:  I wasn't at that hearing, so
  

22   I wasn't there to advocate for language.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Was Member Little there?
  

24                 MEMBER HILL:  Were you at the Harquahala?
  

25                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yeah.  I remember that we
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 1   didn't include them.
  

 2                 MR. MOYES:  I would argue the language
  

 3   already implies that we're going to comply with whatever
  

 4   the agency asks us to do.
  

 5                 MEMBER LITTLE:  The sentence that was
  

 6   added -- that's been added has been basically "The
  

 7   applicant commits to follow the mitigation measures
  

 8   recommended in Exhibit C of the application as applicable
  

 9   and feasible."
  

10                 MR. MOYES:  We would be fine with that.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is that your motion, Member
  

12   Little?
  

13                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes.
  

14                 MEMBER HILL:  I'll second it.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Let's get it up
  

16   on the screen, please, and then we can --
  

17                 MR. MOYES:  Can you repeat that so Julie
  

18   can type that up, Member Little.
  

19                 MEMBER LITTLE:  "The applicant commits" --
  

20   at the end of that, yes -- "to follow the mitigation
  

21   measures recommended in Exhibit C of the application, as
  

22   applicable and feasible."
  

23                 That's my motion.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And it's been seconded --
  

25                 MEMBER HILL:  Yeah, I seconded it.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- by Member Hill?
  

 2                 All right.  Further discussion?
  

 3                 (No audible response.)
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

 5                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 7                 (No audible response.)
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

 9   is adopted.
  

10                 Can I get a motion to adopt Condition 5 as
  

11   amended?
  

12                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.
  

13                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Second.
  

14                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

16                 (No audible response.)
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

18                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

20                 (No audible response.)
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 5
  

22   as amended is adopted.
  

23                 Number 6.
  

24                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

25   Condition 6.
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 1                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 3                 This is a standard one, but even though
  

 4   this is just a plant with no transmission lines --
  

 5                 MEMBER FONTES:  Mr. Chairman.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Fontes.
  

 7                 MEMBER FONTES:  Does it even apply or would
  

 8   it be better stated that "The applicant shall work with
  

 9   APS to design"?
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, APS has got its own
  

11   CEC No. 198 for the line they'll be attaching the
  

12   substation to, so it's already got this condition
  

13   attached to it.
  

14                 MEMBER FONTES:  Does it apply?
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, there's this one and
  

16   there's also Condition 14 which relates to transmission
  

17   facilities which are not part of this application.
  

18                 But there will be some -- I guess there
  

19   will be some transmission built between the ED system and
  

20   the substation, so there will be some kind of conductor
  

21   with a pole or two.
  

22                 MR. MOYES:  We can change the wording to
  

23   distribution system.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I don't want to reference
  

25   distribution.  That's not within our authority.  So it's
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 1   only transmission lines.
  

 2                 But I mean --
  

 3                 MR. MOYES:  Or take it out completely.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  My thought was that
  

 5   maybe 6 and 14 could be removed in their entirety
  

 6   because -- and I'm jumping ahead here because 14 is about
  

 7   the non-specular nonreflective services for transmission
  

 8   line structures.
  

 9                 MEMBER FONTES:  I just hate to create some
  

10   requirements in here then a financier for a legal review
  

11   or a credit committee review is going to, oh, can you
  

12   show me that.  And a lender's engineer is going to look
  

13   for it and create -- schedule delays for the applicant.
  

14   So I would go with simple from that perspective,
  

15   Mr. Chairman, for consideration.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  What do you mean like
  

17   strike both 6 and 14?
  

18                 MEMBER FONTES:  Yes, sir.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Because those are
  

20   exclusively for transmission, which is not a part of this
  

21   application.
  

22                 MEMBER FONTES:  That's my observation,
  

23   Mr. Chairman.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And that's -- I'm fine with
  

25   that.  I was going to bring that up to the committee to

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 253     VOLUME IV     12/04/2025 723

  

 1   discuss, so I think that --
  

 2                 MR. MOYES:  We are fine with that as well.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Can I -- guess
  

 4   we can deal this in one motion.
  

 5                 MEMBER FONTES:  I would move to strike
  

 6   Condition Number 6, Mr. Chairman.
  

 7                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 9                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Kryder.
  

11                 MEMBER KRYDER:  The other motion is on the
  

12   table.  You can't --
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  What motion?
  

14                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Well, there was a motion to
  

15   approve 6, was there not?
  

16                 You can't then have a second motion to
  

17   abandon it before dealing with the first one.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Was it moved for approval
  

19   or for discussion?
  

20                 MEMBER FONTES:  Discussion.
  

21                 MEMBER MERCER:  Discussion.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, let's -- let's start
  

23   over again.
  

24                 Withdraw the initial motion on 6, and then
  

25   we'll introduce a new motion to strike Condition 6 and
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 1   14.
  

 2                 How about that?
  

 3                 MEMBER FONTES:  So moved, Mr. Chairman.
  

 4                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Because that withdrew the
  

 6   prior motion.
  

 7                 MEMBER KRYDER:  I think that'll be fine.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  And now the new
  

 9   motion will be strike 6 and 14.
  

10                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.
  

11                 MEMBER KRYDER:  So moved.
  

12                 MEMBER HILL:  Second.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

14                 (No audible response.)
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

16                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

18                 (No audible response.)
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Conditions 6
  

20   and 14 are stricken.
  

21                 We're still going off the existing numbers
  

22   here on the Chairman's 1 so we don't get confused.
  

23                 All right.  So moving on to Condition 7.
  

24                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

25   approval of Condition 7.
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 1                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 3                 Now, for this one, the applicant is the
  

 4   landowner, so there's you only have to cooperate with
  

 5   yourself.  I think you stated that you dealt with SHPO
  

 6   and agreed to do the site and that there's no
  

 7   right-of-ways that we're -- it's going to be the site
  

 8   itself because it's a plant that's the site.
  

 9                 And I believe in the discussion was through
  

10   the entire site, not just the location of where the power
  

11   plant will be physically located on the site I believe
  

12   was the entire 160 acres.
  

13                 Mr. Moyes, is that correct or am I
  

14   mistaken?
  

15                 MR. MOYES:  Yes, that's correct.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

17                 MR. DAVIES:  And not to introduce
  

18   complexity, technically the applicant is not the owner of
  

19   the land.  The land is owned by a joint venture with our
  

20   data center partner.  So it's a different legal entity.
  

21   Not to complicate things.  But I'm okay --
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, I guess we can just
  

23   put "in cooperation with the landowner" because, you
  

24   know, they're -- it's another entity that's comprised
  

25   partially of the entity that is the applicant, so I think
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 1   if it is technically a different entity, it make sense to
  

 2   leave that in.
  

 3                 MR. DAVIES:  We can leave it in; we could
  

 4   take it out.  I just wanted to get it on the record that
  

 5   the applicant was not the same legal entity as the
  

 6   landowner.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

 8                 MEMBER KRYDER:  But you have control over
  

 9   it.
  

10                 MR. DAVIES:  We have 50 percent control.
  

11                 MR. MOYES:  I would suggest we leave the
  

12   language as it was originally written just to make sure
  

13   Baccara LLC is not --
  

14                 MEMBER KRYDER:  I would think that's wise.
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I agree.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Condition 7 has
  

17   been moved and seconded.
  

18                 Can we get a motion to amend it to reinsert
  

19   the language "in the cooperation with the landowner"?
  

20                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.
  

21                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

23                 (No audible response.)
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

25                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 2                 (No audible response.)
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 7
  

 4   is amended.
  

 5                 Can I get a motion to adopt Condition 7 as
  

 6   amended?
  

 7                 MEMBER MERCER:  So moved.
  

 8                 MEMBER HILL:  Second.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

10                 All in favor say "aye."
  

11                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

12                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Just a clarification,
  

13   Chairman.
  

14                 In line 8, the project site line was
  

15   that --
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, that was part of
  

17   the -- that was part of the -- we didn't -- we're not
  

18   changing that.
  

19                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That was part of the
  

21   Chairman's 1.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So did you vote "aye" or --
  

24                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

25   approval of --
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We're voting now.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Oh, I'm sorry.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I called the vote.
  

 4                 All in favor say "aye."
  

 5                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 6                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Aye.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 8                 (No audible response.)
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 7
  

10   as amended is adopted.
  

11                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Thank you.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Moving on to 8.
  

13                 MEMBER KRYDER:  I move approval of
  

14   Condition 8.
  

15                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

17                 (No audible response.)
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

19                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

21                 (No audible response.)
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 8
  

23   is adopted.
  

24                 Number 9.
  

25                 MEMBER HILL:  Move approval Condition 9.
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 1                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 3                 (No audible response.)
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

 5                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 7                 (No audible response.)
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 9
  

 9   is adopted.
  

10                 Number 10.
  

11                 MEMBER HILL:  Move approval Condition 10.
  

12                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

14                 (No audible response.)
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

16                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

18                 (No audible response.)
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 10
  

20   is adopted.
  

21                 Number 11.
  

22                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

23   Condition 11.
  

24                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
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 1                 (No audible response.)
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

 3                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 5                 (No audible response.)
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 11
  

 7   is adopted.
  

 8                 Number 12.
  

 9                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

10   approval of Condition 12.
  

11                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

13                 (No audible response.)
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

15                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

17                 (No audible response.)
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 12
  

19   is adopted.
  

20                 Number 13.
  

21                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

22   approval of Condition 13.
  

23                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

25                 MEMBER FONTES:  Do we want to state within
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 1   one-mile radius, Mr. Moyes, or two miles for this
  

 2   purpose?
  

 3                 MR. MOYES:  We do.  One mile.  Thank you
  

 4   for that catch.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Would you like to make that
  

 6   amendment, Member Fontes?
  

 7                 MEMBER FONTES:  So moved.
  

 8                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

10                 (No audible response.)
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

12                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

13                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Chair.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

15                 Opposed?
  

16                 (No audible response.)
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

18   is adopted.
  

19                 Member Hill.
  

20                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Can we get that up on the
  

21   screen?
  

22                 MEMBER HILL:  I want to go back and make
  

23   sure I just understand this because we were talking about
  

24   the construction time frame.
  

25                 In Condition 12 in Chairman 1, "signs
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 1   giving notice of the project be inspected at least once
  

 2   annually and if necessary be repaired or replaced and
  

 3   removed at completion of the construction."
  

 4                 Are we asking them to keep the signs up for
  

 5   10 years if it's a 10-year construction process?
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes.
  

 7                 MEMBER HILL:  Okay.  I guess I just hadn't
  

 8   thought about that.
  

 9                 MEMBER FONTES:  Mr. Chairman.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fontes.
  

11                 MEMBER FONTES:  We often deal with
  

12   transmission gen-ties as Mr. Moyes well knows.  "Near
  

13   public rights-of-way" can be interpreted as
  

14   transportation or transmission or gas pipelines or
  

15   fiberoptic.  So not sure how to read that for this one
  

16   since we're doing a power plant.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It would be at the edge of
  

18   the property.  I assume that you would have it on the --
  

19                 MEMBER FONTES:  "Near the public
  

20   rights-of-way to the extent" maybe we want to say "The
  

21   sign shall be posted in or near the edge of the
  

22   property"?
  

23                 I don't know.  Just pointing out something
  

24   because this is tailored for transmission.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, you can use the same
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 1   one for plants too.
  

 2                 I mean, where -- where are the current
  

 3   signs posted?
  

 4                 MEMBER FONTES:  I guess how do we define
  

 5   rights-of-way for a fixed project generation site versus
  

 6   a transmission?
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Where are the current signs
  

 8   posted, Mr. Moyes?
  

 9                 MR. MOYES:  There are four signs posted on
  

10   all four corners of the parcel.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And they would continue to
  

12   be posted until the project's completed?
  

13                 MR. MOYES:  I believe the intent with the
  

14   standard language was areas of traffic.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  Because it's not --
  

16   and the signs -- the posting is typically where they post
  

17   the signs for notice of the hearing.  Those remain as
  

18   notices of the project until the project's completed
  

19   because then you can see the project.  You don't need to
  

20   hear about what's coming.
  

21                 Does that make sense, Member Fontes?
  

22                 MEMBER FONTES:  It does.  But the term
  

23   "rights-of-way" is particular in how we normally conduct
  

24   our business.  That's why I pointed out.
  

25                 But your call.  I just wanted to underscore
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 1   that and see how Mr. Moyes and you read that just for the
  

 2   public as well.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, the current signs are
  

 4   in -- are they in the rights-of-way or are they on your
  

 5   property?
  

 6                 MR. MOYES:  They were designed to be as
  

 7   near as possible to public roadways where the public
  

 8   could see them.
  

 9                 MEMBER FONTES:  So in this case
  

10   rights-of-ways are transportation rights-of-way.
  

11                 MR. MOYES:  They are technically.
  

12                 MEMBER FONTES:  And you're okay with that?
  

13                 MR. MOYES:  Yes.
  

14                 MEMBER HILL:  I only ask this question --
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And we're actually -- we're
  

16   actually on Number 13, but --
  

17                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Thank you.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So let's -- let's -- we're
  

19   on -- 13 has been amended to change the radius to one
  

20   mile.
  

21                 MEMBER HILL:  Oh, sorry.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So do we want -- my only
  

23   other thought is that in the previous one we specified it
  

24   was within one mile of the project --
  

25                 MR. MOYES:  Boundaries.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- boundary.
  

 2                 Is it -- do we need to reiterate that here
  

 3   or is it understood well enough from the prior one and
  

 4   then for this one because it's -- it's -- do we want to
  

 5   amend this to make the language consistent with -- which
  

 6   prior one was that?
  

 7                 MR. MOYES:  We're fine making it
  

 8   consistent.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

10                 MR. MOYES:  That was Condition 2,
  

11   Mr. Chairman.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  So we want to
  

13   further amend -- we've already adopted the first
  

14   amendment to 13.  So do we want to amend it further to
  

15   say -- let's see, it will Chairman's 1, page 7, line --
  

16                 MR. MOYES:  We're just checking what the
  

17   exact language we changed into.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right -- line 4 and a
  

19   half after "project."
  

20                 MR. MOYES:  Of the boundary of the project
  

21   site.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  So we could say
  

23   "miles of the project site boundary."
  

24                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes, that's better than of
  

25   the boundary.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We're not changing 2 here,
  

 2   I mean, so we --
  

 3                 MR. MOYES:  We're just trying to see how we
  

 4   worded it in 2 to --
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It was the boundary of the
  

 6   project site, so yeah.
  

 7                 So we get to 13.  So, again, going to
  

 8   Chairman's 1, page 7, line 4 and a half.  There you go.
  

 9                 So it would be "one mile of the boundary of
  

10   the project site" with a written description, et cetera,
  

11   et cetera.
  

12                 Can I get a motion?
  

13                 MEMBER KRYDER:  So moved, Mr. Chairman.
  

14                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

16                 (No audible response.)
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor that amendment
  

18   is adopted.
  

19                 MEMBER MERCER:  Aye.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Oh, yeah, further
  

21   discussion?
  

22                 (No audible response.)
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

24                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
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 1                 (No audible response.)
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, that
  

 3   amendment is adopted.
  

 4                 Can I get a motion to amend Condition 13 as
  

 5   twice amended now?
  

 6                 MEMBER MERCER:  So moved.
  

 7                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 9                 (No audible response.)
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

11                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

13                 (No audible response.)
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 13
  

15   as amended is adopted.
  

16                 Okay.  We've already stricken 14.
  

17                 Now here's where the confusion begins
  

18   because going off the numbers on Chairman's 1, not the
  

19   ones on Chairman's 2 on the screen.
  

20                 So we're now on Condition 15.
  

21                 MEMBER KRYDER:  So we shall call it 14 or
  

22   15?
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  15.  Because the one we're
  

24   changing is Chairman's 1 which is the PDF that doesn't
  

25   change.  That's --
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 1                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Gotcha.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I'm going to go back and
  

 3   look at the transcript to make sure we've accurately
  

 4   captured the certificate language.  I go off of this.
  

 5   That way I can see -- it's clear -- we're talking about
  

 6   the same thing the whole time.
  

 7                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

 8   approval of Condition 15.
  

 9                 MEMBER HILL:  Second.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

11                 (No audible response.)
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

13                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

15                 (No audible response.)
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 15
  

17   is adopted.
  

18                 Number 16.
  

19                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

20   approval of Condition 16.
  

21                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

23                 (No audible response.)
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

25                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 2                 (No audible response.)
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 16
  

 4   is adopted.
  

 5                 Number 17.
  

 6                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Chairman, could we -- I
  

 7   have the Staff letter up.  Could we see the whole on the
  

 8   screen?
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Scroll up more, please.
  

10   Other way.  I guess scroll down.  Make the page go up.
  

11   Keep going.  Wait.  Hang on.  I see what you're saying.
  

12   I'm getting distracted by the wrong number on the
  

13   Chairman's 2.
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yeah.  And I wanted to pull
  

15   up the Staff letter so I have that on my iPad and --
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We've been going for almost
  

17   90 minutes.  I think it's -- let's take a short 10 to
  

18   15-minute recess so we can get the Staff letter pulled
  

19   up.
  

20                 MEMBER LITTLE:  May we reconsider whatever
  

21   number that is?
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  16?
  

23                 MEMBER HILL:  Or 17.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Because actually we're on
  

25   17, and that says 16 on the screen in front of me because
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 1   that's Chairman's 2, so we're actually on 17.
  

 2                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  May we reconsider
  

 3   that?
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That's what happens when
  

 5   you start striking conditions.  You get the numbers -- or
  

 6   adding them, you know, before you're done going through
  

 7   the rest of them it throws the numbers off.
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I think the language in
  

 9   that condition should be consistent with what the Staff
  

10   recommended.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And I have some
  

12   notes to talk about that, so let's go ahead and take a 10
  

13   to 15-minute recess and come back on Condition 17.
  

14                 (Recess from 10:23 a.m. to 10:38 a.m.)
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Let's go back on the
  

16   record.
  

17                 We are on Condition 17 from Chairman's 1.
  

18                 Had it been moved yet?
  

19                 Let's move it for discussion, please.
  

20                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I would like to move
  

21   Condition 17 for discussion.
  

22                 MEMBER HILL:  Second.
  

23                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Now, this was
  

25   the language from about the system impact studies from
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 1   CEC 248.
  

 2                 Now, I think the Staff letter had a
  

 3   suggestion for it, and then I guess in a prior CEC we
  

 4   added that the applicant would provide Staff with the
  

 5   interconnection agreement itself subject to the
  

 6   protective agreement, of course.  I also want to have a
  

 7   discussion about whether that's worth adding to this and
  

 8   hear from members and the applicant.
  

 9                 Because I still -- there's no -- you guys
  

10   are in the queue now currently, right, Mr. Davies?
  

11                 MR. DAVIES:  We are currently in the
  

12   generation queue right now, yes.
  

13                 What I'd also like to point out here is
  

14   because of the nature of this facility we have two SISes.
  

15   We've got a load and a generator SIS.  I think we should
  

16   clarify that.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.
  

18                 MEMBER KRYDER:  You have two what?
  

19                 MR. DAVIES:  System impact study -- system
  

20   impact studies.
  

21                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, a couple of
  

22   things.  We changed the language to phase 1 and phase 2
  

23   cluster studies to be in -- coordinate with the most
  

24   recent FERC rulings, but the common language is system
  

25   impact studies.
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 1                 Do we want -- I mean, does the applicant
  

 2   and/or the lawyers feel that we should be consistent with
  

 3   the phase 1 and phase 2 cluster studies or system impact
  

 4   studies or --
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  But as
  

 6   Mr. Davies pointed out, there's one for the load and one
  

 7   for the generation.
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I understand that, but
  

 9   we're still talking about the --
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, I guess what's the
  

11   proper nomenclature?
  

12                 I'm looking at the applicant and their
  

13   attorney.
  

14                 MR. MOYES:  I'll argue the same point I
  

15   argued when we changed this language last time that I
  

16   feel it's more appropriate to simply state "all relevant
  

17   system impact studies" as that is the standard industry
  

18   term.  That's what utilities Staff uses in all of their
  

19   letters and communications with us.  That would include
  

20   LGIP, everything -- all relevant studies that are going
  

21   to impact the transmission system is what Staff is
  

22   looking to review.  I think you can keep it more generic
  

23   than narrowing down to cluster studies phase 1 and phase
  

24   2.
  

25                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I agree with that.
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 1                 MEMBER FONTES:  Is there -- is there
  

 2   anything from ED7 after they get the SIS due to the
  

 3   relationship there based on your general counsel work?
  

 4                 MR. MOYES:  Well, ED7 is the one that's
  

 5   submitting the NITS request through APS, but in terms of
  

 6   ED7 is not regulated by the ACC.  They have no reporting
  

 7   duty to Staff.
  

 8                 MR. DAVIES:  For the record, so ED7 has
  

 9   submitted the NITS request from APS.  We have an SIS from
  

10   APS for the load.  We are in the facility study for the
  

11   load.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  The NITS request, can you,
  

13   like --
  

14                 MR. DAVIES:  Yeah, so a Network Integrated
  

15   Transmission System request for the 500 megawatts of
  

16   transmission from Delaney.  So that is our -- we've
  

17   already received an SIS on that.  We are in the
  

18   facilities study process for that.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Have those been provided to
  

20   Staff I guess is the next question?
  

21                 MR. MOYES:  They have.  They were provided
  

22   with the initial 90-day plan.
  

23                 MEMBER FONTES:  Just to clarify, the NITS
  

24   is complete?
  

25                 MR. DAVIES:  The NITS SIS is complete.  We
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 1   are now in the facilities study, and then we'll get -- we
  

 2   expect to have a facilities agreement any day now.
  

 3                 MEMBER FONTES:  My perspective on that is
  

 4   the NITS is particular to ED7.  The other ones are APS.
  

 5   Again, just offering from a financing perspective,
  

 6   cleaner if you kind of put both of them in and say all of
  

 7   the above just for a little bit more precision.  Because
  

 8   of the way you go through ED7 and the contractual
  

 9   relations, you've got the physical infrastructure, the
  

10   contractual, the path.  Just trying to anticipate some
  

11   things for you, but you make the call, Mr. Davies.
  

12                 MR. DAVIES:  So is the recommendation that
  

13   we provide everything?
  

14                 MEMBER FONTES:  All of the above from ED7
  

15   and APS.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little.
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That's what I'd like to
  

18   see.  I think that we as the line siting committee depend
  

19   upon Staff recommendations and Staff statements because
  

20   with the exception of a very few of us most people -- for
  

21   one thing even those of us who understand a system impact
  

22   study don't have access to it.  So we depend upon them to
  

23   look at the system impact studies, whatever they may be,
  

24   and make recommendations to us.
  

25                 And what's in the CEC needs to be
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 1   consistent with what Staff has told us.
  

 2                 MR. DAVIES:  So the only thing I want to be
  

 3   careful of, and I'm just going to look at Mr. Moyes here,
  

 4   is we are not actually the applicant on the NITS.  It is
  

 5   ED7.  That is not our application.  And I just want to be
  

 6   careful we're not committing to provide things which we
  

 7   do not have a right to provide.
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  What is included in the
  

 9   NITS?  Do they -- I know they're requesting 500 megawatts
  

10   of the firm transmission.
  

11                 MR. DAVIES:  Yep.
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Do they inform APS that
  

13   they are potentially putting 700 megawatts of generation
  

14   onto the system?
  

15                 MR. DAVIES:  Not in the --
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  They're two separate
  

17   things, aren't they?
  

18                 MR. DAVIES:  In the NITS, we are at this
  

19   point when it was submitted they just submitted that one
  

20   of the points of receipt would be at this new substation.
  

21                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Which would entail --
  

22                 MR. DAVIES:  And what we expect is as part
  

23   of the next phase of the NITS, we need to demonstrate
  

24   what our resources are.  Because generally speaking under
  

25   FERC 888 you can't request transmission you will not use.
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 1   You can't squat on the asset.
  

 2                 So as part of this next phase, we
  

 3   anticipate having to -- ED7 will formally name the assets
  

 4   that they expect to use for the transmission.  That has
  

 5   not formally happened at this point.  The APS
  

 6   transmission team knows well that there's two sides of
  

 7   this, but it has not formally been submitted to APS at
  

 8   this point.
  

 9                 MEMBER LITTLE:  And it's the results of
  

10   that study that as a -- as a transmission planner for
  

11   many years, that's what I want to see.
  

12                 MR. DAVIES:  The load NITS, the ED7 NITS.
  

13   I personally have no problem providing it in
  

14   transparency.  I just want to, you know, look at
  

15   Mr. Moyes here and make sure we that are not committing
  

16   to something which when I -- if I was to call up ED7
  

17   right now, they would say, "No, don't do that.  That is
  

18   not your document to put in the public record."
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, it wouldn't be in the
  

20   public record.  It would be submitted to Commission Staff
  

21   under protective agreement.
  

22                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.
  

23                 MEMBER LITTLE:  But so in the NITS, does --
  

24   is it you have specified points of delivery --
  

25                 MR. DAVIES:  Yes.
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  -- on to the system and off
  

 2   of the system?
  

 3                 MR. DAVIES:  We have two points of receipt
  

 4   on to the system and one point of delivery off of the
  

 5   system.
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  And all of that information
  

 7   will be submitted in the next phase; is that correct?
  

 8                 MR. DAVIES:  All of that is in the load
  

 9   NITS, which I believe initial copy was submitted, is that
  

10   correct, Mr. Moyes?
  

11                 MR. MOYES:  Yes.
  

12                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.
  

13                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Someplace along the line
  

14   the grid need to know that you're putting 700 megawatts
  

15   on to the system.
  

16                 Where is that?
  

17                 MR. DAVIES:  That is in our APS LGIP which
  

18   is what is jurisdictional here.  So absolutely anything
  

19   related to the project being defined as a generator must
  

20   and will be submitted.  Now, whether we want to clarify
  

21   it's cluster 1 or cluster 2, we'll set that aside.
  

22                 Then there's the load.  But we are not
  

23   actually the applicant to APS for the load.  We have
  

24   applied to ED7.  ED7 applies to APS.
  

25                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Right.  But what I'm
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 1   concerned about is putting the 700 megawatts on to the
  

 2   system.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, I think we can
  

 4   address that by them having them provide Staff with the
  

 5   long -- with the long --
  

 6                 MR. MOYES:  LGIP.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- the large generator
  

 8   interconnection agreement under protective agreement to
  

 9   Staff.
  

10                 MR. MOYES:  That is what Staff is
  

11   requesting in the response letter to Mr. Chairman, the
  

12   LGIP.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And that's what
  

14   we've had -- we've done that in a prior case too.  We've
  

15   done that.
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  All right.  So we can put
  

17   that in there, but we also need to include the condition
  

18   requiring the applicant to be responsible for any
  

19   necessary transmission network upgrades if the higher
  

20   queued projects withdraw.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And my thought on is
  

22   wouldn't that be included in the large generator
  

23   interconnection agreement, Mr. Moyes?
  

24                 MR. MOYES:  Yes.
  

25                 MEMBER LITTLE:  We need to include language
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 1   that obligates the applicant to abide by the conditions
  

 2   that are in that as we have done in the past.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  So I think -- I
  

 4   think we can accomplish that because, like, the Staff had
  

 5   the suggestion about the -- I guess they were concerned
  

 6   about higher queued projects dropping out and then
  

 7   additional expenses being passed on to the applicant.
  

 8                 And I guess the concern is that APS
  

 9   wouldn't pick those up and rate base them as opposed to
  

10   having the applicant pay for them.
  

11                 And I guess my question to you, Mr. Moyes,
  

12   is that will be addressed in the large generator
  

13   interconnection agreement, will it not?
  

14                 MR. MOYES:  It would.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And they would -- and the
  

16   standard's going to be -- and I guess -- and it's going
  

17   to be the FERC rules that apply on who has to pay the
  

18   cost; is that correct?
  

19                 MR. MOYES:  Yes.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

21                 MR. MOYES:  But if Member Little wants
  

22   additional language in there saying we will comply
  

23   with --
  

24                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Well, let me ask other
  

25   members of the committee who are not -- don't happen to
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 1   be electrical engineers, their expertise is in other
  

 2   areas, would you feel more comfortable with language that
  

 3   required the applicant to abide by the conditions that
  

 4   were --
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Oh, yes.  And I think -- I
  

 6   think in the prior language that we did adopt in an early
  

 7   CEC, having them provide the large generator
  

 8   interconnection agreement to Staff I think they also
  

 9   include that they will comply with any conditions imposed
  

10   by that.
  

11                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.  That's what I
  

12   want to see.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  I think CEC 250 has
  

14   that language that we're talking about.
  

15                 MR. MOYES:  We would be fine with similar
  

16   language.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  I guess could we
  

18   pull that up.
  

19                 MEMBER HILL:  I'm getting there.
  

20                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Is that 250?
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Member Hill is
  

22   on it.
  

23                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yay.
  

24                 MEMBER HILL:  This is the case --
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We'll see that one again,
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 1   but the language is in the certificate.  I think it's
  

 2   probably going to be Condition 17 in that one as well.
  

 3                 MEMBER HILL:  Do you want me to read it?
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We're going to skip the
  

 5   part about -- do we need to -- so you want to include the
  

 6   interconnection studies and the large generator
  

 7   interconnection agreement?  So I'm looking at -- so
  

 8   looking at Chairman's 17, the first part of the sentence,
  

 9   "The applicant shall provide Commission Staff with a copy
  

10   of the results of all relevant system impact studies."
  

11                 MEMBER HILL:  "Remaining system impact
  

12   studies for interconnection" is what we had in --
  

13                 MR. MOYES:  That works for us.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  And then continue
  

15   with the rest of it.
  

16                 MEMBER HILL:  "And the interconnection
  

17   agreements for all phases of the project."
  

18                 MEMBER LITTLE:  "When they are executed and
  

19   approved by applicants in" -- "the applicants, which will
  

20   be provided under the existing protective agreement with
  

21   Commission Staff.  And applicant shall comply with all
  

22   requirements contained in the interconnection
  

23   agreements."
  

24                 Got all that?
  

25                 Mr. Chairman, I move that we modify
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 1   Condition 17 to read:  "The applicant will provide."
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  "Shall" -- "shall provide."
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  "Shall provide."  Thank
  

 4   you.
  

 5                 MEMBER HILL:  You got them --
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  "Shall provide Commission
  

 7   Staff with a copy of the results of all relevant
  

 8   remaining system impact study."
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then get rid of the
  

10   phase 1 and phase 2 cluster references.
  

11                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Right.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is 15 days adequate time or
  

13   do you need more time?
  

14                 I think we've gone back and forth between
  

15   15 and 30 days.
  

16                 MR. MOYES:  We would prefer 30.
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  And why don't -- before we
  

18   say we --
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Do you want to add another
  

20   sentence?  Leave that in place and then add a new
  

21   sentence that says "applicant shall" --
  

22                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Well, the condition -- the
  

23   requirements will be not in the studies themselves.  The
  

24   requirements will be in the protective -- the
  

25   interconnection agreement, so --
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So then after -- before
  

 2   "comply," add the section about "and shall provide Staff
  

 3   with the" -- what's the language?
  

 4                 MEMBER HILL:  Existing -- "executed and
  

 5   approved interconnection agreements."
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Say that again.
  

 7                 MEMBER HILL:  Okay.  "Shall provide
  

 8   Staff" --
  

 9                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I think that should go --
  

10                 MR. MOYES:  -- "with all relevant system
  

11   impact studies and" --
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  "And" yes.
  

13                 MR. MOYES:  -- "interconnection studies" up
  

14   top.
  

15                 MEMBER HILL:  "Interconnection agreements."
  

16   So I think it goes back up to the top; right?
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yep.
  

18                 MEMBER HILL:  "And interconnection
  

19   agreements."
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Capitalized?
  

21                 MR. MOYES:  And then if you would read from
  

22   there, Member Hill, what the rest of the --
  

23                 MEMBER HILL:  And then I think we jump down
  

24   to the bottom where we say --
  

25                 MR. MOYES:  I would real quick --
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  "You have to provide Staff"
  

 2   and then subject to the protective agreement language.
  

 3                 MR. MOYES:  But I would say before that
  

 4   "within 30 days of applicant's receipt of the same."
  

 5                 MEMBER HILL:  That's good.  That's good.
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes.
  

 7                 MEMBER HILL:  Apologies.
  

 8                 MR. MOYES:  And then whatever you'd like
  

 9   from there on.  "And shall provide Staff" --
  

10                 MEMBER LITTLE:  We've already got "shall
  

11   provide staff" in the previous, so --
  

12                 MEMBER HILL:  Yeah.
  

13                 MR. MOYES:  "And shall comply with all
  

14   requirements contained therein."
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  After same it says, "Which
  

16   will be provided under the existing protective agreement
  

17   with Commission Staff."
  

18                 Do you have a protective agreement with
  

19   Staff?
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  If they've sent them the
  

21   system impact studies for the load, I'm assuming that was
  

22   under protective agreement, Mr. Moyes?
  

23                 MR. MOYES:  Yes, I believe so.
  

24                 MEMBER LITTLE:  "Which shall be provided
  

25   under" --
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 1                 MEMBER HILL:  -- "under the existing
  

 2   protective agreement with Commission Staff.  And
  

 3   applicant shall comply with all requirements contained in
  

 4   the interconnection agreement."
  

 5                 MEMBER FANT:  Mr. Chair.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Fant.
  

 7                 MEMBER FANT:  Would you be willing to
  

 8   accept amendment "all applicable requirements contained
  

 9   in the interconnection agreement"?
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, if they're in the
  

11   interconnection agreement, won't they be applicable?
  

12                 I mean, there won't be any inapplicable
  

13   requirements in interconnection agreement I think.
  

14                 MEMBER FANT:  I don't know.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I'm looking at Mr. Davies.
  

16                 MR. DAVIES:  I don't feel we need the
  

17   "applicable."
  

18                 MEMBER FANT:  Okay.
  

19                 MR. DAVIES:  You know, if there's something
  

20   we deem inapplicable, we'll have that conversation with
  

21   the APS.
  

22                 MEMBER FANT:  I'll withdraw my comment.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And hopefully have them
  

24   take it out of the agreement; right?
  

25                 MR. DAVIES:  That is my hope.
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 1                 MEMBER HILL:  Just a clarification.  There
  

 2   will be one interconnection agreement, or will there be
  

 3   several over time?
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, do you want to
  

 5   specify a large generator interconnection agreement
  

 6   because that's the one that's going to be with APS.  The
  

 7   other one is going to be a load.  One is through ED7, if
  

 8   I'm not mistaken.
  

 9                 MR. DAVIES:  Yeah, I think we have a lot of
  

10   that covered because it says, "relevant system impact
  

11   studies for the project."  And here "project" is defined
  

12   as the generator.
  

13                 MEMBER HILL:  Okay.  So agreements is
  

14   plural or singular?
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  As it's written, it's
  

16   plural in one place and singular in another.
  

17                 MEMBER HILL:  That's why I'm asking.
  

18                 MR. DAVIES:  We expect and have only
  

19   applied for one LGIP.
  

20                 MEMBER HILL:  Great.  Then we make it
  

21   singular.
  

22                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That's my motion.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Let's -- can
  

24   you scroll down so I can see the entire Condition 17?
  

25                 All right.  So, Member Little, your motion
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 1   is to amend Condition 17 to read in its entirety, "The
  

 2   applicant shall provide Commission Staff with a copy of
  

 3   the results of all relevant remaining system impact
  

 4   studies and interconnection agreement for the project
  

 5   within 30 days of applicant's receipt of the same which
  

 6   shall be provided under the existing protective agreement
  

 7   with Commission Staff, and applicant shall comply with
  

 8   all requirements contained in the interconnection
  

 9   agreement."
  

10                 MR. MOYES:  I would just suggest that on
  

11   line 1 it should say after SIS "and the interconnection
  

12   agreement."
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That is your amendment,
  

14   Member Little?
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes.
  

16                 MR. DAVIES:  And as a point of
  

17   clarification, facility studies here, is that captured in
  

18   the definition of system impact studies?
  

19                 We have no problem with providing the
  

20   system impact study and then the agreement.  What about
  

21   the middle?
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, I think the rubber
  

23   meets the road in the interconnection agreement.
  

24                 MR. DAVIES:  It will, yes.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So I think that's --
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 1                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think they can deal
  

 3   without the blow by blow.  I think that what they're
  

 4   really going to care about is the interconnection
  

 5   agreement and what the costs are going to be.
  

 6                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.
  

 7                 MEMBER LITTLE:  And I think that probably
  

 8   relevant system impact studies could be interpreted to
  

 9   include the facility study, but --
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I guess it's your option to
  

11   give them that or not.
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I don't think we need to
  

13   put it in there personally.
  

14                 MR. DAVIES:  I -- I don't think we need to
  

15   argue it anymore.  We're happy to provide, you know, the
  

16   facilities study as well.
  

17                 I'll just point out because the system
  

18   impact study is capitalized I would say that probably
  

19   does not refer to the facility study.  We have no
  

20   problem, especially given it's under protective
  

21   agreement, you know, going ahead and providing all of
  

22   this, so --
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So the amendment has been
  

24   moved.
  

25                 Has it been seconded?
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I moved it.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.
  

 3                 MEMBER HILL:  Second.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Further
  

 5   discussion?
  

 6                 (No audible response.)
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

 8                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

10                 (No audible response.)
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

12   passed.
  

13                 Can I get an motion to adopt 17 as amended?
  

14                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.
  

15                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

17                 (No audible response.)
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

19                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

21                 (No audible response.)
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 17
  

23   as amended is adopted.
  

24                 Number 18.
  

25                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
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 1   Condition 18.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 4                 MEMBER FANT:  Mr. Chair.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Fant.
  

 6                 MEMBER FANT:  Is that relevant?
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, we require all
  

 8   applicants to do this.
  

 9                 MEMBER FANT:  Okay.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

11                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

13                 (No audible response.)
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 18
  

15   is adopted.
  

16                 Number 19.
  

17                 MEMBER HILL:  Where's our natural gas guy?
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Let's get it moved.
  

19                 MEMBER HILL:  Move paragraph 19.
  

20                 MR. DAVIES:  I would like to --
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I need a second.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

24                 Mr. Davies.
  

25                 MR. DAVIES:  I actually did not completely
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 1   understand this when reading through it, specifically
  

 2   19(b).  It says, "Ensure that studies are performed
  

 3   simulating an outage of the project that may be caused by
  

 4   the collocation of the project parallel to and within
  

 5   100 feet of the existing natural gas or hazardous liquid
  

 6   pipelines."
  

 7                 Now, there's no question we are going to be
  

 8   within 100 feet.  Both of them are coming onto the site.
  

 9   And, you know, in consultation with Mr. Moyes, he
  

10   believes that this refers to the cathodic protection
  

11   studies referenced in 19(a).  And if that is true, my
  

12   request that, you know, 19(b) be amended to say that
  

13   "Ensure that such cathodic protection studies are
  

14   performed" just to be very clear because we have also
  

15   been doing blast studies and other studies.
  

16                 And if this is cathodic protection, let's
  

17   say that in 19(b) because the preamble of 19(b) does not
  

18   specify cathodic protection.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That is a very good
  

20   grammatical point.
  

21                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Mr. Chairman.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Comstock.
  

23                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  In this case for this
  

24   project, the service provider will be conducting the
  

25   studies just as a normal course of business.  I don't
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 1   think this is relevant in this particular case, and I
  

 2   would move to strike.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Can you get closer to the
  

 4   microphone, please.
  

 5                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  I don't think this is
  

 6   relevant in this particular project, and I would move to
  

 7   strike it because Southwest Gas and Plains Pipeline will
  

 8   perform cathodic protection surveys as a matter of annual
  

 9   maintenance and operation on their pipelines.
  

10                 This -- this is not -- this was not
  

11   intended to deal with a project of this type.
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I agree.  When this was put
  

15   into the CECs, it was for transmission lines that
  

16   existing pipeline companies might not be aware of.  You
  

17   know, they put -- somebody puts a transmission line
  

18   that's close to their pipeline, and they're not -- you
  

19   know, they don't even know it.
  

20                 And so it wanted to protect the pipelines
  

21   when transmission lines were installed that they
  

22   otherwise might not be aware of, and as was pointed out,
  

23   this is -- they're going to be well aware of this one.
  

24                 MR. MOYES:  We would happily accept
  

25   striking it.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  So I believe
  

 2   Member Hill made the motion to adopt.
  

 3                 MEMBER HILL:  I'll withdraw that motion.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Comstock, would you
  

 5   like to make a motion?
  

 6                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Yes, sir.  I move that we
  

 7   strike 19, Chairman 1 in its entirety.
  

 8                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

10                 (No audible response.)
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

12                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

14                 (No audible response.)
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 19
  

16   is stricken.
  

17                 On to Condition 20.
  

18                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

19   approval of Condition 20.
  

20                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Further
  

22   discussion?
  

23                 Mr. Moyes, confirm that January 1, 2027, is
  

24   the correct date to begin the annual compliance filing.
  

25                 MR. MOYES:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  And then
  

 2   notification to the City of Glendale as well I added to
  

 3   this.
  

 4                 MR. MOYES:  We agree.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  All right.
  

 6                 Further discussion?
  

 7                 (No audible response.)
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

 9                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

11                 (No audible response.)
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 20
  

13   is adopted.
  

14                 Number 21.
  

15                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

16   approval of Condition 21.
  

17                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

19                 (No audible response.)
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

21                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

23                 (No audible response.)
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 21
  

25   is adopted.
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 1                 22.
  

 2                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

 3   Condition 22.
  

 4                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 6                 Now, I guess this question is for the
  

 7   applicant.  Will the applicant -- will it be transferring
  

 8   the CEC to the joint venture or will this particular
  

 9   certificate remain with the applicant?  I'm just curious.
  

10                 MR. DAVIES:  We expect it to stay with the
  

11   applicant.  The joint venture will be the owner of the
  

12   land that will lease a portion of the land to the
  

13   applicant.  The applicant Baccara Power, LLC, expects to
  

14   remain, you know, the --
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Owner to the project.
  

16                 MR. DAVIES:  -- the owner of the project
  

17   and therefore the CEC.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Excellent.
  

19                 (No audible response.)
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

21                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

23                 (No audible response.)
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 22
  

25   is adopted.
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 1                 Number 23.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

 3   approval of Condition 23.
  

 4                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 6                 (No audible response.)
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

 8                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

10                 (No audible response.)
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 23
  

12   is adopted.
  

13                 Number 24.
  

14                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

15   approval of Condition 24.
  

16                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

18                 (No audible response.)
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

20                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

22                 (No audible response.)
  

23                 MR. DAVIES:  Sorry, but maybe Mr. Moyes --
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

25                 MR. DAVIES:  I --
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 24
  

 2   is adopted.
  

 3                 Mr. Davies.
  

 4                 MR. DAVIES:  I just wanted to understand on
  

 5   the contracting parties and lessees what the
  

 6   Commission -- or the committee means.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, basically it means
  

 8   that any -- all these conditions are binding the
  

 9   applicant and any -- if you transfer -- if you -- someone
  

10   else is doing -- performing on behalf -- on your
  

11   behalf --
  

12                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- any contractors you have
  

14   doing it they have to comply with these, and it doesn't
  

15   matter if you're still -- what does it say here?  Yeah,
  

16   you're responsible with compliance even though you're not
  

17   in control of it because it's binding on the applicant,
  

18   and you can't, well, we hired this guy to do it and he
  

19   totally didn't do it the right way.
  

20                 MR. DAVIES:  Yeah, it was the lessees.  And
  

21   I'm just trying to think about, you know, the back and
  

22   forth on the land.  I think we're okay here, but -- okay.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

24                 All right.  Now, Number 25, this is the one
  

25   that's been added by the applicant that was similar -- I
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 1   think this was in the --
  

 2                 MR. MOYES:  Bella.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- Project Bella one with
  

 4   the plant.
  

 5                 MR. MOYES:  So in Bella there was some
  

 6   question as to who was going to be actually the emergency
  

 7   provider, and as you heard testimony yesterday, there
  

 8   could be a mix of responders in this instance.  The City
  

 9   of Glendale ultimately will have --
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Primary.
  

11                 MR. MOYES:  -- the responsibility -- the
  

12   primary responsibility, but there is already an
  

13   interagency agreement I believe Ms. Justus explained
  

14   between the relevant fire agencies.  So we left it as we
  

15   worded it in Bella, "authorities having jurisdiction."
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And I have a
  

17   document in front of me that talks about a plan with the
  

18   City of Surprise as well.
  

19                 MR. MOYES:  Ms. Justus, would you like to
  

20   elaborate on that.
  

21                 MS. JUSTUS:  We have been requested by
  

22   Maricopa County, who is essentially passing on the
  

23   request of the City of Surprise, to provide them with an
  

24   emergency management plan.
  

25                 And when we met with the City of Surprise,
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 1   they gave us a written outline of what they would want
  

 2   contained in that plan.  However, the due dates for that
  

 3   were within a matter of months of completion of
  

 4   construction for the actual due date, so it's not
  

 5   anything imminently pending, but it is something the city
  

 6   would request for their knowledge and that they also
  

 7   recommend that we share with Glendale.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  So the -- so
  

 9   this document, the City of Surprise emergency response
  

10   plan road map, do you intend to mark this as an exhibit
  

11   or just for reference?  It's not necessary for the
  

12   decision on the certificate, then?
  

13                 MR. MOYES:  Correct.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  And so, I guess, my
  

15   question, then, is that Condition 25, that would require
  

16   you to coordinate with Glendale and Surprise on any
  

17   emergency management plan for the site?
  

18                 MR. MOYES:  Yes.  We would argue those are
  

19   all entailed within authorities having jurisdiction.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  Even though Surprise
  

21   technically doesn't control any of the land subject to
  

22   this project?
  

23                 MR. MOYES:  Similar to Bella because there
  

24   were questions over which service was actually going to
  

25   arrive there.  I would, again, make the argument that
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 1   this agreement Ms. Justus just referred to would be
  

 2   wrapped into if that agreement becomes binding on the
  

 3   applicant, then Surprise in some instance would have
  

 4   emergency jurisdiction over it.  I don't think a specific
  

 5   reference to the City of Surprise is appropriate here.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I believe this condition
  

 7   has been moved and seconded.
  

 8                 Further discussion on any questions from
  

 9   members' suggestions?
  

10                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  The couple sentences that
  

13   don't quite make sense, "This emergency response plan
  

14   shall include a notification plan and to provide
  

15   information."
  

16                 Should it be "and provide information" or
  

17   "to provide information"?
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, the "to" is probably
  

19   superfluous.
  

20                 MR. MOYES:  It's probably a typo.
  

21                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Mr. Chairman.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Comstock.
  

23                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Because of the location
  

24   of this, this probably would apply as a mutual aid
  

25   agreement.  And depending on most agencies work under a
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 1   mutual aid agreement now.  It may be better to reference
  

 2   it instead of "authorities having jurisdiction,"
  

 3   "authorities who may be part of a mutual aid agreement
  

 4   for emergency response."
  

 5                 MEMBER FANT:  Mr. Chair.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Fant.
  

 7                 MEMBER FANT:  It could say, "Agencies who
  

 8   participate within an applicable mutual aid agreement."
  

 9                 And you're right, fire districts work in
  

10   that fashion.
  

11                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Absolutely.
  

12                 MR. MOYES:  So it could read, "Local area
  

13   police and fire departments or any agencies having a
  

14   relevant mutual aid agreement."
  

15                 MEMBER FANT:  Or "related agencies" I'd
  

16   say --
  

17                 MR. MOYES:  "Related" then is better.
  

18                 MEMBER FANT:  -- "participating in the
  

19   mutual aid agreement."
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- "participating" is
  

21   better than "related" because "related" is going to --
  

22                 MEMBER FANT:  Yeah.  Well, "any related
  

23   agencies participating in the mutual aid agreement."
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

25                 MEMBER FANT:  And fire districts support
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 1   each other.  If one has to go here, the other one will
  

 2   cover the other's territory for fire purposes or for
  

 3   ambulance, injury, emergency aid-type purposes.  They
  

 4   interrelate all the time.  Yeah.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So the "authorities having
  

 6   jurisdiction" is no longer relevant for this then if you
  

 7   do the -- if you phrase it the way you're proposing?
  

 8                 MEMBER FANT:  Yes, sir.
  

 9                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  That's correct.  I'm not
  

10   sure that's not archaic language and probably needs to be
  

11   revised based on how agencies operate in today's
  

12   environment.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  And so then, I
  

14   guess, the further -- the lower reference to the AHJ
  

15   needs to be amended as well as pertains to -- how would
  

16   that work?
  

17                 MR. MOYES:  "Work with said agencies" or
  

18   "such agencies."
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  My thought is it should be
  

20   "Appropriate local air, police, and fire departments"
  

21   "or" or should be "and" not "or" there.  It should be the
  

22   conjunctive, not the disjunctive.
  

23                 MR. MOYES:  We're fine with that.
  

24                 MEMBER FANT:  They work together,
  

25   Mr. Chair, because the police usually have the
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 1   helicopters.  The fire districts don't have the
  

 2   helicopters.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.
  

 4                 MEMBER FANT:  So if you need helicopters in
  

 5   a fast water rescue or rescued from the top of a
  

 6   building, the fire district works with the police.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  So can I get a
  

 8   motion to amend Condition 25?
  

 9                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move the
  

10   motion to amend Condition 25 as shown.
  

11                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Second.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  So I want to
  

13   read this so it's clear what the motion is.
  

14                 The motion is to amend Condition 25 to
  

15   read, "Applicant shall comply with all applicable
  

16   national Fire Protection Association Codes and Standards
  

17   for all components of the project.  Applicant shall
  

18   prepare a comprehensive emergency response plan in
  

19   coordination with the appropriate local area police and
  

20   fire departments and any related agencies participating
  

21   in a mutual aid agreement.
  

22                 "This emergency response plan shall include
  

23   a notification plan and provide information to community
  

24   residents relative to potential emergency situations
  

25   arising from the project.  Applicant agrees to work with
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 1   such agencies to jointly develop on-site and off-site
  

 2   evacuation plans as may be reasonably appropriate.
  

 3   Copies of these plans will be made available to the
  

 4   public and on applicant's website to the extent plans are
  

 5   not confidential.  This cooperative work and plan shall
  

 6   be completed prior to operation of the project."
  

 7                 That is your motion?
  

 8                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Correct.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

10                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

12                 (No audible response.)
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

14   is adopted.
  

15                 Can I get a motion to adopt Condition 25 as
  

16   amended?
  

17                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.
  

18                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

20                 (No audible response.)
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

22                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

24                 (No audible response.)
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 25
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 1   as amended is adopted.
  

 2                 Number 26, let's move it for discussion.
  

 3                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.
  

 4                 MR. MOYES:  Mr. Chairman, Condition 26 --
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Can I get a second?
  

 6                 MR. KRYDER:  Second.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  My thought is to strike
  

 8   this because we had a discussion yesterday about how the
  

 9   noise ordinance of Pima County was significantly
  

10   different than Maricopa County as because Maricopa County
  

11   refers to "activities" whereas Pinal County had a decibel
  

12   level that could be measured.
  

13                 So I think this one is not appropriate for
  

14   this case, and so I would ask for a motion to strike 26
  

15   in its entirety.
  

16                 MEMBER FANT:  So moved.
  

17                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

19                 (No audible response.)
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

21                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

23                 (No audible response.)
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 26
  

25   is stricken.
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 1                 On to 27.
  

 2                 Now, can I get a motion to discuss or
  

 3   adopt, either one?
  

 4                 MEMBER KRYDER:  I'm sorry, I didn't
  

 5   understand.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  A motion for to adopt
  

 7   Number 27.
  

 8                 MEMBER FANT:  I move proposed Condition 27.
  

 9                 MEMBER HILL:  Second.
  

10                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Further
  

12   discussion?
  

13                 Now, I took out because we refer to the
  

14   document as a certificate we make that correct --
  

15   truncation to short form early in the document.  Now,
  

16   actually any request to amend the certificate goes to the
  

17   Commission and not the committee.  It is up to the
  

18   committee -- the Commission whether it requires an
  

19   additional hearing for the committee or not, so
  

20   technically you would not request to change the
  

21   certificate from the committee.  It goes to the
  

22   Commission, so I move in reference to that.  And plus
  

23   Commission's abbreviated already in the document.
  

24                 Member Fant.
  

25                 MEMBER FANT:  Yeah, Mr. Chair, there's a
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 1   funky twist here.  The nameplate capacity is
  

 2   702 megawatts even though the functional capacity is down
  

 3   in the 500s.  So we might want to add -- you might want
  

 4   to amend it to read, "The applicant agrees that it will
  

 5   not seek to expand the thermal generation beyond 300 --
  

 6   or 702 nameplate capacity or nameplate capacity or expand
  

 7   the thermal generation beyond its nameplate capacity
  

 8   without seeking to amend the certificate."
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  That seems
  

10   reasonable.  But this is the language that I only took
  

11   things out I didn't add to it from the applicant, so I'm
  

12   looking to Mr. Moyes and Mr. Davies.
  

13                 MR. DAVIES:  What I'd also like to point
  

14   out here because we're referring to "the site."  There
  

15   will be a data center there.  And whereas the vast, vast
  

16   majority of the servers will be backed up with a gas
  

17   plant, for belts and suspenders they are planning about
  

18   20 megawatts of diesel generators to back up their
  

19   network gear.
  

20                 So I just want to make sure, because diesel
  

21   is definitely thermal generation, we are not capturing
  

22   anything which our joint venture partner may be putting
  

23   in at the data center, so I'd like to request not at the
  

24   site.  It refers to "the project."
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And I had another
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 1   thought on that because we have -- we haven't gotten back
  

 2   to the project description yet.
  

 3                 But that's going to include how many is it
  

 4   four --
  

 5                 MR. DAVIES:  Four -- two to four --
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- diesel-generated black
  

 7   start?
  

 8                 MR. DAVIES:  Correct, yeah.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And what's the total
  

10   capacity of those going to be?
  

11                 MR. DAVIES:  I don't know it off the top of
  

12   my head, but what I would maybe suggest is it will not
  

13   seek to expand the thermal generation at the project
  

14   beyond what is described in reference --
  

15                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Description.
  

16                 MR. DAVIES:  -- description.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  That -- my thought
  

18   too is when we get back to the description, we should
  

19   in -- addition to the 700.2 I think should include
  

20   whatever the total element of the black start generation
  

21   would be because that's capacity.  It's there.  And
  

22   you're never going to use it to generate anything.
  

23                 MR. DAVIES:  Yes.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  But it's technically it's
  

25   capacity.  It's at the site.  And I think that would
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 1   be -- if it's included, then it's no one can argue later,
  

 2   oh, that you should have -- your total nameplate is
  

 3   different than what you said if you add everything up.
  

 4                 MEMBER FANT:  Mr. Chair.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Fant.
  

 6                 MEMBER FANT:  I suggest we amend the
  

 7   language, then, to read "The applicant agrees it will not
  

 8   seek to expand the nameplate thermal generation capacity
  

 9   and 20 megawatts black start capacity" --
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  "At the project"?
  

11                 MEMBER FANT:  -- "at the project without
  

12   seeking to amend the certificate."
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, what was the black
  

14   start capacity?  I don't recall.
  

15                 MR. DAVIES:  I'm checking on that.  I know
  

16   it's four.  I think we're looking at 1.5 megawatts
  

17   apiece.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  I prefer not to put
  

19   a number in this condition.
  

20                 (Simultaneous overspeak.)
  

21                 MR. DAVIES:  -- made any decisions on
  

22   those.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And I prefer to not put a
  

24   number in this condition to say it's referenced prior
  

25   with it -- with the --
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 1                 MR. DAVIES:  Yeah, and then --
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- the thermal capacity of
  

 3   the project is.  And then the thermal capacity of the
  

 4   project is referenced elsewhere, so this is just saying,
  

 5   hey, if you're going to go above that, you need to seek
  

 6   to amend the certificate with the Commission, period.
  

 7                 And so let me make sure -- and you're
  

 8   telling us now that the data center itself, which will be
  

 9   a separate entity then, only the applicant may have its
  

10   own backup system on-site, which you do not want to
  

11   include in the project cap for what the nameplate
  

12   capacity is?
  

13                 MR. DAVIES:  Correct.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  Is that -- we're all
  

15   on the same page now?  Okay.
  

16                 MR. DAVIES:  Yep.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So let's see what's
  

18   happening on the screen here.  I guess it will be
  

19   "thermal generation of the project" as opposed to "at the
  

20   project"?
  

21                 MR. MOYES:  Yes.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Are members looking at that
  

23   language?
  

24                 Can I get a motion to adopt that is the
  

25   will of the committee.
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 1                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.
  

 2                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Second.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  The motion is to
  

 4   amend Condition 27 to read, "The applicant agrees that it
  

 5   will not seek to expand the thermal generation of the
  

 6   project beyond what is described in the project
  

 7   description without seeking to amend the existing
  

 8   certificate before the Commission."
  

 9                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Great.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It's been moved and
  

11   seconded.
  

12                 Further discussion?
  

13                 (No audible response.)
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

15                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

17                 (No audible response.)
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

19   is adopted.
  

20                 Can I get a motion to adopt 27 as amended?
  

21                 MEMBER MERCER:  So moved.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

24                 I believe there was some mention of
  

25   nameplate capacity, but was that alleviated by saying how
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 1   it's described in the project description?
  

 2                 I'm seeing nods yes.  Okay.  Excellent.
  

 3                 27 as amended has been moved and seconded.
  

 4                 Further discussion?
  

 5                 (No audible response.)
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

 7                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 9                 (No audible response.)
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 27
  

11   as adopted -- as amended is adopted.
  

12                 28.
  

13                 MEMBER HILL:  Move approval Condition 28.
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Second.
  

15                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

16                 MR. MOYES:  Do we need to add in the City
  

17   of Glendale?
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

19                 Yes.  I think a couple things.  I think OEM
  

20   needs to be spelled out because I don't think we have it
  

21   abbreviated previous to this.
  

22                 And then I think, Mr. Moyes, you're about
  

23   to suggest we include the City of Glendale?
  

24                 MR. MOYES:  Yes.
  

25                 The OEM was taken as exactly how it was
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 1   worded in Bella --
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.
  

 3                 MR. MOYES:  -- for what it's worth.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.
  

 5                 MR. MOYES:  But we can spell that out,
  

 6   "original equipment manufacturer."
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right, because I don't
  

 8   think we've referenced that term previously in this
  

 9   document, so --
  

10                 MR. DAVIES:  "(OEM.)"
  

11                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Kryder.
  

13                 MEMBER KRYDER:  I suggest that if we spell
  

14   out "original equipment manufacturer" and don't use "OEM"
  

15   later that we nuke it here.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  My thought is we
  

17   could leave it in for now, and then if it doesn't come up
  

18   again because I'm not sure what we're going to have for
  

19   the rest of the conditions, I can remove it as part of a
  

20   corrections as scrivener's errors when I finalize the
  

21   certificate.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Fine.  Works fine.  Thanks.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

24                 MEMBER KRYDER:  In that case I see it as no
  

25   problem.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  So Condition 28
  

 2   has moved and seconded.
  

 3                 Can I get a motion to amend it?
  

 4                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.
  

 5                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  So the motion
  

 7   to amend before us is to change the language of
  

 8   Condition 28 to read, "At the end of the project's useful
  

 9   life, applicant will comply with all original equipment
  

10   manufacturer directed procedures for the safe disposal or
  

11   recycling of project equipment.  Applicant shall work
  

12   with Maricopa County and the City of Glendale on an
  

13   adequately documented decommissioning plan."
  

14                 Further discussion?
  

15                 (No audible response.)
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

17                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

19                 (No audible response.)
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

21   is adopted.
  

22                 Can I get a motion to adopt Condition 28 as
  

23   amended?
  

24                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.
  

25                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 2                 (No audible response.)
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

 4                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 6                 (No audible response.)
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 28
  

 8   as amended is adopted.
  

 9                 Condition 29.
  

10                 MEMBER MERCER:  Chairman, I move
  

11   Condition 29.
  

12                 MEMBER HILL:  Second.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

14                 Now, for this one we had a similar one
  

15   before, but it had to do with I think storage and
  

16   handling.  This one is storage and transportation, and it
  

17   includes local regulations in addition to just federal,
  

18   state, and county.
  

19                 So this is one that was in Project Bella as
  

20   well in addition, so it was -- it has some overlap with
  

21   the previous condition -- with the prior condition, but
  

22   it's broader somewhat.
  

23                 29 has been moved and seconded.
  

24                 Further discussion?
  

25                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Having said that, is -- are
  

 3   both of these necessary?
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, I think it makes
  

 5   sense to have them both in this one casts a wider net
  

 6   than the prior condition.  The previous -- when it's --
  

 7   it's -- it's like it's Number 4 section -- subsection (d)
  

 8   or (e) or something.  And so this one -- this was --
  

 9   because they both exist in the project Bella one.
  

10                 And this -- the other one -- the prior one
  

11   it says -- it says storage and handling.  This is storage
  

12   and transportation, so it's a broader -- and this one
  

13   also includes local regulations.  The previous one only
  

14   says, I think federal, state, and county.
  

15                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.  Just --
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And this was as proposed
  

17   from the applicant, so they took it from the previous --
  

18   from the previous CEC, the 233, and added it to this one.
  

19                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Right.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Mr. Moyes, does --
  

21                 MEMBER KRYDER:  What's Mr. Moyes' opinion?
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- do you feel this one is
  

23   redundant or --
  

24                 MR. MOYES:  I copied it in there because of
  

25   what we wrote exactly word for word in Bella.
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 1                 I believe Member Kryder make a valid point
  

 2   regarding the mention of the storage and handling of
  

 3   hazardous chemicals and petroleum products, but we are
  

 4   fine leaving this in.  It talks about water.
  

 5                 MEMBER KRYDER:  It would really be nice --
  

 6                 MR. COMSTOCK:  Mr. Chairman.
  

 7                 MEMBER KRYDER:  -- to consult --
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  One at a time, please.
  

 9                 MEMBER KRYDER:  -- with them, but it's a
  

10   pain in the butt.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Let's look at this here.
  

12                 MEMBER KRYDER:  When you put the same thing
  

13   two places in the contract, you always run into a lot
  

14   of -- well, you often run into a problem.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Only if it's disputed.
  

16                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Let me go back.  It's going
  

18   to be -- actually, it's going to be --
  

19                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Let it go, Mr. Chairman.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It's Condition 3.
  

21                 MR. MOYES:  3(b), (a) --
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I'm scrolling back to look
  

23   at that.  It says -- 3(e) is "All applicable regulations
  

24   governing storage and handling of hazardous chemicals and
  

25   petroleum products."
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 1                 So that's -- that's a very specific
  

 2   restriction.  And the language -- the paragraph above it
  

 3   says, liked I said, it's United States, Arizona, and
  

 4   Maricopa County and their agency subdivisions.
  

 5                 This one is a broader and additional
  

 6   requirement, and I think that it was added in that
  

 7   previous certificate to address -- there was a discussion
  

 8   about this addition in that one.  I didn't review the
  

 9   transcript, but I think there was -- they wanted to
  

10   cast -- thought it was appropriate to cast a broader net
  

11   for what was required to be complied with to be called
  

12   out.
  

13                 So in this, members, do we want to remove
  

14   this one and work on the previous one, the previous
  

15   condition?
  

16                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Let's let it go.  It sounds
  

17   like a 2 a.m. amendment on a committee problem.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think it was more like a
  

19   2 p.m. amendment, but yeah.
  

20                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Mr. Chairman, if I may,
  

21   the last word "plant" refers to me to the generation
  

22   plant because there are retention ponds at the --
  

23                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Project.
  

24                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  -- on the project.
  

25   Probably would replace the word "plant" with "project."
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That make sense because
  

 2   that's how it's referred to throughout to differentiate
  

 3   from --
  

 4                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Good point.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- the nonjurisdictional
  

 6   data center at the site.
  

 7                 MR. MOYES:  We agree.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So can I get a motion to
  

 9   amend 29 to change the word "plant" to "project"?
  

10                 MEMBER FANT:  So moved.
  

11                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

13                 (No audible response.)
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

15                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

17                 MR. DAVIES:  Mr. Moyes will consolidate it
  

18   next time he's in front of the committee.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

20                 (No audible response.)
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

22   is adopted.
  

23                 Can I get a motion to adopt Condition 29 as
  

24   amended?
  

25                 MEMBER MERCER:  So moved.
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 1                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 3                 (No audible response.)
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

 5                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 7                 (No audible response.)
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Condition 29 as amended is
  

 9   adopted.
  

10                 On to Condition 30.
  

11                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

12   Condition 30.
  

13                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

15                 Looking to the applicant.
  

16                 These are all the ones that are nearby.
  

17   And because this one is -- it's more of an obligation to
  

18   consult as opposed to comply with any directives from
  

19   anyone other than the County and the city to which you
  

20   will be annexed.
  

21                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

23                 MEMBER KRYDER:  This sure looks like a
  

24   blank check to me.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  There's no monetary amount
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 1   attached to it.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Right.  But it says, "Shall
  

 3   consider" -- okay, I get "consider" -- "and attempt to
  

 4   maximize."
  

 5                 Boy, that scares me.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And this one I
  

 7   think could be some word shopped because I think this is
  

 8   kind of a broad -- I'm trying to recall the context of
  

 9   this -- of this condition in the earlier CEC.
  

10                 Because like -- and that's -- we're going
  

11   to get to this next, I guess, is what specific conditions
  

12   do we want to include for visual mitigation?
  

13                 Because that's going to be an important
  

14   part of this project, and I believe the applicant in
  

15   their exhibits -- was it 37?
  

16                 MR. MOYES:  35 was the mitigation
  

17   proposals.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  35.
  

19                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Just one second.
  

21                 They had proposed some specific things to
  

22   include.  So for this one, this is one they include in
  

23   their initial proposed CEC.  And, you know, I thought
  

24   that we should have -- you know, we can either strike
  

25   this one in its entirety and replace it with something
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 1   else.  We can change it around to put in the additional
  

 2   mitigation measures that the applicant has itself
  

 3   proposed.
  

 4                 MR. DAVIES:  What I would like to suggest
  

 5   is -- you know, we can talk about the mitigation
  

 6   measures, but as it relates to Chairman's 30, I might
  

 7   suggest shall consider the value of the homes in the
  

 8   surrounding area and remove the language that says, "And
  

 9   attempt to maximize the positive effect of its activities
  

10   on," and we will just consider the value of the homes in
  

11   the area.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, and I don't -- I
  

13   don't think I -- I don't think you even want to say that.
  

14   I just --
  

15                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I just -- we want to say --
  

17   I think you want to consider attempt to minimize the
  

18   visual impacts of the project even.
  

19                 MR. DAVIES:  Or minimize the negative
  

20   impacts, visual and otherwise.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  Because I don't --
  

22   and I think we removed the thing of -- the condition
  

23   about noise ordinance because that's going to be almost
  

24   impossible to track.  And since the standard -- the
  

25   applicable county -- well, the almost applicable county
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 1   standard doesn't deal with decibel levels, it's going to
  

 2   be hard to do that.
  

 3                 But I think in any way you mitigate the
  

 4   visual impacts, whether it's the size of the wall, what
  

 5   kind of trees are planted, whether you go all out like
  

 6   SRP did and have a berm with trees on top of it within
  

 7   those there's a cost associated with that.
  

 8                 So I'm just -- I don't want to -- since
  

 9   there wasn't -- like with the SRP one, that one they had
  

10   significant input, they had the city intervened in the
  

11   case, they had a working group prior to filing the
  

12   application.
  

13                 They came in there and they had programs to
  

14   provide stuff for the fire department.  We're not there
  

15   for this one.  I mean, you're not even part of the city
  

16   yet.  So it's just a county.
  

17                 So I thought we need to workshop this
  

18   condition to try to address visual impacts, but not
  

19   commit you to spending $30 million on a berm and adult
  

20   trees.
  

21                 MR. DAVIES:  Yeah.  I will actually point
  

22   out we originally suggested a berm to the County.
  

23   They've requested that we remove it because it may have
  

24   impacts on water and flood.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  So that's why I'm
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 1   saying I don't want to put something in there that the
  

 2   County is going to turn around and tell you not to do.
  

 3                 MR. DAVIES:  Yes.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then it puts you
  

 5   between a rock and a hard place.
  

 6                 MR. DAVIES:  Yep.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant.
  

 8                 MEMBER FANT:  If I may suggest some
  

 9   amendatory language.
  

10                 The first part would be the same, the first
  

11   couple of lines.  "In performing each of the conditions
  

12   of this order, applicant, in conjunction where applicable
  

13   with Maricopa County, City of Glendale, City of Surprise,
  

14   and City of El Mirage, shall consider the negative
  

15   impacts of its activities on the surrounding neighbors."
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah.  Or -- and another
  

17   thing is too in their -- do we want to -- do we want to
  

18   call out some of these --
  

19                 MEMBER FANT:  Visual impacts.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- visual impacts?
  

21                 Because they talk about a 12-foot block
  

22   wall.  They talk about vegetative screening.
  

23                 MEMBER FANT:  Right.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Do you -- you know, how
  

25   much of that -- I think it's worth mentioning --
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 1                 MEMBER FANT:  Yeah.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- in the condition, but I
  

 3   don't want to bind the applicant to any specific course
  

 4   of action at this point because it's still too early to
  

 5   tell.
  

 6                 But I think it's -- they need to do
  

 7   something.  They can't -- they've got to do more than
  

 8   just put a six-foot block wall on the north end and then
  

 9   slide a chain-link fence on the south and east ends.
  

10                 I think on the west end it's not going to
  

11   be so much because that's where the data center's going
  

12   to be.  They're going to have their own front and look
  

13   presentable at the end of that street next to the spec
  

14   warehouse.
  

15                 MR. DAVIES:  Yep.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So I think --
  

17                 MR. MOYES:  Correct.  And that's why we
  

18   proposed those in 35, and we would be happy to list those
  

19   in this condition --
  

20                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman.
  

21                 MR. MOYES:  -- related to visual impacts.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

23                 MEMBER LITTLE:  We need something --
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.
  

25                 MEMBER LITTLE:  -- more specific than just,
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 1   you know, they'll try.  And do we want to consider asking
  

 2   or requiring the applicant to work with the neighbors?
  

 3                 You know, it's been pointed out that the
  

 4   applicant has proposed that they provide a million
  

 5   dollars to the Dysart school district.  But then they
  

 6   specifically said what that will be used for.  And
  

 7   perhaps the residents would need some -- desperately need
  

 8   something else as opposed to a STEM program.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.
  

10                 MEMBER LITTLE:  And they may already have a
  

11   STEM program.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And I'm debating whether to
  

13   even include the grant to the school district as a
  

14   condition to the CEC -- I'm thinking --
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  And I'm --
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I'm --
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I'm just wondering whether
  

18   it might not be better to specify in the CEC that the
  

19   applicant -- I mean, I don't know.  There isn't an
  

20   organization similar to the Pinal County one.  There
  

21   isn't an organization as there was in Gilbert that is
  

22   already in place to work with.
  

23                 But the -- I'm thinking about the SRP plant
  

24   over in Pinal County.  There wasn't an organization there
  

25   either.  There wasn't even a city or, you know, it was in
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 1   the County.  And --
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Oh, the Coolidge expansion
  

 3   one.  Yeah, I was talking -- that's night and day from
  

 4   the San Tan in Gilbert.
  

 5                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I understand that.  San Tan
  

 6   had an organization.
  

 7                 MR. MOYES:  I believe there was --
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I believe with the
  

 9   expansion there was nobody.  But there still was a
  

10   condition in that CEC that said that the applicant would
  

11   work with a group of people from the area --
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.
  

13                 MEMBER LITTLE:  -- who would -- and put
  

14   together --
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And I --
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  -- XYZ.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And that's part of the
  

18   discussion --
  

19                 MEMBER LITTLE:  And I'm wondering whether
  

20   we want to consider that.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  That's the
  

22   discussion we need to have today.  It's about -- isn't
  

23   that -- in the Coolidge expansion there were individuals
  

24   in that community who intervened and were parties to the
  

25   case.
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That's right.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And so as part of that --
  

 3   one of the conditions to that CEC was that they had to
  

 4   form a working group with those named individuals who
  

 5   were parties to the case and others to work on mitigating
  

 6   effects.
  

 7                 Now for this one we don't have that.  So
  

 8   I'm -- now I'm not -- I don't propose that we tell the
  

 9   applicant they can't give a million dollars to the school
  

10   district.  I'm just saying I'm thinking for our
  

11   purpose -- I think if -- I think if they want to do that,
  

12   that's great.  I'm not sure that that's a mitigation
  

13   measure for the environmental impact of the plant, per
  

14   se.
  

15                 However, the grant for local emergency
  

16   management agencies since they have to have -- since
  

17   they'll have some vast amounts of, you know, flammable
  

18   chemicals on-site, it makes sense to, hey, we need to
  

19   make sure the responding agencies are able to do the job
  

20   they need to do to protect the neighborhood from anything
  

21   going wrong at the project.  So that one I think is
  

22   something that I would say we should put in as a
  

23   condition.
  

24                 And then the other thing too is with the
  

25   block wall and the vegetative screening, I mean, these
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 1   are good ideas, but I don't know how far in the process
  

 2   they are.  I mean, because you'll have -- that's what
  

 3   happened in the -- with Project Bella is people are like
  

 4   we need a wall, and other people are, like, no, we don't
  

 5   want a wall.  And it's like how much -- how big should
  

 6   the wall be?
  

 7                 I mean, I don't want to lock them into
  

 8   something that turns out -- they shouldn't have to come
  

 9   back to get the CEC amended by the Commission because we
  

10   told them to build a wall too high that was not going to
  

11   fly with the County or the City it turns out because what
  

12   if they get annexed before they start construction and
  

13   the City's not going to allow them to comply with that
  

14   condition.  I'm just trying to think through, you know,
  

15   how to avoid unintended consequences.
  

16                 MR. DAVIES:  On the wall height we base
  

17   that approximately on the wall in front of Agua Fria.
  

18   Now, that's a different jurisdiction there.  You know,
  

19   that's I believe in Peoria.
  

20                 On the grants, you know, whether it be for
  

21   STEM or otherwise, I think we're happy to support the
  

22   local schools.  If they say they want it for something
  

23   and they want air conditioning rather than STEM, I'm not
  

24   going to tell them, you know, what their highest and best
  

25   use is.
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 1                 What I do want to be careful of is the
  

 2   community working group.  I think even on Monday night in
  

 3   the public comment period we saw that even next door
  

 4   neighbors had a very different view of the project.  I
  

 5   mean, you know, Mr. Beals, Mr. Justice, and
  

 6   Ms. Tolmachoff, very, very different approaches.  And I
  

 7   think we could put them in, you know, a room and ask them
  

 8   what two plus two is, and they're going to argue for six
  

 9   months.
  

10                 I would prefer to either have that
  

11   conversation here what we should do or if there's a
  

12   question, leave it to the authorities having
  

13   jurisdiction, you know, maybe Maricopa County.  Maricopa,
  

14   what would you like?  And we will obviously abide by what
  

15   the County says because they have a standard process, you
  

16   know, rather than us establishing a new process to
  

17   adjudicate disputes between neighbors.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And that's why I
  

19   didn't include any language saying, hey, just cut and
  

20   paste the community working group language from the
  

21   Project Bella because I didn't think that would be
  

22   applicable here.
  

23                 My thought is that, look, you need to
  

24   engage with the appropriate -- the County or the City of
  

25   Glendale and have them deal with their constituents to
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 1   provide input to you how to mitigate the visual impacts.
  

 2                 So instead of having to meet with the
  

 3   citizens of Glendale and all the neighbors, you know, in
  

 4   be Glendale, Surprise, El Mirage, anybody who can see the
  

 5   plant, you deal with the appropriate authorities and say,
  

 6   look -- and let them get the input from -- and the people
  

 7   can provide the input they want as well, but what I'm
  

 8   saying is the actual decision and the real guidance to
  

 9   the applicant should come from the County or the City.
  

10                 MR. DAVIES:  Yeah.  And I'll also point out
  

11   that, you know, because this will be a data center next
  

12   door, most of the data centers are very private.  You
  

13   know, they care more about people seeing in at what's
  

14   going on in there versus a power plant.
  

15                 So, you know, the natural predilection here
  

16   is going to be screen this as much as possible for the
  

17   benefit of our joint venture partner and their customers.
  

18   We just need to make sure that whatever screening, you
  

19   know, we're putting in place we're not to your point
  

20   going to be violating what the County wants us to do.
  

21                 And the County -- you know, we could say
  

22   here build a 50-foot block wall, and the County is going
  

23   to say, no, you're not building a 50-foot block wall.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  Right.
  

25                 Member Hill and then Member Comstock and
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 1   Member Mercer.
  

 2                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Davies, what I hear you
  

 3   saying is that you're comfortable gathering input on
  

 4   these things.  I don't think this requires that of you,
  

 5   though.  It requires that you consider and attempt to
  

 6   minimize, but, like, it doesn't require you or obligate
  

 7   you to be --
  

 8                 MR. DAVIES:  I'm not concerned with the
  

 9   language on the screen, to be clear.
  

10                 MEMBER HILL:  Okay.  Yeah, yeah, yeah.
  

11                 MR. DAVIES:  I just wanted to make sure we
  

12   weren't going down the route of establishing a community
  

13   working group.
  

14                 MEMBER HILL:  No.  No, no, no.  I don't
  

15   think any of us are proposing that.
  

16                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.
  

17                 MEMBER HILL:  I think we're trying to
  

18   figure out how to phrase this, and we're looking to
  

19   partner with you on that design in a way that gives some
  

20   certainty to you taking feedback and doing a certain
  

21   amount of engagement, and maybe it's just with the
  

22   jurisdictions.  I think that's probably fine.  And the
  

23   jurisdictions can gather from their stakeholders, you
  

24   know, what is in the best interest.
  

25                 But we definitely don't want to put you
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 1   into a long-term working group or a position where you're
  

 2   trying to navigate neighborhood disputes.
  

 3                 So -- so I guess I'm just looking for some
  

 4   guidance from you on how -- on how you think -- and maybe
  

 5   Ms. Justus has some notions about -- she's the person on
  

 6   this -- maybe some notion about how to facilitate this or
  

 7   how to structure it.
  

 8                 MS. JUSTUS:  A couple of thoughts.  We did
  

 9   try to solicit feedback at our later open houses and
  

10   meetings about possible mitigation, and the top things
  

11   that came up were a wall and trees, which is why we
  

12   looked at that direction.
  

13                 We're in a bit of a quagmire because I
  

14   think we all want to look at the area with the
  

15   neighborhood to the north, which is in unincorporated
  

16   Maricopa County, and yet eventually we'll be in the City
  

17   of Glendale.  So if we say, well, let's get input from
  

18   the local jurisdiction, now it's not their jurisdiction
  

19   anymore once the annexation happens.
  

20                 I guess the two thoughts I would have is to
  

21   speak to the Chairman's question about not getting in a
  

22   rock and a hard place where you prescribe something that
  

23   ends up being not permitable, perhaps a phrase like "to
  

24   the extent permitable by the local jurisdiction, you
  

25   know, do this" so that you have that phrase.
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 1                 And then perhaps also a phrase like that
  

 2   indicates maybe what we think is in the right interest,
  

 3   but then also, you know, or something of similar or equal
  

 4   value.  You know, something that gives that -- you're
  

 5   giving direction but leaving those extra phrases to
  

 6   perhaps address the fact that we may come up against a
  

 7   feedback, a code, a requirement that none of us could
  

 8   anticipate today but that still does commit the applicant
  

 9   to doing something of a similar value.
  

10                 MEMBER HILL:  I wasn't even going to go
  

11   that deep.  I was looking for a framework for how the
  

12   decisions are going to be made and then they're made and
  

13   we're done.
  

14                 And my experience is that when you -- when
  

15   you solicited feedback on this project in mitigation,
  

16   their brains weren't there because it wasn't -- it's
  

17   still not a thing that they're willing to even consider
  

18   happening.
  

19                 So I do think there has to be some kind of
  

20   collection of information, input, feedback when you're
  

21   going -- you know, when this becomes more real because
  

22   people's minds shift and then they start to be thinking
  

23   creatively about what needs to happen.
  

24                 And so I am not prepared to comment on the
  

25   financial pieces or costs or anything like that.  I'm
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 1   more interested in the framework for the discussion and
  

 2   who's included in that and how you solicit that feedback.
  

 3   That's -- that's kind of my suggestion, so --
  

 4                 MR. MOYES:  I would also point out for the
  

 5   committee we need to frame this in light of what took
  

 6   place with Bella where the Commission completely struck
  

 7   any wording regarding a community working group.  Despite
  

 8   my arguments, despite the Chairman's arguments, they flat
  

 9   out said you do not have authority to control the
  

10   organization of some group or put any dollar amounts in
  

11   it or any specific mitigation measures.
  

12                 So we're trying to put something in here
  

13   that says we're going to do these things, we're going to
  

14   be good neighbors, but if we start putting words about
  

15   creating a committee or who gets to be on the committee
  

16   or the word working group, despite the fact that there
  

17   were working groups in past CECs, they shot us down
  

18   completely on that and said that's not appropriate.
  

19                 So I just put that out there.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And I had that in
  

21   mind because you might recall the committee did also file
  

22   a request for reconsideration.  I think the issue that I
  

23   had was that the committee and the Commission have the
  

24   authority, but the Commission has the discretion and
  

25   whether to exercise it and require those things.  It has
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 1   multiple times in the past.  Based now it appears that
  

 2   they are not willing to exercise that authority, call it
  

 3   what they may.
  

 4                 So, I mean, I think if that was an
  

 5   appropriate -- if I thought it was a -- that a working
  

 6   group would work for this matter I would still suggest
  

 7   including it and having -- and letting the Commission
  

 8   strike it.
  

 9                 However, I don't think there's enough here
  

10   for that to be workable in any real sense.  So that's why
  

11   I'm not proposing.  I think we need to take a different
  

12   tack.
  

13                 But I think there needs to be something to
  

14   address how you're going to handle the visual -- mitigate
  

15   the visual impacts, but without requiring you to form a
  

16   group.
  

17                 And but that's going to be more than just
  

18   you'll do something that's good.  So I think we need to
  

19   find that middle ground, that sweet spot, if you will, of
  

20   what to put in here because there has to be some kind of
  

21   condition.  It just can't be, well, they'll mitigate it
  

22   how they like.  I think there needs to be something more
  

23   than that.
  

24                 But I'm not going to spell out in great
  

25   detail what they're going to do, especially in this stage
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 1   when there's no -- there's too many variables and too
  

 2   many different opinions on what that mitigation should
  

 3   look like.
  

 4                 MR. DAVIES:  What I might suggest is
  

 5   between the two visual mitigations here, one is the block
  

 6   wall and the one is the vegetative screening program.
  

 7   The block wall is very prescriptive.  And, you know, I
  

 8   think we'd be fine with that, but I also don't want to
  

 9   speak for the County and what else is there, and someone
  

10   says, well, you know, there needs to be a 13-foot block
  

11   wall and then says of 12 and now, you know, is it exactly
  

12   12.  We're getting into a whole bunch of issues there.
  

13                 The vegetative screening program, we tried
  

14   to structure this, you know, understanding that we don't
  

15   have agreement with Mr. Beals.  We don't have, you know,
  

16   a specific area.  We have some ideas of where we could
  

17   put it, and it's going to be based on what he's doing
  

18   with his R.V. self-storage.
  

19                 This is -- we're going to try to create
  

20   some vegetative screening.  If we can't do it there, we
  

21   will do a vegetative program two acres somewhere, and
  

22   that may be a little park.  It may be something.  So
  

23   we're going to try to make that vegetative a screen, but
  

24   if we can't work with the County or we can't work with
  

25   the neighbors, then -- or that southeast corner I'd love
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 1   to be able to put a screen up there, but if I can't work
  

 2   with the railroad, I can't commit to do it.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.
  

 4                 MR. DAVIES:  But if we say, you know, we
  

 5   took this two acres and said, okay, well, if we're going
  

 6   to put in two acres of, you know, vegetation and agree to
  

 7   maintain or have paid to maintain this, and the goal is
  

 8   to make it a screen, but if we can't, we're going to do
  

 9   it somewhere else that kind of beautifies the area.  To
  

10   me, that seems like the right thing to do, and it's
  

11   something that I can go back to, you know, the neighbors
  

12   to the north, the Tolmachoffs, and look them in the eye
  

13   and say, "This is our intention."
  

14                 Now, they've got to lean on their
  

15   neighbors, the Beals or the Justices, to make this
  

16   happen.  Otherwise, we've got to go somewhere else and do
  

17   it.  But I want to be able to go back and look these
  

18   people in the eye and say, "This is what we're committing
  

19   to," not some sort of fluffy, you know, words on a paper
  

20   that we can kind of squeeze out of.  That's not our goal.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And that's why, you
  

22   know, the 30 -- Condition 30 that was proposed in the
  

23   applicant's draft CEC to me it did seem kind of fluffy.
  

24   It didn't seem -- and it didn't have -- it didn't even
  

25   mention, you know, visual impacts.  It just -- it didn't
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 1   mention property values.
  

 2                 But it's just -- I mean, that's -- I
  

 3   thought the applicant had a good screen about one of the
  

 4   slides, presentations about the here's what property
  

 5   values have been in other places and here's what the
  

 6   effects have been.
  

 7                 So I don't think -- I think the focus
  

 8   should not be on, like, mitigating property values
  

 9   because I think it should be on the visual impacts
  

10   because that's one of the things we're most required to
  

11   consider.
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  One second.  We've got --
  

14   Member Mercer is next.
  

15                 And then were you on the board, Member
  

16   Fontes after Member Mercer?
  

17                 MEMBER FONTES:  Yes.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  Member -- okay, so
  

19   I'm done talking for now, so Member Mercer.
  

20                 MEMBER MERCER:  So I have two things.
  

21                 Why are we including the City of Surprise
  

22   and El Mirage if nowhere in the other conditions these
  

23   two cities are named?
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I just put that in for
  

25   discussion purposes.  I didn't intend to adopt 30 as
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 1   written at all.
  

 2                 MEMBER MERCER:  Okay.  And the other thing
  

 3   is you just touched on it.  This -- the language of the
  

 4   activities on the values of the homes, that's very
  

 5   subjective.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  I don't think we
  

 7   could adopt 30 at all.  I don't -- I don't want to adopt
  

 8   any of the language that's before us in paragraph 30.  I
  

 9   just left it in there because I think that's the
  

10   appropriate place to discuss what they're going to do in
  

11   the process for addressing visual impacts.  It's going to
  

12   be important to the neighborhoods.
  

13                 Addressing the visual impacts depending on
  

14   how it's done should also mitigate some of the noise
  

15   impacts and certainly mitigate some of the property
  

16   values impacts, but I think the focus will be on what we
  

17   can see and measure and what realistically can be
  

18   accomplished.
  

19                 I mean, just with the vegetation stuff,
  

20   standing out at the end of that private drive looking
  

21   out, that grove pretty -- it looked like it was going to
  

22   pretty effectively visually screen it from all those
  

23   residences.
  

24                 But then how old are those trees?  Will
  

25   they have to be replanted?  How long is that going to
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 1   take?  Who owns -- who's going to own the property when
  

 2   it's time to happen?  Who's going to pay for the trees?
  

 3   Why would I replace trees on somebody else's property?
  

 4   Who's going to maintain them?
  

 5                 With if that guy expands his -- Mr. Beals
  

 6   expands his R.V. park, and then that takes up that whole
  

 7   spot.  Well, that's going to obscure the plant too.  Then
  

 8   there's no need for trees because you've got this big
  

 9   building between you and the plant.
  

10                 So there's so much stuff that's variable at
  

11   this point it's hard to say what they have to do to
  

12   mitigate it because there's so many things that could
  

13   change, but we need to have something that addresses --
  

14   we just can't say they don't have to.  We just can't
  

15   ignore that I think.  I think it would be irresponsible
  

16   for the committee to just ignore that, but I think we
  

17   have to -- how do we -- how do we approach this in a way
  

18   that make sense that doesn't impose silly requirements on
  

19   the applicant, an unachievable or unrealistic
  

20   requirements.
  

21                 So that's where I'm coming from.
  

22                 MR. DAVIES:  So what I might propose here,
  

23   and let's talk about any specific kind of in almost a
  

24   secondary sentence here, but I'd propose taking out the
  

25   City of Surprise and El Mirage.  I mean, we've been very
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 1   consistent with Maricopa County and Glendale.  And then
  

 2   "Shall consider and attempt to minimize the negative
  

 3   impacts on the surrounding neighborhoods."
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  "Of the project."
  

 5                 MR. DAVIES:  Sure.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I mean, we're focusing on
  

 7   the project.
  

 8                 MR. DAVIES:  Sure.  Sure.  Yeah.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So, Member Fontes, you had
  

10   a comment.
  

11                 Are you done, Member Mercer?
  

12                 MEMBER MERCER:  Yes.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  Member Fontes.
  

14                 MEMBER FONTES:  I feel like we're -- we've
  

15   covered all the points.  I feel like the applicant and
  

16   certainly Mr. Moyes knows our intent.
  

17                 What I was going to suggest is maybe they
  

18   take it offline.  We take a recess.  They come back with
  

19   a very thoughtful framework and mitigation, and then we
  

20   look at that.
  

21                 We're repeating lot of key points.  I
  

22   appreciate that.  But I think maybe we give them the
  

23   opportunity to come back with something more meaningful
  

24   at this point.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I agree with that.
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 1                 And my suggestion would be perhaps the way
  

 2   to address it is to say, hey, every year in your annual
  

 3   compliance filing you say, "Hey, what steps have you
  

 4   taken to address visual impacts?  What's the status of
  

 5   building a wall, you know, vegetative screening?  Are
  

 6   those still relevant to be pursued?"
  

 7                 Or is there -- they built some other giant
  

 8   structure between you and all those other neighborhoods
  

 9   so it doesn't -- you don't have to screen it anymore.
  

10   You just need to have maybe at that point a six-foot
  

11   block wall will work because it's the back of the parking
  

12   lot of some other something that doesn't matter.
  

13                 So I think maybe the way to address it is
  

14   to have -- to say here's what we need to accomplish
  

15   mitigating over time.  And this kind of up -- and in your
  

16   annual compliance filing detail the steps and where
  

17   you're at in the process and what you think is
  

18   appropriate.
  

19                 And that way if the Commission feels
  

20   without -- that way if the Commission feels something
  

21   needs to be done, they can weigh in on it.  They can see
  

22   where you're at with the process, I think.
  

23                 I have Member Little next and then Member
  

24   Kryder.
  

25                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, I agree with
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 1   what was suggested by Mr. Fontes, Member Fontes.
  

 2                 I also am wondering if it might not be
  

 3   appropriate to suggest that in the language that maybe
  

 4   you come up with that you propose another open meeting --
  

 5   public meeting or two -- so that you have -- if, you
  

 6   know, the CEC is issued, you proceed.  And then the
  

 7   people know what they're dealing with.  It's going to be
  

 8   here, what do we -- what will work best, so that their
  

 9   mindset -- as Member Hill mentioned, their mindset is,
  

10   okay, well, how are we going to deal with this best and
  

11   what would we like, not obligate you to get them to agree
  

12   or to work with them, but to -- it's been mentioned
  

13   several times at the open meetings that you have received
  

14   a lot of information that has -- has helped you decide
  

15   how you're going to proceed up to this point and that
  

16   that might not be appropriate.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Kryder.
  

18                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Thank you very much,
  

19   Mr. Chairman.
  

20                 We talked about this when we were on-site
  

21   and so on, but there are zoning regulations that
  

22   dictate -- I use this word very carefully -- the minimum
  

23   required, but that's not really true.  It is not the
  

24   minimum that is required by the zoning.
  

25                 The zoning regulations, the size of the
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 1   fence and so on for the visual impact and the noise
  

 2   impact, are in place to direct the community that this is
  

 3   an acceptable mitigation for the area.
  

 4                 It is acceptable because nobody really can
  

 5   tell about property values.  We heard that in the public
  

 6   hearing.  We've seen in the testimony at some times it
  

 7   appears that a project of this sort has no impact on
  

 8   values.  In some cases it appears that it almost
  

 9   increases the value of houses, and in some cases it
  

10   appears that it may go down.
  

11                 This is -- this is all Play-Doh, so to
  

12   speak.  It's not firm enough that we as a committee ought
  

13   to be putting our hand into it.
  

14                 Therefore, I believe that really what we're
  

15   talking about is the applicant can do what the applicant
  

16   wants to do, and the committee ought to say, "The
  

17   applicant will comply with the zoning regulations as are
  

18   in place."  Punto.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you, Member Kryder.
  

20                 Well, I think we take a -- it's noon, so I
  

21   think it's time to take the lunch break.
  

22                 I guess over the break the applicant I
  

23   think has some housework to do.  He has to work on the
  

24   project description I believe, and then -- and then for
  

25   this last condition about addressing visual -- primarily
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 1   visual impacts.
  

 2                 I don't know maybe -- and this is the final
  

 3   thought.  Maybe it's time to come up with some mitigation
  

 4   plan that will be documented annually with what you're
  

 5   doing as opposed to imposing any specific -- you know,
  

 6   have a plan with certain goals in mind without imposing
  

 7   any specific, you know, mandates for a wall or a million
  

 8   dollars for this or a million dollars for that or, you
  

 9   know, a certain height of shrubbery and density, anything
  

10   like that I'm just saying.  Maybe that's another -- maybe
  

11   that's the way to approach it perhaps.
  

12                 MR. MOYES:  And update the Commission in
  

13   each compliance letter on the status of our visual
  

14   mitigation plan.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And so you file the
  

16   plan with the first letter outlining what you're going to
  

17   do and what the inputs you receive from the County, the
  

18   City, the neighborhood, whoever -- whoever you're
  

19   consulting with and just kind of -- that's just a
  

20   thought.
  

21                 So I'll let you mull over that and see what
  

22   we can come up with.  But I think -- I think it needs to
  

23   be more than just a minimum standard that's imposed by
  

24   the County or the City.
  

25                 So I --
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 1                 MR. MOYES:  And obviously --
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So I -- with respect to
  

 3   Member Kryder's opinion I respectfully disagree.  I
  

 4   think -- I think we're obligated to do more than just
  

 5   what the bare minimum that the City requires.  Otherwise,
  

 6   there's not much purpose -- what is our function, then,
  

 7   but then to impose reasonable conditions to mitigate the
  

 8   impacts.  Because we're supposed to look at it
  

 9   holistically, whereas the City and County have a more
  

10   myopic focus on what they consider.
  

11                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, to reply with
  

12   the words of Bill Bonner, "I will give you a great big
  

13   hmmm."
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hmmm.  Thank you.
  

15                 Well, let's take our lunch recess and come
  

16   back at approximately 1 p.m.
  

17                 We stand in recess.
  

18                 (Recess from 12:04 p.m. to 1:06 p.m.)
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Let's go back on the
  

20   record.  Mr. Moyes, did you have some suggested language
  

21   for us?
  

22                 MR. MOYES:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  We
  

23   first wanted to go back to Condition 1 -- or rather the
  

24   project description.  You had asked to describe diesel
  

25   generators for black start as well as the storage of
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 1   propane on the site.
  

 2                 I would again remind the committee that
  

 3   diesel generators or diesel black start engines
  

 4   themselves would not be jurisdictional.  They've never
  

 5   been included in a project description before even though
  

 6   every natural gas plant this committee has sited that has
  

 7   black start diesel generators.
  

 8                 My client reminded me that the design
  

 9   specifics of those may change depending on what's
  

10   available, what the plant needs.  And so we didn't want
  

11   to spell out what the exact name plate capacity of each
  

12   generator might be, we think they could be anywhere from
  

13   1.5 to three megawatts.
  

14                 But we're happy to include reference to
  

15   them and just wanted to make sure that someone didn't
  

16   accuse us of lumping that into the 700.2 capacity of the
  

17   actual gas generators.
  

18                 So basically as you can see there what it
  

19   says, "The project may also include Tier 4 black start
  

20   diesel generators (capacity of which shall not be counted
  

21   towards the project's name plate) and up to 2,520,000
  

22   gallons of on-site propane storage, natural gas and any
  

23   additional propane will be delivered to the project site
  

24   by pipeline."
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.  Member Little.
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I don't object to including
  

 2   this.  But my experience is that black start generators
  

 3   are sort of like the battery in your car.  We've got a
  

 4   car that has, I don't know, how many ever horsepower or
  

 5   cubic engine -- cubic-inch engine in it.  And you don't
  

 6   say and a 12-volt battery.  They're intended just to be
  

 7   run to start the generators.
  

 8                 MR. MOYES:  Correct.  There'd never been an
  

 9   instance where they are running simultaneously and you've
  

10   got 700 megawatts, 540 plus the black starts.
  

11                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Right.  But I don't object
  

12   to including it here.  It may be something that --
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think it's worth having
  

14   them as Tier 4 because we talked about the horrible
  

15   emissions of Tier 2 that seem to be quite prevalent in
  

16   the area.
  

17                 MR. DAVIES:  I agree, and we're okay with
  

18   Tier 4.  When I found out my engineering team put Tier 2
  

19   in, I had a word with them.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you, Member Fontes.
  

21                 MEMBER FONTES:  Do we need to define Tier 4
  

22   in there, as a term?
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think it's a term known
  

24   throughout the industry.  Isn't it a common industry
  

25   term, tiers of diesel generators?
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 1                 MEMBER FONTES:  Is it referring to the data
  

 2   center or the generator?
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  The project, because it's
  

 4   the black start -- I guess they're more like a starter
  

 5   motor than a battery, aren't they?
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yeah.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  But I think it's worth
  

 8   noting because there's going to be diesel on the site.
  

 9   There's going to be propane on the site.  I think it's
  

10   just calling out what's there and that's in case they
  

11   wonder -- someone wonders why we have this -- the
  

12   subsequent condition about the response plan.
  

13                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Well, and it's also
  

14   probably informational in that not all generators in
  

15   power plants have black start capability.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  That's a valuable
  

17   thing.  Because I seem to recall discussions about oh,
  

18   man, if we -- I think it happened in Texas, was it in '21
  

19   they once they got the gas pipelines back up and thawed
  

20   and running, they had problems getting it all going
  

21   because a lot of places didn't have the black start
  

22   generator to get them -- so that delayed restoring the
  

23   electric supply by more.
  

24                 MEMBER FANT:  Mr. Chairman.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Fant.
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 1                 MEMBER FANT:  Just a point of information.
  

 2   The only real major black start generator in the
  

 3   southwest is Hoover Dam, right, Jason?
  

 4                 MR. MOYES:  Right.  Hoover is the black
  

 5   start for Palo Verde.
  

 6                 MEMBER FANT:  Yeah, well, actually probably
  

 7   for Griffith too and to get the system coming back up.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So I think acknowledging
  

 9   the presence of that demonstrates the value of the
  

10   project.  Having this capability makes it worth more than
  

11   it would be absent the black start generators.
  

12                 MR. MOYES:  That's a valid point.  Again,
  

13   we're happy to include this language.
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move that
  

15   we -- should we --
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Amend?  Well, we've moved
  

17   and seconded the project description.  We were in the --
  

18   we had talked about, I think we already amended it some,
  

19   but we were going to amend it further.  So I guess all we
  

20   need to do now is move the amended to include this
  

21   language and then we can vote on that.  And then we can
  

22   pass the project description as amended.
  

23                 MEMBER LITTLE:  So moved.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  So the
  

25   amendment -- I need a second.
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 1                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 2                 MEMBER HILL:  Second.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  So the
  

 4   amendment before us is to add to the project description,
  

 5   I'm going to refer to Chairman's 1, page 3, line 2-ish,
  

 6   after the word "Arizona."  Add the language, "the project
  

 7   may also include Tier 4 black-start diesel generators
  

 8   (the capacity of which shall not be counted towards the
  

 9   project nameplate) and up to 2,520,000 gallons of on-site
  

10   propane storage.  Natural gas and any additional propane
  

11   will be delivered to the project site by pipeline."
  

12                 That amendment has been moved and seconded.
  

13                 Further discussion?
  

14                 (No audible response.)
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

16                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

18                 (No audible response.)
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

20   passes.
  

21                 Is there any further amendments you wish to
  

22   make to the project description?  Oh, did we want to
  

23   mention the amount of diesel stored on site or just
  

24   focusing on what the fuel storage for the project itself
  

25   would be?
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 1                 MR. MOYES:  I'm not sure we even have the
  

 2   engineering specificity at this point to tell you how
  

 3   much --
  

 4                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Speak into your microphone
  

 5   a little more.
  

 6                 MR. MOYES:  Member Kryder, I was saying I'm
  

 7   not sure we have that level of detail from our engineers
  

 8   yet as to what the exact storage amount for diesel would
  

 9   be needed.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, I seem to recall
  

11   seeing an amount in the application of number of tanks
  

12   and volume or something.  But I don't think we need to
  

13   get specific.
  

14                 MR. DAVIES:  The number of tanks was
  

15   referring to the propane, and that 2,520,000 gallons is
  

16   28 90,000 gallon tanks, which is what was in the
  

17   application.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Wasn't there something in
  

19   the application about the amount of diesel to be stored
  

20   on site as well?
  

21                 MR. DAVIES:  I can't recall whether it's
  

22   specified, but each of these would likely to have belly
  

23   tank.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I seem to recall something
  

25   about amount and belly tanks in the application.
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 1                 I'm just looking to the members to be --
  

 2   did we want to have that on there or not.  I don't think
  

 3   necessarily we need to, but --
  

 4                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Chairman, my only thought
  

 5   is that I do remember there being some numbers in the air
  

 6   permit, and so I just want to make sure that whatever we
  

 7   put in there is the same as the air permit basically.
  

 8                 MR. DAVIES:  We have not even received our
  

 9   draft air permit.  Half the team was there this morning.
  

10   We expect to receive that Monday.  So I wouldn't want to
  

11   put something in here and then we get something back from
  

12   the County and have to come back here.
  

13                 MEMBER HILL:  Then leave it out.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, I'm fine with that.
  

15                 Now, are we going to "may" or "will"?
  

16   What's the certainty of the black start?
  

17                 MR. DAVIES:  We are also evaluating the
  

18   possibility of putting batteries in order to reduce
  

19   emissions.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  That's fine.  Then
  

21   I'm happy with the "may," then.
  

22                 All right.
  

23                 MEMBER HILL:  Do we need to approve project
  

24   description?
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I thought we did it as
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 1   amended, didn't we?
  

 2                 MEMBER FANT:  We haven't voted the full
  

 3   description.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  We haven't passed
  

 5   the project as amended?
  

 6                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.
  

 7                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 9                 (No audible response.)
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

11                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

13                 (No audible response.)
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the project
  

15   description as amended is adopted.
  

16                 So we got -- oh, yes, now we got to go back
  

17   to Condition 30 which would be -- 30 on Chairman's 1.
  

18                 MR. MOYES:  Yes, taking into consideration
  

19   the committee's comments, the difficulties that we all
  

20   acknowledged and the constraints based on past cases and
  

21   the Commission's current view, we attempted to put
  

22   something in there that would express our obvious
  

23   willingness to mitigate visual impacts, but also an
  

24   obligation to reach out and continue efforts to interact
  

25   with the public.
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 1                 And so what we've proposed reads, "The
  

 2   applicant shall consider and attempt to minimize the
  

 3   impacts of its activities on the surrounding
  

 4   neighborhoods.  The applicant shall also develop a
  

 5   community outreach plan to obtain feedback on visual
  

 6   mitigation strategies and engage the community in a
  

 7   variety of forums that could include surveys, public and
  

 8   individual meetings."
  

 9                 And I'll let Ms. Justus in a moment speak
  

10   about the success we've had with other projects regarding
  

11   surveys and how in many cases they be more effective for
  

12   this post-project interaction.
  

13                 Continuing on, "The applicant shall provide
  

14   in its annual compliance letter to the Commission an
  

15   update on all mitigation actions and community
  

16   contributions."
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I like it.
  

18                 My only thought is do we want to include
  

19   references to the city and the County or not?  I'm
  

20   looking to Ms. Justus.
  

21                 MS. JUSTUS:  One of the things we wanted to
  

22   specify here was surveys, and I think this addresses some
  

23   of the point that Member Hill made earlier.  And we've
  

24   used this successfully in some other projects as a tool
  

25   for something I wholeheartedly agree with what you said,
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 1   sometimes when people are just very opposed, they're not
  

 2   willing to go to the place, but what if it is there, and
  

 3   answer those questions.
  

 4                 And because we still have more regulatory
  

 5   hurdles ahead of us with primarily the military
  

 6   compatibility permit, that may very well still be the
  

 7   case.
  

 8                 So we view surveys as a way to not
  

 9   necessarily put on open-ended comment forum.  Tell us
  

10   what you think.  Because oftentimes understandably what
  

11   we get back is what I think is I don't want it.  But a
  

12   survey can give you the option to put a number of items
  

13   in there and say for this particular circumstance if this
  

14   were to be there, which of these listed items would most
  

15   interest you?
  

16                 And it is a way to get to that point where
  

17   I've given people some options to respond to and we have
  

18   better success getting feedback that way than something
  

19   much more open-ended.
  

20                 Also, a survey is very easy to cast a broad
  

21   net, to get a lot of people involved.  We can do it both
  

22   online using a survey tool or on paper so we capture what
  

23   people are interested in doing.
  

24                 But we also wanted to out of deference to
  

25   what Member Little had said, not only do that but then
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 1   also have opportunities.  We will have public hearings
  

 2   associated with the military compatibility permit for
  

 3   planning and zoning and board of supervisors.
  

 4                 So between individual meetings for maybe
  

 5   for those closest to the area but also opening up times
  

 6   where we would be able and willing to meet with other
  

 7   community members at their, you know, if they so choose,
  

 8   perhaps like we will be there an hour ahead or two hours
  

 9   ahead of the County board meeting if you'd like to come
  

10   in and talk to us.
  

11                 So doing a few different avenues but I
  

12   think survey is an important tool because it helps us get
  

13   over that hurdle of, you know, of I'd rather just say no.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant.
  

15                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

16                 In this draft language, I would recommend
  

17   not putting in anything about the state or county, and
  

18   that's simply because the open meeting law already
  

19   incorporates notice and public comment-type elements
  

20   which are incorporated down through the cities and the
  

21   states -- counties and the states already.  So I think we
  

22   should focus specifically on the dispute with the private
  

23   parties here.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  And then I had
  

25   another thought.  Where it says "visual mitigation
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 1   strategies," would it be worth including a parenthetical
  

 2   that says, e.g., for example, wall construction,
  

 3   vegetative screening programs, et cetera.
  

 4                 Something like that to kind of just point
  

 5   that that's the direction we're looking to -- not, you
  

 6   know, something outlandish or building a million dollar,
  

 7   $20 million facility that's going to -- you know, the
  

 8   driving range, we're going to mitigate it with a driving
  

 9   range, something like that.  I don't know.
  

10                 MR. MOYES:  I think that's a good
  

11   suggestion.  We're happy to put that in parentheticals.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right, and it's e.g. -- for
  

13   example, meaning that's not necessarily what it will be
  

14   done, but it's just an example of what -- the things that
  

15   we should be looking at for visual mitigation strategies.
  

16                 MS. JUSTUS:  If I may I think we could say
  

17   e.g., a block wall, vegetative screening, close
  

18   parentheses.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Et cetera.
  

20                 MS. JUSTUS:  Yeah, et cetera.  That's good.
  

21                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Kryder.
  

23                 MEMBER KRYDER:  A question for Ms. Justus.
  

24                 And this is fairly politically incorrect.
  

25   Suppose you get one of the neighbors here or the people
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 1   who are truly psychotic, and we've had in our hearings
  

 2   and you probably in your experience have encountered
  

 3   people that you would, without your being at a
  

 4   psychiatrist say, boy, this person is really close to the
  

 5   line.
  

 6                 The word "shall" in here troubles me from
  

 7   the perspective not of the applicant.  Frankly, it's your
  

 8   money.  I don't care how you spend it.  But from our
  

 9   perspective, from the committee's perspective, putting
  

10   "shall" in there and not touching on "shall comply with
  

11   all zoning regulations," but then you added this other
  

12   stuff, and I'm going to call it stuff, moves this
  

13   condition, it seems to me, out of our purview.  That
  

14   really our purview is does the applicant comply with all
  

15   zoning regulations?  That's -- that's what we can
  

16   require.
  

17                 If you out of the goodness of your heart or
  

18   the foolishness of your CEO choose to do something else,
  

19   I don't really care from a committee perspective.  But to
  

20   require you to do A, B, or C, looks to me like we're
  

21   stepping really close to the line.  And I'd ask
  

22   Mr. Moyes' view on an attorney's point of view as your
  

23   advocate.
  

24                 Where does this take us, the way it's
  

25   worded now?
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 1                 MR. MOYES:  Member Kryder, as it's worded
  

 2   right now it says "shall consider and attempt to minimize
  

 3   impacts."  "Shall."
  

 4                 MEMBER KRYDER:  "Shall consider and
  

 5   attempt."
  

 6                 MR. MOYES:  The condition doesn't bind us
  

 7   to any particular dollar amount.  It does not bind us
  

 8   even to a block wall or a vegetative screen.  Those are
  

 9   merely suggestions of potential items.  I would say that
  

10   the only thing it does bind us to is creating an outreach
  

11   plan and reporting on our efforts as they develop each
  

12   year in our compliance.
  

13                 MEMBER KRYDER:  In that case, why not make
  

14   it "may" rather than "shall"?
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  My thought on that is if
  

16   it's "may," it's not really a condition.  I think --
  

17                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Exactly.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- the conditions require
  

19   them to do something.  What they're required to do is try
  

20   to figure out the best way to mitigate the impacts.  It
  

21   doesn't bind them to any specific mitigation measure.
  

22                 And that was kind of like, I thought was
  

23   the point of the condition.  Because something needs to
  

24   be done to mitigate the visual impacts.  What that
  

25   something is is not clear at this time, and it won't be
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 1   clear until later.  But this requires them to engage in a
  

 2   good faith effort to mitigate visual impacts on the
  

 3   surrounding area.
  

 4                 MR. DAVIES:  So is the concern here that,
  

 5   you know, the CEO over here is doing something silly
  

 6   which we can set that aside?  Or is the concern here that
  

 7   the committee, you know, when you read this not having
  

 8   read this transcript, just read this paragraph, it seems
  

 9   like it's coming from the committee this direction.
  

10                 Would it be more appropriate -- it doesn't
  

11   show up necessarily as a condition, but you say, you
  

12   know, the applicant has committed to.
  

13                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Bingo.
  

14                 MR. DAVIES:  So I don't think the Chairman
  

15   likes that.  Which is fine, but I think I -- I think
  

16   that's where you were going is saying it's one thing for
  

17   us to commit.  It's another thing for you to require.
  

18                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Bingo.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And that's why I
  

20   think we are requiring you to engage the community in a
  

21   good faith effort to mitigate this as best you can.
  

22                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.
  

23                 MEMBER KRYDER:  But Chair --
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  What I'm not saying, and
  

25   that's why I don't propose to include, if you wanted to
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 1   donate a million dollars to the school district or
  

 2   emergency management agencies, we're not going to require
  

 3   that you do that.
  

 4                 But I don't see the point of including that
  

 5   you're committed to that if it's not going to be a
  

 6   condition on the certificate.  Something you have to do
  

 7   that's going to be required in order to mitigate the
  

 8   environmental effects.  I think that's what -- that's
  

 9   what I'm trying to focus, and that's why I'm not --
  

10   that's why I didn't have this list in the conditions in
  

11   Chairman's 1.
  

12                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.  But the second
  

13   sentence says, "The applicant shall also develop a
  

14   community outreach plan."  That is saying you are
  

15   violating the terms of the CEC if you don't -- oh, man.
  

16   This opens a door to hell, as far as I can see.
  

17                 MR. MOYES:  Member Kryder, I would say we
  

18   are committed and I'm okay with the committee mandating
  

19   that we create an outreach plan.  An outreach plan is
  

20   different than mitigation.  An outreach plan is different
  

21   than building a wall or planting trees.
  

22                 This is the plan that shows we are, in
  

23   fact, doing post-CEC engagement with the public.  And
  

24   that's what the "shall" is binding upon.  I don't read it
  

25   to bind any particular spending of money or any
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 1   particular mitigation project.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  True.  And I appreciate
  

 3   that, Mr. Moyes.  But we are still requiring you to do
  

 4   something that's well beyond and never included in any
  

 5   legislation.
  

 6                 MEMBER HILL:  I disagree.  My reading of
  

 7   the policies around our committee is that we can impose
  

 8   reasonable conditions on a permit, and I think this is a
  

 9   reasonable condition, and I think that the applicants
  

10   agree that it's reasonable.
  

11                 MEMBER FONTES:  I second.
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Third.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And that's -- they
  

14   have to do some outreach and engagement and figure out.
  

15   But, for example, under this -- this requirement, this
  

16   condition requires them to have a plan.  A plan to reach
  

17   out and deal with the neighborhoods and figure out what
  

18   the best way is to mitigate the visual impacts.  It
  

19   doesn't mandate a specific mitigation measure.
  

20                 For example, in their list of proposed
  

21   mitigation they have a vegetative screening.  Okay.
  

22   There was currently the citrus trees that are on the
  

23   Beals property, they provide a vegetative screen.
  

24                 But the issue came up that, oh, those are
  

25   older trees, they need to be replanted by something else,
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 1   what was the type of tree that the guy liked, tangelos.
  

 2   Right.  Okay.  We're not mandating they plant two acres
  

 3   of tangelos, they may determine that that is best course
  

 4   of action and do it.
  

 5                 Again, the problem if you did that, well,
  

 6   then if we mandate a specific thing will we compel them
  

 7   to purchase the Beals' property or lease it to comply
  

 8   with the condition.  We're not doing that.  So it doesn't
  

 9   give anybody leverage over them.  It's like, oh, we got
  

10   them over a barrel to extract extra cash out of them
  

11   because they have to do this to comply with the
  

12   condition.
  

13                 Again, another thing, too, is if Mr. Beals
  

14   significantly expands his R.V. operation, that may
  

15   visually screen the plant from everybody north of it.
  

16   And so any kind of vegetative screen and a wall beyond
  

17   the six-foot block that's required by the County would be
  

18   moot.
  

19                 It would be a waste of resources to build a
  

20   20-foot wall when there's a 30-foot thing of R.V.s behind
  

21   it that obscures it.  That would no longer be necessary.
  

22                 So this I think allows them -- requires
  

23   them to address the mitigation without tying their hands
  

24   to do something that doesn't make sense later on
  

25   depending on what circumstances change.  So I think
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 1   that's -- they'd have the option of, well, there's land
  

 2   between their border and the Beals property.  There's the
  

 3   Justice property.  I mean, there could be some kind of
  

 4   situation where they did that and put something there.
  

 5   Their hands aren't tied.
  

 6                 But this condition does not alleviate them
  

 7   from the requirement to comply with the County and city
  

 8   zoning requirements.  Because that's a different
  

 9   condition and that's going to be required anyway.  So I
  

10   think this is -- they have to do more than the bare
  

11   minimum or at least they have to figure out if doing more
  

12   than the bare minimum makes sense to mitigate the impacts
  

13   of it.
  

14                 MR. DAVIES:  If the concern here is the
  

15   committee or certain members of the committee believe
  

16   that this may cause heartburn at the Commission when it
  

17   goes for approval, I think we could probably wordsmith
  

18   this, but if that's not necessary, we are okay with the
  

19   language presented.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant.
  

21                 MEMBER FANT:  This is, at least as an
  

22   attorney I call a meet and confer provision, requires the
  

23   parties to meet but then they decide what they want to
  

24   talk about.
  

25                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, can I move
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 1   this language?
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  You may.
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I do so.
  

 4                 MEMBER HILL:  Second.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Wait.  Let me think back.
  

 6   We had moved Condition 30, have we?  Let's start over.
  

 7                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  Let's move
  

 8   Condition 30 and then move to amend it.
  

 9                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I move Condition 30.
  

10                 MEMBER HILL:  Second.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move that
  

13   we change the language of Condition 30 to read, "The
  

14   applicant shall consider and attempt to minimize the
  

15   impacts of its activities on the surrounding
  

16   neighborhoods.  The applicant shall also develop a
  

17   community outreach plan to obtain feedback on visual
  

18   mitigation strategies (for example, a block wall
  

19   vegetative screening) et cetera, and engage the community
  

20   in a variety of forums that could include surveys, public
  

21   and individual meetings.
  

22                 "The applicant shall provide in its annual
  

23   compliance letter to the Commission an update on all
  

24   mitigation actions and community contributions."
  

25                 MEMBER HILL:  Second.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 2                 All in favor say "aye."
  

 3                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 5                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Hmmm.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is that a no?
  

 7                 MEMBER KRYDER:  No.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  With one -- with a bunch of
  

 9   ayes and one no, the amendment to Condition 30 passes.
  

10                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

11   Condition 30 as amended.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

13                 All in favor say "aye."
  

14                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

15                 MEMBER HILL:  I'll be the second on that.
  

16   She moved it, I'll be the second.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Are there any nays?
  

18                 Condition 30 as amended is adopted.
  

19                 All right, now.  Do we -- this is going to
  

20   be -- this didn't go over well last time but we want to
  

21   talk about water usage.  The only reason I bring it up is
  

22   because of A.R.S. 40-360.13 requires consideration of the
  

23   projects that are in the active management areas.  It
  

24   does say cities, although currently you're not in the
  

25   city jurisdiction you will be.
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 1                 So under the statute, the committee shall
  

 2   consider as a criterion for issuing a certificate of
  

 3   environmental compatibility the available groundwater and
  

 4   the impact of the proposed use of groundwater on the
  

 5   management plan established under the statutes for the
  

 6   active management area.
  

 7                 I just want to make sure that that has been
  

 8   adequately addressed in the record.  The testimony was
  

 9   that it wasn't going to impact the neighboring wells, and
  

10   then it had the depth of the aquifer was going to remain
  

11   adequate.  The testimony I had was that the water rights
  

12   would go from 708 acre feet under the current
  

13   agricultural use to 382 acre feet with a type 1
  

14   conversion.
  

15                 So I guess I'm looking to Member French as
  

16   the representative from ADWR to confirm that the record
  

17   before us does show that the project will not have an
  

18   overly adverse or unmitigated impact on the use of
  

19   groundwater for the active management area.
  

20                 MEMBER FRENCH:  Mr. Chairman.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member French.
  

22                 MEMBER FRENCH:  If the applicant proceeds
  

23   as they've proposed in their application, then it's my
  

24   opinion that they would be consistent with the Phoenix
  

25   AMA and the management plan that operates it.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And my recollection
  

 2   of the testimony is that they would use approximately 120
  

 3   or less acre feet per year.
  

 4                 MR. MOYES:  For the project itself, that's
  

 5   jurisdictional, 100, if we were using solely groundwater.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  Which may not even
  

 7   be the case.  Once you're annexed you'll probably get
  

 8   service either from the treated effluent from the brewery
  

 9   and then --
  

10                 MR. MOYES:  Or from EPCOR.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  EPCOR, right.
  

12                 MR. DAVIES:  Though, in fairness EPCOR may
  

13   get some of theirs from groundwater as well, so unless
  

14   it's recycled water from the brewery, I think EPCOR and
  

15   well water are probably one and the same.
  

16                 MR. MOYES:  I believe the testimony of
  

17   Mr. McCleod was we would have to pump approximately 14
  

18   times as much as we were planning to to even approach the
  

19   restriction under the AMA rule for the Phoenix AMA.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  I just wanted
  

21   to confirm that was all, because given that, I don't see
  

22   a need -- Project Bella was different.  Again, the
  

23   Commission threw it out, but that, again, that was
  

24   outside of an AMD -- no, it was an AM that was --
  

25                 MR. MOYES:  The Pinal.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  The management strategy of
  

 2   it was significantly different.
  

 3                 MR. MOYES:  Yes.  The Pinal AMA has a
  

 4   management goal of planned depletion, whereas this is a
  

 5   safe yield for the Phoenix AMA.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And I think that makes all
  

 7   the difference in the reasonableness of the condition for
  

 8   the CEC.
  

 9                 Are there any other suggestions for
  

10   additional conditions from members?
  

11                 (No audible response.)
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  To the applicant, did you
  

13   want to propose some things from your Hearing Exhibit 35?
  

14                 MR. MOYES:  No, for all the reasons
  

15   previously enumerated we didn't want to put in dollar
  

16   amounts or bind ourselves to specific strategies.  We
  

17   will of course report on all of those things in our
  

18   compliance letter, including whatever money we contribute
  

19   to the schools.  We want that to be in the public record.
  

20   We want the public to know what we're doing to contribute
  

21   as well as the emergency contributions.
  

22                 MR. DAVIES:  And for the record we look
  

23   forward to the conversations with the County and city of
  

24   Glendale as we work for approval on their end to
  

25   incorporate some of the proposals we set forth in
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 1   Exhibit 35.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Excellent.
  

 3                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Kryder.
  

 5                 MEMBER KRYDER:  I wish to commend the
  

 6   applicant for their position on this and thoroughly am
  

 7   appreciative of your insights and your willingness to do
  

 8   this.  Thank you.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  With that are
  

10   we ready to move on to the Findings of Fact and
  

11   Conclusions of Law?
  

12                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

13   approval of Finding of Fact and Conclusions of Law
  

14   Number 1 be approved.
  

15                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes.  Further discussion,
  

18   Member Little.
  

19                 MEMBER LITTLE:  As always, I have heartburn
  

20   with us making the statement that the project aids the
  

21   state and the southwestern region.  I don't believe we
  

22   know that.
  

23                 But I also recognize that this is the
  

24   common language that is put in one of these applications.
  

25   What we're told by Staff is that it could or may.  And I
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 1   would agree with could or may.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Mr. Moyes, do you care to
  

 3   opine on the language of Finding of Fact and Conclusion
  

 4   of Law Number 1?
  

 5                 MR. MOYES:  I don't disagree with anything
  

 6   that Member Little said.  It is a standard condition.
  

 7   I've heard this committee debate this condition probably
  

 8   10 times.  I have no objection to changing the wording to
  

 9   when constructed in compliance with conditions imposed in
  

10   the certificate, the project may aid the state.  That
  

11   doesn't hurt my feelings at all.  It's just a matter of
  

12   whether the Commission wants to stick with existing
  

13   precedent or not.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think I hear what you're
  

15   saying, Member Little, but I think that these need to be
  

16   strong enough to say that if it's just may or could,
  

17   it's -- I think we need to make a definitive finding that
  

18   it's going to -- that the benefits outweigh the impacts
  

19   for it to be upheld in any kind of challenge, say someone
  

20   wants to oppose the building of the project.
  

21                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I may have a stronger
  

22   opinion about this because in order for me with my
  

23   education and experience in order to say that it does, I
  

24   need more information --
  

25                 MEMBER FONTES:  Mr. Chairman.
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  -- that I'm not privilege
  

 2   to.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fontes.
  

 4                 MEMBER FONTES:  Member Little, I would
  

 5   offer that the benefits that ED5 provides to the
  

 6   municipalities, based on this project existing, are part
  

 7   of that economical and reliable supply to the greater
  

 8   community in those entities within the County.
  

 9                 So I hear what you're saying and you know I
  

10   usually look at things in a similar light, but in this
  

11   case I would say it does aid.
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  ED7, you mean?
  

13                 MEMBER FONTES:  In 1.
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  You said ED5.
  

15                 MEMBER FONTES:  ED7.  I'm sorry.  I
  

16   misspoke.  Mr. Moyes knows where I'm going with that.
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Well, I made my statement.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Finding of Fact
  

19   and Conclusion of Law has been moved and seconded.
  

20                 Further discussion?
  

21                 (No audible response.)
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

23                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

25                 (No audible response.)
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Finding of
  

 2   Fact and Conclusion of Law Number 1 is adopted.
  

 3                 Number 2.
  

 4                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

 5   Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law Number 2.
  

 6                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Why do we need 1 and 2?
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Tradition.
  

10                 MEMBER FONTES:  I would observe that 1 is
  

11   more to do with reliability, and 2 is actually with
  

12   operational, referencing the balancing authority, Member
  

13   Little.
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  You're right about that,
  

15   yes.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Finding of Fact and
  

17   Conclusion of Law Number 2 has been moved and seconded.
  

18   Further discussion?
  

19                 (No audible response.)
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

21                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

23                 (No audible response.)
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Finding of
  

25   Fact and Conclusion of Law Number 2 is adopted.
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 1                 Number 3.
  

 2                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

 3   Finding of Fact Number 3.
  

 4                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 6                 (No audible response.)
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

 8                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

10                 (No audible response.)
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Finding of
  

12   Fact and Conclusion of Law Number 3 is adopted.
  

13                 Number 4.
  

14                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

15   Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Number 4 be
  

16   approved.
  

17                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

19                 (No audible response.)
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

21                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

23                 (No audible response.)
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hear none, Finding of Fact
  

25   and Conclusion of Law Number 4 is adopted.
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 1                 Number 5.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

 3   approval of Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law
  

 4   Number 5.
  

 5                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 7                 (No audible response.)
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

 9                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

11                 (No audible response.)
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Finding of
  

13   Fact and Conclusion of Law Number 5 is adopted.
  

14                 Number 6.
  

15                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

16   Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law Number 6.
  

17                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

19                 (No audible response.)
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

21                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

23                 (No audible response.)
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Finding of
  

25   Fact and Conclusion of Law Number 6 is adopted.
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 1                 Now we move on to Exhibit A.
  

 2                 And the applicant is offering which picture
  

 3   for Exhibit A would be the one attached to the CEC,
  

 4   Hearing Exhibit 11?
  

 5                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Mercer.
  

 7                 MEMBER MERCER:  I notice they spelled
  

 8   Project Baccara differently.
  

 9                 MR. MOYES:  Good catch.
  

10                 MEMBER MERCER:  Is it two c's or two r's?
  

11                 MR. MOYES:  It's two c's and we can submit
  

12   a revised map.
  

13                 MEMBER MERCER:  Is that French over
  

14   Spanish?  Two r's is a Spanish --
  

15                 MEMBER FONTES:  Latin.
  

16                 MEMBER KRYDER:  It's Polish.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Is there --
  

18                 MEMBER FONTES:  Mr. Chairman.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah.  There's a couple
  

20   things.  I almost think that a different color map would
  

21   be better.  And then I think we should label the power
  

22   lines CEC 198, I believe is the APS line that's running
  

23   along the project.
  

24                 MEMBER FONTES:  I would go for labels of
  

25   ownership for clarity where you can with APS and the ED7.
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 1   I would also put all of the project-level things that
  

 2   you're going to need for financing insurance to include
  

 3   retention pond and those balance of plant things that are
  

 4   missing from here.
  

 5                 I would make sure you have demarcations on
  

 6   data centers for clarity because this will be referenced
  

 7   by those types of counsels as well, I imagine.  So just
  

 8   trying to help you think it through, but a lot more
  

 9   detail and clarity.
  

10                 MR. DAVIES:  We have very detailed designs
  

11   and we can put something a lot more substantial on here.
  

12                 MEMBER FONTES:  On this exhibit, yes, sir.
  

13   Thank you.
  

14                 MR. DAVIES:  The gas compression where that
  

15   comes into comes to mind.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It's on the placemat.
  

17                 MEMBER FONTES:  Yeah, the placemat got a
  

18   lot more detail than that would.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It's the same map, isn't
  

20   it?  You just can't see it on the screen because it's so
  

21   tiny.
  

22                 MEMBER LITTLE:  The legend is much more
  

23   detailed on the placemat.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  I think that.
  

25                 MEMBER FONTES:  Maybe blow it up.

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 253     VOLUME IV     12/04/2025 850

  

 1                 MR. MOYES:  We can blow up the map used on
  

 2   the placemat, correct the spelling on the placemat.
  

 3                 MEMBER FONTES:  The placemat has that
  

 4   detail.  Like with the exception of the demarcation on
  

 5   the ownership stuff.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  I think -- I'd
  

 7   almost be -- think it's appropriate to have two pages to
  

 8   the Exhibit A, one being the color picture of the map
  

 9   that kind of shows where it is and what's around it and
  

10   then the close-up showing the layout of the site.  And
  

11   then on this one labeling the APS transmission line.
  

12                 I don't think -- is there any -- well, the
  

13   69kV, is that ED7 or is that APS as well?
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  It's APS.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And do we want even want to
  

16   include that because it's not transmission?  It's
  

17   subtransmission.
  

18                 MEMBER FONTES:  Or label it distribution
  

19   versus transmission.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, it says 69kV on it,
  

21   but I'm just --
  

22                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, the Exhibit A
  

23   is very different from the placemat.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It is, huh?
  

25                 MEMBER MERCER:  Yeah.  It says Project
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 1   Baccara.  On the placemat it says conceptual site plan.
  

 2   On the Exhibit A it says location map and is missing all
  

 3   the legend.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  The placemat also has one c
  

 5   and two r's.
  

 6                 MEMBER MERCER:  Yes.
  

 7                 MR. MOYES:  We don't purport these are the
  

 8   same maps.  But we will include this map if it's the
  

 9   committee's preference, fix the spelling, label the 230
  

10   line as an APS-owned line.  We can remove the 69kV if
  

11   that's your preference.
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I'm just wondering if
  

15   somebody is flipping through this thing and then goes to
  

16   the map or goes to the figure and looks at it, showing
  

17   the data center buildings, it makes it seem like the
  

18   whole thing is the project.
  

19                 MEMBER FONTES:  The project description
  

20   should match the map.  I think we've talked about before,
  

21   Mr. Moyes, and I think given the perceptions or
  

22   misperceptions, data center noise and other factors,
  

23   combined with the power plant, you want to separate that
  

24   somehow on this graphic.
  

25                 MR. DAVIES:  What I'd like to suggest is
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 1   maybe using what we have listed as R27.  That shows the
  

 2   prospective ownership with the data centers just hashed.
  

 3   We're not actually showing the buildings, we're just
  

 4   saying this where there will be a data center.  There
  

 5   will be a substation.  And we are focusing on R27, really
  

 6   just what's going to be the generator project.
  

 7                 MEMBER FONTES:  Then when we have people
  

 8   referencing for annual noise monitoring, and you can say
  

 9   this is the defined project that matches with the
  

10   description, the data center is a part, yes, sir.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Are you talking about R27
  

12   of Hearing Exhibit 10; right?
  

13                 MR. DAVIES:  That's the big PowerPoint?
  

14   Yes.
  

15                 MR. MOYES:  Can we pull that up, Grace?
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I still think it would be
  

17   helpful to have --
  

18                 AV TEAM MEMBER:  Where -- sorry, where
  

19   would I have that?
  

20                 MR. MOYES:  In Exhibit 10, slide R27.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think it would be helpful
  

22   to have --
  

23                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I like that.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- this color map first
  

25   because it gives a bigger perspective of where the actual
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 1   project is.  It has more roads that can be seen.  And
  

 2   then the second page would be the conceptual site plan.
  

 3                 MEMBER FONTES:  I might suggest you label,
  

 4   though, because this is more project site and project
  

 5   description that conforms to the CEC would be the second
  

 6   page, just again, the more precise the better, project
  

 7   site and project.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  There you go.  There's --
  

 9                 MEMBER FONTES:  Retention pond's missing,
  

10   but I'm sure that could be added.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, the retention ponds,
  

12   they're part of the -- they're not necessarily part of
  

13   the plant.
  

14                 MR. DAVIES:  There will be retention ponds
  

15   on both sides of the fence between the data center and
  

16   the power plant.
  

17                 Would the committee like us to update
  

18   these?  I don't know the process to get it approved or
  

19   should we just approve a couple of the images subject to
  

20   better notation and labeling?
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That's how we typically do
  

22   it.  We'll identify what things in the records, what
  

23   exhibits are going to be marked as Exhibit A, and then we
  

24   can pass amendments to make changes to them.  Sometimes
  

25   applicants can make the changes as we sit here, other
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 1   times they have to do it after the hearing when they
  

 2   submit the updated CEC, once we get done voting it, and
  

 3   the Exhibits A -- the Exhibit A along with it that's been
  

 4   changed to reflect what the committee voted on.
  

 5                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.
  

 6                 MEMBER FONTES:  Just want to reiterate, if
  

 7   you do two versions, site map and project map, and
  

 8   project map meets the description on those things.
  

 9   You're going to monitor the things that financiers would
  

10   look at and the public continuing outreach.
  

11                 MR. DAVIES:  Can I ask we -- where we have
  

12   up there R27, can we flip also to R32?  That may also be
  

13   helpful.  R32 shows the site in relation to CEC 198.
  

14                 MEMBER FONTES:  You could include that as a
  

15   little callout or a little subsection just for general
  

16   reference around the fringes or in the legend.  The more
  

17   details you're just going to create certainty for
  

18   yourself going forward, and the insurance guy comes in
  

19   and looks at it, your CP, that that's super helpful for
  

20   you.
  

21                 MR. DAVIES:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

22                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little.
  

24                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Just a couple of comments
  

25   based on what's been suggested.  R27, I like the fact
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 1   that it just shows the data center land as being not part
  

 2   of the project.  But the project is not very highlighted
  

 3   there.  It has everything labeled except the project.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That's why I like the
  

 5   placemat with it, because it has more detail on the
  

 6   project itself.
  

 7                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Right.  So what I'm
  

 8   suggesting is perhaps they use the map that they have
  

 9   proposed, and maybe put some crosshatching over the -- or
  

10   something over the data center part of it and just
  

11   indicate that that's not part of the project or --
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, it's described --
  

13   let's see.  We described Exhibit A as a map and depiction
  

14   of the proposed project facilities.
  

15                 So I think --
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  And unless it says
  

17   otherwise, if we use that as the map, that's more than
  

18   the project facilities.  That's also the data centers.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And that's why my
  

20   thought was that you have, what is it, R27 just has the
  

21   hash marks for the data center parts of the project.
  

22   Right.  My thought is if they combine that --
  

23                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That's what I was trying to
  

24   say, yes.  Thank you.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  This part and this legend
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 1   as far as that legend is applicable to the project and
  

 2   not the project site.
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  But the project -- that
  

 4   legend has a dark line around the project boundary and
  

 5   that's around the whole site.  It's not around the
  

 6   project.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, then that could be
  

 8   when you say project site boundary.
  

 9                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yeah, you could do that.
  

10   Or you could put a different color line around the
  

11   project.  Have the project site boundary be one color and
  

12   the project itself be another.  Something that shows that
  

13   we only looked at the generation plant.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  Because I think --
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  We didn't look at this
  

16   other stuff.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  Because the map and
  

18   depiction of the proposed project facilities does not
  

19   include the data center buildings and facilities.
  

20                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Right.  I think that the
  

21   project site on one, and project -- I don't know.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then on the other side
  

23   of the placemat, the color map that identifies Glendale,
  

24   Maricopa County, has the transmission lines on there,
  

25   then has the project site boundary in red.  So between
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 1   that and then this one with the data stuff hashed out
  

 2   on -- it's not there now -- it's R --
  

 3                 MR. MOYES:  R27 up on the screen.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  R27, and then some changes
  

 5   to the legend.
  

 6                 MR. MOYES:  Just to clarify, Mr. Chairman,
  

 7   are you wanting both of these zoomed-out maps?
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  No, the left one.
  

 9                 MR. MOYES:  The left one only.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Should we start with that,
  

11   members?  Because I think the one on the left, it gives a
  

12   better perspective of where the project is located in the
  

13   state.
  

14                 MEMBER FONTES:  Are you suggesting that as
  

15   like an insert and then have a site plan?
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  No.
  

17                 MEMBER FONTES:  Or you want to keep it eye
  

18   level.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It says a map and
  

20   depictions of proposed project is Exhibit A.  So I think
  

21   Exhibit A would consist of two pages.
  

22                 MEMBER FONTES:  Okay.  I'm following you
  

23   now.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  The first one would be this
  

25   page which shows a map of the facilities.  So if you're
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 1   looking at this, the left side of the color side of the
  

 2   placemat, that one shows, oh, look, I can see where
  

 3   Surprise is, I can see where Glendale is, I see it has
  

 4   Maricopa County, here's the site --
  

 5                 MR. DAVIES:  Mr. Chairman, I think the map
  

 6   you're referring to is also in this as R26.  Can we go
  

 7   back one?  That one.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  No, the one --
  

 9                 MR. DAVIES:  No.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- the other side of the
  

11   placemat, the left side.  Without all the shading that's
  

12   going to -- because to me looking where this is located,
  

13   I can see intersections of Litchfield and Peoria, 151st
  

14   Avenue, it's like, oh, I can figure out where this is
  

15   more easily.
  

16                 MR. DAVIES:  Could we go to R18?  The --
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  No, that one's zoomed out
  

18   more.
  

19                 MR. DAVIES:  R2 is the map that, in fact,
  

20   is used on the left side of the placemat.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  There we go.  I think it's
  

22   because it's also because it shows all this other stuff
  

23   that's located around the site that is -- Exhibit 10,
  

24   slide R2.
  

25                 MR. MOYES:  Yes.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  That one, I think
  

 2   it's clear to see where it is and what's around it.
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  And just add that the
  

 4   existing transmission 230kV line is APS.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That can be done in the
  

 6   legend.
  

 7                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Right.
  

 8                 MR. DAVIES:  We can do that.
  

 9                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Well, that's --
  

10                 MEMBER FONTES:  Project Baccara site map,
  

11   not sign locations.
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Is the whole project
  

13   Baccara or is just the generator plant Baccara?
  

14                 MR. DAVIES:  We've always referred to it as
  

15   Project Baccara.  Our joint venture partner refers to it
  

16   as Project Eagle, so it's not an accident that the land
  

17   is actually owned by Baccara Eagle, LLC.  So potato,
  

18   potato.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Can we get a motion to
  

20   adopt side R2 of hearing Exhibit 10 as the first page of
  

21   Exhibit A, and then we'll proceed to modify the legend to
  

22   reflect when we need it to.
  

23                 MEMBER LITTLE:  So moved.
  

24                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?  Wait.
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 1   Now we can amend it.  We've got it moved and seconded so
  

 2   now we want to make amendments to it.
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, I'd like to
  

 4   amend the exhibit to include the ownership of the
  

 5   existing 230kV transmission line as spelled out in the
  

 6   legend to say "Existing APS 230kV transmission line."
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Do you want to go a step
  

 8   further and identify it as CEC 198?
  

 9                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I don't care.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Let's do that.
  

11                 MEMBER LITTLE:  All right.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Sometimes when I go back
  

13   and look at these things, especially with, remember the
  

14   Harquahala one, there was like six other CECs that were
  

15   going to tie into.  I think it's nice to know what we're
  

16   working with.
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That's true.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It makes it easier to track
  

19   things later on.
  

20                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Good point.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then what other changes
  

22   to the legend.  We needed a -- is the red boundary for
  

23   Project Baccara site, because I think the site is the
  

24   whole area, whole 160 acres, but the project itself will
  

25   only occupy a portion of that, and that's called out in
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 1   the next slide we're proposing.
  

 2                 MR. MOYES:  We will fix the name on this
  

 3   map on R2 at the bottom in the black so that it doesn't
  

 4   state sign locations but rather Project Baccara site map.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  What are you talking about?
  

 6                 MR. MOYES:  On R2 that's up on the left
  

 7   screen, that was used in the actual exhibits.  It was
  

 8   identified as Project Baccara sign locations if you zoom
  

 9   in.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I'm not seeing that.  It
  

11   says Project Baccara site with a red line.
  

12                 MEMBER FONTES:  No, I'm talking about the
  

13   bottom right of the legend.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Oh, okay.  Yeah.  Yeah,
  

15   that can -- so you'd say Project Baccara site location?
  

16   Instead of sign location?
  

17                 MR. MOYES:  Correct.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Site map.
  

19                 MR. MOYES:  Site map.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Now, do you want to leave
  

21   the 69kV distribution or subtransmission line on there?
  

22                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yeah, it's okay.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Who's the owner of that
  

24   one?
  

25                 MR. DAVIES:  That is also APS.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is it a transmission line
  

 2   if it's 69kV?
  

 3                 MR. MOYES:  The industry still terms it a
  

 4   transmission line.  The definitions under the CEC
  

 5   statutes would not for jurisdiction.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I've heard it referred to
  

 7   as subtransmission line by utilities multiple times.
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  It's more accurate in
  

 9   today's world.
  

10                 MR. MOYES:  We can change it to
  

11   subtransmission if you prefer.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, I think so.  I don't
  

13   want people thinking we have jurisdiction over 69kV all
  

14   of a sudden.
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  In the older days it was
  

16   transmission.
  

17                 MEMBER DRAGO:  Oh, really?
  

18                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Uh-huh.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Is that
  

20   everything we need for this particular slide to be
  

21   changed?
  

22                 Can I get a motion to amend slide R2 to
  

23   reflect the changes, to update the legend to show the
  

24   ownership of the 230kV line by APS and label it CEC 198;
  

25   to change in the lower right-hand side where it says
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 1   "Sign locations should be changed to site map," and then
  

 2   indicate in the legend that the 69kV line is a
  

 3   subtransmission line owned by APS.
  

 4                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I amend.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  You make the motion to
  

 6   amend?
  

 7                 MEMBER MERCER:  So moved.
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I know, but I amend my
  

 9   motion to amend to include all of those.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We've already moved to
  

11   adopt as Exhibit A, page 1.
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  And then I move to add APS,
  

13   so now I'm changing my motion to --
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, I just described what
  

15   the motion was.
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So that is your motion,
  

18   then?
  

19                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yeah.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then Member Mercer,
  

21   you're the second, then?
  

22                 MEMBER MERCER:  Yes.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  Further discussion?
  

24                 (No audible response.)
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
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 1                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 3                 (No audible response.)
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

 5   to page 1 of Exhibit A is adopted.
  

 6                 Then we want to add as page 2, what's the
  

 7   best description, is the starting point better for the
  

 8   right-hand side of the conceptual site plan on the
  

 9   placemat?  Or --
  

10                 MS. JUSTUS:  If I may offer, I think
  

11   conceptual site plan is good, because as we've mentioned
  

12   a number of times there's still some engineering to be
  

13   done, so it implies there could potentially be some small
  

14   changes.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  And then, so
  

16   let's -- so for page 2 we'll have -- what's the best way
  

17   to describe, because I know the placemat is an actual
  

18   exhibit here.  Number 18.
  

19                 MR. MOYES:  Correct.  So for purposes of
  

20   the record we can describe it as modifying the right-hand
  

21   image -- well, we've got two sides.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It's described as the
  

23   conceptual site plan; right?
  

24                 MR. MOYES:  Yes.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Can I get a motion to adopt
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 1   Exhibit 18, the right-hand side identified as the
  

 2   conceptual site plan as page 2 of Exhibit A?
  

 3                 MEMBER FANT:  So moved.
  

 4                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?  Now we
  

 6   amend.
  

 7                 So it would be, first one I guess we got to
  

 8   change -- correct the spelling of Baccara.
  

 9                 MR. DAVIES:  I'd like to suggest we just
  

10   remove the images of the data centers entirely.  Where it
  

11   says turbine, there's four locations where it says
  

12   turbine, we add four turbines, two turbines, four
  

13   turbines, four turbines, et cetera, to be very clear
  

14   because that came up earlier is this one turbine or four
  

15   or two.  So we will call out in each, wherever it says
  

16   turbine we will be clear in calling out is it two
  

17   turbines in that box, is it four turbines in that box.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So the first would be to --
  

19   okay.  Correct the spelling.  Remove the data center
  

20   detail so it would resemble, was it R27?  Let's pull that
  

21   up real quick.  So that would be everything to the west
  

22   of the actual project would be hashed.  And just kind of
  

23   say generically data center.
  

24                 MR. DAVIES:  Yep.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  And then for the
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 1   project site, for the project itself where it says
  

 2   turbine, denote the number of turbines.
  

 3                 MR. MOYES:  There's five boxes which say
  

 4   turbines.  The top two we will amend to say four
  

 5   turbines, the middle box we'll amend to say two turbines.
  

 6   And the bottom two boxes we will amend to say four
  

 7   turbines.  And that will total to the 18 turbines
  

 8   discussed.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We need to change that --
  

10   Mr. Moyes.
  

11                 MR. MOYES:  We will also correspondingly
  

12   relabel on the legend the APS 230 line, CEC 198.
  

13                 MEMBER FONTES:  Suggest you label APS on
  

14   the sub, where the ED7 points of interconnection are.
  

15                 MR. MOYES:  Mr. Davies, do we have the
  

16   level of engineering capable of identifying exactly where
  

17   the ED7 points would be in order to put them into this
  

18   type of map?
  

19                 MEMBER FONTES:  We don't need a single line
  

20   diagram, but an orientation for the public for other
  

21   purposes.
  

22                 MR. DAVIES:  We will put some additional
  

23   detail on here showing where the -- approximately where
  

24   the ED7 distribution system will go, including the GIS
  

25   switchgear which we reviewed in the single-line diagram.
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 1                 MEMBER FONTES:  Demarcations that conform
  

 2   to the descriptions, just so you've got a defined
  

 3   boundary for your project, so you're tight.
  

 4                 MR. DAVIES:  We can add a lot more detail
  

 5   than this, you know, on the understanding it is still
  

 6   conceptual at this point, but --
  

 7                 MEMBER FONTES:  I understand.
  

 8                 MR. DAVIES:  -- I can I assure you that we
  

 9   have much more detailed diagrams than this.  This is not
  

10   what we put in our ECP RFP.
  

11                 MEMBER FONTES:  We don't need a single line
  

12   diagram, but we need enough to get there.  You got the
  

13   intent.  I'm pretty confident you'll get there.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I guess you want to --
  

15                 MR. DAVIES:  What -- may I propose that
  

16   what we put together will be no less detailed than what
  

17   we just discussed.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  We're going to
  

19   go through that little -- so this one I guess for the
  

20   legend we'd also remove the features that relate to the
  

21   data center.
  

22                 MR. DAVIES:  Correct.  We can do that.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then I guess the thing
  

24   is for the transmission lines, we've got the ownership
  

25   established on page 1 of Exhibit A.  And this we're
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 1   calling both existing transmission lines.
  

 2                 MR. MCKESSON:  That's adequate for the --
  

 3   this one's focused more on the project itself.
  

 4                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yeah.  I'm not sure that we
  

 5   need to, since it's in the first page of the exhibit.
  

 6   Those transmission lines.  I'm not sure we need to do
  

 7   anything more than put existing transmission lines.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, so we don't need to
  

 9   update this for the ownership; right?
  

10                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I don't think so.
  

11   Personally I don't think so.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  So we don't need to
  

13   add, just leave it there against the previous one.  But
  

14   for this one you want to add APS to the substation;
  

15   correct?  Is what you're saying, Member Fontes?
  

16                 MEMBER FONTES:  I think so because it's not
  

17   constructed yet.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It's also
  

19   non-jurisdictional.
  

20                 You were saying you wanted to show the
  

21   demarcation between ED7 and the project?
  

22                 MEMBER FONTES:  Correct.  If they could put
  

23   some sort of note in that substation where that POI is
  

24   going to be into the ED7 side.  Just a note.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  How is it going to
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 1   interconnect?  I guess it will just spur right off that
  

 2   230kV line, but that's -- I'm not seeing a line coming
  

 3   from the transmission line to the substation anywhere.
  

 4   Am I missing it or --
  

 5                 MR. DAVIES:  No.  It is not currently shown
  

 6   in there.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We don't -- it's less than
  

 8   a mile long, so we won't even site it.  I guess anywhere
  

 9   in the right-of-way that APS can get from their line to
  

10   your substation will be fine.
  

11                 MR. DAVIES:  Correct.  They will mostly --
  

12   they will be cutting in on the east side of what's
  

13   described there as the substation yard.  And then we
  

14   anticipate in the southwest corner is where we'll be
  

15   pulling out on the 34.5, and it will essentially run
  

16   underground between what is demarcated there as the data
  

17   center and the turbine yards.  So there's a number of
  

18   underground conduits that will be moving the 34.5 from
  

19   the substation yard down to the turbines on the east and
  

20   the data centers on the west.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We're not putting that on
  

22   the map, are we?
  

23                 MR. DAVIES:  It depends how detailed you
  

24   want it.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, I think this is for
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 1   more big picture, because we're not siting any of the
  

 2   34kV; right?
  

 3                 MR. MOYES:  We're not.
  

 4                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I don't think --
  

 5                 MR. MOYES:  We're already well beyond the
  

 6   level of detail of previous maps; right, or power plants
  

 7   for simple exhibits to the CEC.
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yep.
  

 9                 MEMBER FONTES:  My observation was just get
  

10   it close to the description.  If the members feel that
  

11   that's a little too detailed, I'm good.  But as close as
  

12   we can get it to the description so you use it for the
  

13   public, for financing, for other purposes, I think it
  

14   meets the intent.
  

15                 MR. DAVIES:  Thank you.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  Now that it's clear
  

17   as mud, let's go through what the page 2 is going to be
  

18   again.
  

19                 The starting point is going to be this
  

20   conceptual site plan from Exhibit 18, which is the
  

21   placemat.  So that's been moved and seconded.
  

22                 So now we need an amendment to do these
  

23   following changes.  The first will be to change Bacarra
  

24   to B-a-c-c-a-r-a instead of B-a-c-a-r-r-a in the corner
  

25   description.
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 1                 Remove the data center details.  Pretty
  

 2   much everything west of the project itself would just be
  

 3   hashed and say "data center."
  

 4                 And then Mr. Davies had proposed, I guess
  

 5   they're called power islands, aren't they?  The different
  

 6   pads you're talking about?
  

 7                 MR. DAVIES:  Seems as good of a name as
  

 8   any.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So you have -- there's five
  

10   of them so you're just -- the first, the square, it says
  

11   turbine, it would say 4 turbines, then it would say 4
  

12   turbines, and then 2 turbines, and then 4 turbines and 4
  

13   turbines.  Correct?
  

14                 MR. DAVIES:  Correct.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  The layout.  Okay.
  

16                 And then add to where it says substation
  

17   yard, just APS substation yard.
  

18                 And then remove whatever data center
  

19   features are in the legend because they're no longer
  

20   relevant.
  

21                 Is that everything or did I miss something?
  

22                 MEMBER FONTES:  You want it titled Map?
  

23   Project Baccara Map?
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, it's going to be the
  

25   conceptual site plan.
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 1                 MEMBER FONTES:  Okay.
  

 2                 MEMBER FANT:  And Roman, correct me if I'm
  

 3   wrong, did you want something in the southwest corner of
  

 4   the potential -- or the future substation saying ED7
  

 5   interconnection or something like that?
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We don't site the
  

 7   distribution stuff, so we don't even site the substation.
  

 8   It's just more -- we don't -- I think just for
  

 9   informational purpose of where they can expect to see it
  

10   from the layout of the site, but it's not -- I mean,
  

11   technically I think they could, this is just like a
  

12   conceptual, they could significantly deviate from this
  

13   layout in final design without having to amend the CEC is
  

14   what I see.
  

15                 MEMBER FONTES:  I had offered it because it
  

16   was in the description, but I'm not steadfast on it, just
  

17   a recap.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, I think we just put
  

19   it in the description, so when the Commission looks at it
  

20   they're not, how is this working?
  

21                 MEMBER FONTES:  Where's the ED7, from the
  

22   public and then you start doing noise mitigations and
  

23   stuff, and they're going to look at a map, so --
  

24                 MR. DAVIES:  What I suggest we'll do is
  

25   we'll amend to put some lines down what is the west side
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 1   of the turbines there and just make it very clear here's
  

 2   a line, it connects to the substation, it connects to all
  

 3   the turbines, and then it connects west to the data
  

 4   center.  So it would be very conceptual, but you'll
  

 5   basically have a line running north-south, stubbing into
  

 6   all of those.  And we'll label that as ED7 so it's clear
  

 7   that this is what ties everything together.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  That's the
  

 9   motion.  Can I get someone to make it?
  

10                 MEMBER FANT:  So moved.
  

11                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

13                 (No audible response.)
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

15                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

17                 (No audible response.)
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

19   to page 2 of Exhibit A is adopted.
  

20                 So I guess now we have a motion to adopt
  

21   Exhibit A as amended with both -- for both pages.
  

22                 MEMBER MERCER:  So moved.
  

23                 MEMBER FANT:  Second.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

25                 (No audible response.)
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

 2                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 4                 (No audible response.)
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Exhibit A as
  

 6   amended is adopted.
  

 7                 All right.  I think we're ready to move the
  

 8   certificate as amended.  Is there anything else we need
  

 9   to do to it before we vote on the certificate?
  

10                 (No audible response.)
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Can I get a motion to adopt
  

12   the certificate as amended?
  

13                 MEMBER MERCER:  So moved.
  

14                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?  We'll
  

16   do a roll call vote.
  

17                 Member Kryder.
  

18                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Yes.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Mercer.
  

20                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I prepared a
  

21   small statement.  I would like to read it.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Please do.
  

23                 MEMBER MERCER:  First of all, I want to
  

24   thank the applicant for their outstanding preparation and
  

25   for educating me on both the natural gas generators and
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 1   the data center technology.  It was extremely helpful to
  

 2   me.
  

 3                 I also want to acknowledge the residents
  

 4   who shared their concerns about visual impacts, noise,
  

 5   safety and the rural character of their community.  These
  

 6   concerns are genuine and deserve respect.
  

 7                 From an economic standpoint the evidence in
  

 8   this record shows that this project will provide
  

 9   meaningful benefits including construction jobs,
  

10   increased local spending and long-term tax revenue that
  

11   supports the schools, emergency services and county
  

12   infrastructure.
  

13                 The project also strengthens grid
  

14   reliability, which is essential for current and future
  

15   economic development in this region.
  

16                 While no project is without impact, the
  

17   applicant has incorporated modern 21st century
  

18   technologies and mitigations that reduce those impacts to
  

19   the greatest extent reasonable.
  

20                 Based on the economic benefits, the
  

21   technological evidence presented, and the commitments to
  

22   minimize negative community effects, I vote yes.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

24                 Member Fontes.
  

25                 MEMBER FONTES:  Yes.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant.
  

 2                 MEMBER FANT:  Short statement, Mr. Chair.
  

 3   First --
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Certainly.
  

 5                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you to the applicant,
  

 6   the consultants, and consultant's attorney for their
  

 7   professionalism.  German playwright Friedrich Schiller
  

 8   said (speaking in German), which means in English, "Go
  

 9   with the times or the times will go without you."  I'm
  

10   going with the times.  I'm voting yes.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little.
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, I also have a
  

13   statement but I can't see it.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  The power's not out because
  

15   all the monitors are still on and we're broadcasting.
  

16   It's something to do with the lights of the room.
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I got -- oh, good.
  

18                 This project has been a tough call for me.
  

19   I've read everything that was provided, application,
  

20   everything filed in the docket.  Listened carefully to
  

21   all the testimony, and public comment.  I paid close
  

22   attention when on our field trip.  The engineer in me is
  

23   excited and impressed by the concept and the design.  I
  

24   think the applicant has done a great job of explaining
  

25   the needs and changes the industry is facing as well as
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 1   their approach to dealing with these challenges.  I
  

 2   concur with a lot of what Member Mercer said.
  

 3                 However, my job on this committee is to do
  

 4   more than to evaluate the engineering merits of the
  

 5   project, the logistical merits of the location and the
  

 6   fact that the applicant has checked all the boxes, which
  

 7   they have done, cannot be the only consideration in our
  

 8   evaluation of these projects.  The environment is more
  

 9   than just the animals and the grass and all of that, it
  

10   also is the people.
  

11                 I represent the public, and I do not
  

12   believe that this is a good location for the project.
  

13   The air quality issues in the area concern me immensely.
  

14   This is already a non-attainment zone.  I don't care
  

15   whether pollution has come from Mexico or whether it's
  

16   comes from cars in this area, it's there.  And I think to
  

17   add a power plant into this populated area is not the
  

18   right move.
  

19                 I have some concerns about the arrangement
  

20   with ED7.  The APS, the balancing authority has not been
  

21   present or hardly mentioned at all in this hearing.
  

22   While I really think the project is a great one, I do not
  

23   believe that the merits of the project or the need for
  

24   this project in this location outweigh the burden to the
  

25   public and I therefore vote no.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Drago.
  

 2                 MEMBER DRAGO:  I vote aye.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member French.  He's on
  

 4   there.  I see him.
  

 5                 MEMBER FRENCH:  I vote aye, Mr. Chairman.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

 7                 Member Comstock.
  

 8                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  I vote aye.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member DiCiccio.
  

10                 (No audible response.)
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I vote aye.  By a vote of
  

12   eight ayes and one nay, the CEC is granted.
  

13                 (Reporter clarification.)
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  No, I did not hear him.
  

15   There's -- I don't see him on here either.  Member
  

16   French, Member Comstock were online.
  

17                 So by a vote of eight ayes and one nay, the
  

18   certificate is granted.
  

19                 Can I get a motion to allow the Chair to
  

20   correct scrivener's grammatical errors --
  

21                 MEMBER FANT:  So moved.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- put in appropriate
  

23   Oxford commas and such to the certificate and sign it
  

24   before filing with the Commission?
  

25                 MEMBER FANT:  So moved.
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 1                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 3                 (No audible response.)
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say "aye."
  

 5                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 7                 (No audible response.)
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Motion carries.
  

 9                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

11                 MEMBER LITTLE:  May I take a moment to
  

12   thank the applicant.  It's been a great experience in
  

13   learning about the project, what you've done.  Your
  

14   presentations were all really good.  I have been in your
  

15   shoes.  I know how hard it can be.  And I appreciate
  

16   that.  And thank you to the court reporter and thank you
  

17   to Peaks.  Without you, we couldn't do this.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, thank you to the
  

19   applicant and the court reporter as always, we make her
  

20   life difficult, but certainly interesting, I'd like to
  

21   think.  The applicant and of course Peaks, we couldn't do
  

22   this without you.  But this was an interesting case.  I
  

23   think it's first of its kind where we're seeing this sort
  

24   of arrangement between the generator and the load.
  

25                 The data center boom is upon us, and it's
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 1   going to come down to how we're going to address it.
  

 2   This certainly is a new approach.  I understand the
  

 3   concerns with the air quality, but when they put it in
  

 4   terms of not adding data centers, the effect on the
  

 5   economy compared to not siting gas and propane-fueled
  

 6   plants but instead replace them all with diesel, that
  

 7   prospect seemed infinitely worse.
  

 8                 So we shall see how this goes.  I'm
  

 9   interested, we learned a lot from this.  I think we
  

10   learned a lot more about data centers than anything else
  

11   with this hearing.  So I do appreciate that.  Thank you
  

12   all very much.
  

13                 With that, we are adjourned.
  

14                 (Proceedings concluded at 2:29 p.m.)
  

15
  

16
  

17
  

18
  

19
  

20
  

21
  

22
  

23
  

24
  

25

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 253     VOLUME IV     12/04/2025 881

  
  

 1   STATE OF ARIZONA       )
                          )

 2   COUNTY OF MARICOPA     )
  

 3        BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceedings were
   taken before me; that the foregoing pages are a full,

 4   true, and accurate record of the proceedings, all done to
   the best of my skill and ability; that the proceedings

 5   were taken down by me in shorthand and thereafter reduced
   to print under my direction.

 6
        I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to any of the

 7   parties hereto nor am I in any way interested in the
   outcome hereof.

 8
        I CERTIFY that I have complied with the ethical

 9   obligations set forth in ACJA 7-206(F)(3) and
   ACJA 7-206(J)(1)(g)(1) and (2).

10
        Dated at Phoenix, Arizona, December 9, 2025.

11
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15                   Arizona Certified Reporter
                           No. 50885

16
  

17
  

18        I CERTIFY that GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC, has
   complied with the ethical obligations set forth in

19   ACJA 7-206(J)(1)(g)(1) through (6).
  

20
  

21
  

22
  

23               __________________________________
                GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC

24                    Arizona Registered Firm
                           No. R1035

25

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ


	Index
	 Number Index
	1
	1 (44)
	1.5 (2)
	10 (17)
	10-year (1)
	100 (3)
	10:23 (1)
	10:38 (1)
	11 (4)
	12 (7)
	12-foot (1)
	12-volt (1)
	120 (1)
	12:04 (1)
	13 (8)
	13-foot (1)
	14 (11)
	15 (8)
	15-minute (2)
	151st (1)
	16 (5)
	160 (4)
	17 (15)
	18 (8)
	19 (4)
	198 (6)
	19a (1)
	19b (4)
	1:06 (1)

	2
	2 (41)
	2,520,000 (3)
	2-ish (1)
	20 (6)
	20-foot (1)
	20-something (1)
	2027 (1)
	21 (4)
	21st (1)
	22 (3)
	23 (6)
	230 (2)
	230kV (6)
	233 (1)
	24 (4)
	248 (2)
	25 (7)
	250 (2)
	26 (4)
	27 (7)
	28 (7)
	29 (6)
	2:29 (1)

	3
	3 (11)
	30 (22)
	30-foot (1)
	300 (1)
	34.5 (2)
	34.5kV (1)
	34kV (1)
	35 (5)
	37 (1)
	38.9 (1)
	382 (1)
	3b (1)
	3e (1)

	4
	4 (20)
	40 (2)
	40-360.13 (1)
	45,000- (1)

	5
	5 (7)
	50 (1)
	50-foot (2)
	500 (2)
	500s (1)
	540 (1)

	6
	6 (13)
	69kV (7)

	7
	7 (12)
	700 (7)
	700.2 (4)
	702 (2)
	702-megawatt (1)
	708 (1)

	8
	8 (4)
	888 (1)

	9
	9 (3)
	90 (1)
	90,000 (1)
	90,000-gallon (1)
	90-day(1)


	$
	$20 (1)
	$30 (1)

	'
	'at' (1)

	A
	abandon (1)
	abbreviated (2)
	abide (3)
	abided (1)
	able (5)
	above (4)
	absent (1)
	absolutely (3)
	ACC (1)
	accept (5)
	acceptable (5)
	access (1)
	accident (1)
	accomplish (2)
	accomplished (1)
	accurate (2)
	accurately (1)
	accuse (1)
	acknowledge (1)
	acknowledged (1)
	acknowledging (1)
	acre (3)
	acres (8)
	action (2)
	actions (2)
	active (3)
	activities (6)
	actual (10)
	actually (20)
	add (39)
	added (14)
	adding (5)
	addition (4)
	additional (9)
	additions (1)
	address (12)
	addressed (2)
	addresses (2)
	addressing (3)
	adequate (3)
	adequately (2)
	adjacent (6)
	adjourned (1)
	adjudicate (1)
	administrative (1)
	adopt (22)
	adopted (51)
	adult (1)
	adverse (1)
	advocate (2)
	ADWR (1)
	affected (1)
	aforementioned (1)
	again (19)
	against (2)
	agencies (14)
	agency (2)
	AGFD (1)
	agree (19)
	agreed (1)
	agreement (50)
	agreements (7)
	agrees (4)
	agricultural (1)
	Agua (1)
	ahead (6)
	AHJ (1)
	aid (10)
	aid-type (1)
	aids (1)
	Air (8)
	alleviate (1)
	alleviated (1)
	allow (2)
	allows (1)
	alluded (1)
	almost (8)
	along (3)
	although (1)
	always (6)
	AMA (5)
	ambulance (1)
	AMD (1)
	amend (41)
	amendatory (1)
	amended (40)
	amending (2)
	amendment (49)
	amendment's (1)
	amendments (5)
	America (1)
	amount (8)
	amounts (4)
	ample (1)
	And/or (4)
	animals (1)
	annex (2)
	annexation (3)
	annexed (6)
	annual (7)
	annually (2)
	anticipate (9)
	anticipation (1)
	anymore (3)
	apiece (1)
	Apologies (1)
	appears (4)
	applicable (13)
	applicant (96)
	applicant's (5)
	applicants (5)
	application (23)
	applications (1)
	applied (2)
	applies (1)
	apply (6)
	appreciate (5)
	appreciative (1)
	approach (6)
	approaches (1)
	appropriate (20)
	approval (22)
	approve (4)
	approved (7)
	approves (1)
	approximately (5)
	APS (45)
	APS-owned (2)
	aquifer (1)
	archaic (1)
	area (22)
	areas (3)
	argue (6)
	argued (1)
	argument (1)
	arguments (2)
	arising (1)
	Arizona (8)
	around (13)
	arrangement (2)
	arrive (1)
	ARS (1)
	aside (2)
	asset (1)
	assets (1)
	associated (2)
	Association (1)
	assume (1)
	assuming (2)
	assure (1)
	at' (1)
	attached (4)
	attaching (1)
	attempt (9)
	attempted (1)
	attention (1)
	attorney (3)
	attorney's (1)
	attorneys (1)
	audible (112)
	authorities (7)
	authority (7)
	AV (1)
	availability (1)
	available (3)
	Avenue (1)
	avenues (1)
	avoid (1)
	aware (3)
	aye (65)
	ayes (61)

	B
	B-a-c-a-r-r-a (1)
	B-a-c-c-a-r-a (1)
	Bacarra (1)
	Baccara (16)
	back (42)
	backed (1)
	background (1)
	backup (2)
	balance (1)
	balancing (2)
	bare (3)
	barrel (1)
	Base (5)
	based (9)
	basically (7)
	batteries (1)
	battery (3)
	Beals (7)
	Beals' (1)
	beautifies (1)
	becomes (2)
	begin (1)
	beginning (2)
	begins (1)
	behalf (2)
	behind (2)
	behind-the-meter (1)
	believes (1)
	Bella (14)
	belly (2)
	belts (1)
	benefit (1)
	benefits (4)
	berm (3)
	best (10)
	better (16)
	beyond (8)
	big (6)
	bigger (1)
	biggest (1)
	Bill (1)
	bind (7)
	binding (4)
	Bingo (2)
	bit (3)
	black (21)
	black-start (1)
	blank (1)
	blanket (1)
	blast (1)
	blend (2)
	blended (1)
	blending (3)
	block (14)
	blow (5)
	board (4)
	boat (1)
	Bonner (1)
	boom (1)
	border (1)
	both (15)
	bottom (4)
	Boundaries (1)
	boundary (16)
	box (4)
	boxes (3)
	Boy (2)
	brains (1)
	break (2)
	brewery (2)
	bring (4)
	broad (2)
	broadcasting (1)
	broader (6)
	brought (1)
	build (4)
	building (8)
	buildings (12)
	built (2)
	Bumstead (1)
	bunch (2)
	burden (1)
	burn (3)
	business (3)
	butane (2)
	butt (1)

	C
	c's (2)
	C-3 (1)
	call (16)
	called (4)
	calling (3)
	callout (1)
	came (5)
	can (130)
	Canyon (1)
	cap (3)
	capability (2)
	capable (1)
	capacity (23)
	Capitalized (2)
	capture (1)
	captured (2)
	capturing (1)
	car (2)
	care (7)
	careful (4)
	carefully (2)
	carries (1)
	cars (1)
	case (20)
	cases (5)
	cash (1)
	cast (3)
	casts (1)
	catch (2)
	cathodic (5)
	cause (1)
	caused (1)
	CEC (39)
	CECs (7)
	center (42)
	center's (2)
	centers (9)
	century (1)
	CEO (2)
	certain (5)
	certainly (6)
	certainty (3)
	certificate (25)
	cetera (8)
	chain-link (1)
	Chair (27)
	Chairman (104)
	Chairman's (26)
	challenge (1)
	challenges (1)
	change (21)
	changed (7)
	changes (8)
	changing (5)
	character (1)
	check (1)
	checked (1)
	checking (2)
	chemicals (3)
	CHMN (753)
	choose (2)
	chores (1)
	chorus (58)
	circle (2)
	circuits (1)
	circumstance (1)
	circumstances (1)
	cite (1)
	cities (4)
	citizens (1)
	citrus (1)
	City (42)
	City's (1)
	clarification (4)
	clarify (5)
	clarity (3)
	Class (1)
	cleaner (1)
	clear (17)
	clearer (1)
	client (2)
	close (7)
	close-up (1)
	closer (1)
	closest (1)
	cluster (6)
	coal (1)
	code (1)
	Codes (1)
	collection (1)
	collocated (4)
	collocation (1)
	color (7)
	combine (1)
	combined (1)
	comfortable (4)
	coming (8)
	comma (1)
	commas (1)
	commend (1)
	comment (7)
	comment-type (1)
	comments (2)
	Commission (35)
	Commission's (2)
	commit (4)
	commitments (1)
	commits (2)
	committed (3)
	committee (36)
	committee's (3)
	committing (3)
	common (4)
	communications (1)
	community (19)
	companies (1)
	compared (1)
	compatibility (3)
	compatible (1)
	compel (1)
	compensation (1)
	complete (2)
	completed (3)
	completely (4)
	completion (2)
	complexity (1)
	compliance (10)
	complicate (1)
	complied (1)
	comply (21)
	components (2)
	comprehensive (1)
	compression (1)
	comprised (1)
	COMSTOCK (23)
	concept (2)
	conceptual (11)
	concern (9)
	concerned (4)
	concerns (5)
	concluded (1)
	Conclusion (11)
	Conclusions (4)
	concur (1)
	condition (141)
	conditioning (1)
	conditions (21)
	conduct (1)
	conducting (1)
	conductor (1)
	conduits (1)
	confer (1)
	confident (1)
	confidential (1)
	confirm (3)
	conform (1)
	conforms (1)
	confused (1)
	confusion (1)
	conjunction (1)
	conjunctive (1)
	connect (2)
	connected (9)
	connecting (2)
	connection (1)
	connects (6)
	consequences (1)
	consider (18)
	consideration (4)
	consist (2)
	consistency (1)
	consistent (8)
	consolidate (1)
	constituents (1)
	constraints (1)
	construct (2)
	constructed (2)
	construction (11)
	consult (2)
	consultant's (1)
	consultants (1)
	consultation (1)
	consulting (1)
	contained (6)
	context (1)
	continue (4)
	Continuing (2)
	continuous (1)
	contract (1)
	contracting (1)
	contractors (1)
	contractual (3)
	contribute (2)
	contributions (3)
	control (7)
	conversation (5)
	conversations (1)
	conversion (1)
	convert (1)
	Coolidge (2)
	cooperate (1)
	cooperation (2)
	cooperative (1)
	coordinate (2)
	coordination (1)
	Copia (1)
	copied (1)
	Copies (1)
	Copper (1)
	copy (7)
	corner (4)
	corners (1)
	corporation (1)
	corrections (1)
	correspondingly (1)
	cost (3)
	costs (3)
	couched (1)
	counsel (1)
	counsels (1)
	counted (2)
	counties (1)
	County (53)
	County's (1)
	couple (11)
	course (7)
	court (2)
	cover (3)
	covered (3)
	covers (1)
	CP (1)
	create (5)
	creating (2)
	creatively (1)
	credit (2)
	criterion (1)
	critical (1)
	crosshatching (1)
	cubic (1)
	cubic-inch (1)
	curious (1)
	current (7)
	currently (6)
	customer (1)
	customers (1)
	cut (2)
	cutting (1)

	D
	Dam (1)
	dark (1)
	data (54)
	date (3)
	dates (1)
	Davies (187)
	DAVIS (1)
	day (4)
	days (5)
	deal (9)
	dealing (3)
	dealt (1)
	debate (1)
	debating (1)
	decibel (2)
	decide (2)
	decision (2)
	decisions (2)
	decommissioned (1)
	decommissioning (1)
	deem (1)
	deemed (1)
	deep (1)
	defer (1)
	deference (1)
	define (2)
	defined (4)
	definitely (2)
	definition (3)
	definitions (1)
	definitive (1)
	Delaney (1)
	delayed (1)
	delays (1)
	deliberations (1)
	delivered (2)
	delivery (3)
	demarcated (1)
	demarcation (2)
	demarcations (2)
	demonstrate (1)
	demonstrates (1)
	denote (1)
	dense (1)
	density (1)
	department (1)
	departments (3)
	depend (2)
	depending (5)
	depends (1)
	depiction (3)
	depictions (1)
	depletion (1)
	depth (1)
	describe (3)
	described (9)
	description (43)
	descriptions (2)
	descriptive (2)
	deserve (1)
	design (6)
	designed (1)
	designs (1)
	desperately (1)
	Despite (3)
	detail (15)
	detailed (7)
	details (4)
	determination (1)
	determine (1)
	determined (1)
	develop (5)
	development (1)
	deviate (1)
	diagram (3)
	diagrams (1)
	DiCiccio (3)
	dictate (2)
	diesel (19)
	diesel-generated (1)
	difference (2)
	different (24)
	differentiate (1)
	differently (1)
	difficult (1)
	difficulties (2)
	direct (1)
	directed (1)
	direction (4)
	directives (1)
	directly (4)
	disagree (4)
	discretion (1)
	discuss (4)
	discussed (3)
	discussing (1)
	discussion (105)
	discussions (1)
	disjunctive (1)
	disposal (1)
	dispute (1)
	disputed (1)
	disputes (2)
	distracted (1)
	distribution (9)
	district (11)
	districts (3)
	disturbed (1)
	docket (2)
	document (10)
	documented (2)
	dollar (4)
	dollars (5)
	donate (1)
	done (19)
	door (4)
	double (1)
	down (13)
	draft (5)
	DRAGO (3)
	drive (1)
	driving (2)
	drop (1)
	dropping (1)
	dual (16)
	dual-fuel (1)
	dual-fuelled (1)
	due (3)
	duty (1)
	Dysart (1)

	E
	Eagle (2)
	earlier (3)
	early (3)
	easier (2)
	easily (1)
	east (3)
	easy (1)
	economic (3)
	economical (1)
	economy (1)
	ECP (1)
	ED (2)
	ED-7 (1)
	ED5 (2)
	ED7 (45)
	ED7's (3)
	edge (6)
	educating (1)
	education (1)
	effect (2)
	effective (1)
	effectively (1)
	effects (4)
	effluent (1)
	effort (2)
	efforts (3)
	eg (3)
	eight (4)
	either (10)
	El (6)
	elaborate (1)
	electric (3)
	electrical (7)
	element (1)
	elements (1)
	else (14)
	else's (1)
	elsewhere (1)
	emergency (17)
	emissions (2)
	emphasize (1)
	encompasses (1)
	encountered (1)
	end (10)
	ends (3)
	engage (5)
	engagement (3)
	engine (2)
	engineer (2)
	engineering (8)
	engineers (5)
	engines (1)
	English (2)
	enough (8)
	Ensure (2)
	entail (1)
	entailed (1)
	entire (4)
	entirely (1)
	entirety (6)
	entities (2)
	entity (8)
	enumerated (1)
	environment (2)
	environmental (3)
	EPCOR (4)
	equal (1)
	equipment (7)
	errors (2)
	especially (3)
	essential (1)
	essentially (2)
	established (2)
	establishing (2)
	et (8)
	evacuation (1)
	evaluate (1)
	evaluating (1)
	evaluation (1)
	even (29)
	eventual (1)
	eventually (10)
	everybody (1)
	evidence (2)
	exact (3)
	exactly (5)
	example (8)
	Excellent (10)
	except (1)
	exception (2)
	excited (1)
	exclusively (1)
	Excuse (3)
	executed (2)
	exercise (2)
	Exhibit (37)
	exhibits (6)
	exist (1)
	existing (17)
	expand (5)
	expands (3)
	expansion (3)
	expect (8)
	expects (1)
	expenses (1)
	experience (6)
	experiencing (1)
	expertise (1)
	expiration (1)
	explain (1)
	explained (1)
	explaining (1)
	export (2)
	express (1)
	extend (4)
	extending (1)
	extension (1)
	extent (4)
	extra (2)
	extract (1)
	extremely (1)
	eye (3)

	F
	faced (1)
	facilitate (1)
	facilities (14)
	facility (15)
	facing (1)
	fact (23)
	factors (1)
	facts (1)
	fairly (1)
	fairness (1)
	faith (2)
	familiar (1)
	FANT (81)
	Fant's (1)
	far (3)
	fashion (1)
	fast (1)
	favor (59)
	feasible (2)
	features (2)
	fed (1)
	federal (2)
	feedback (9)
	feel (11)
	feelings (1)
	feels (3)
	feet (5)
	fellow (1)
	fence (3)
	FERC (3)
	few (2)
	fiberoptic (1)
	field (1)
	figure (7)
	file (2)
	filed (2)
	filing (6)
	final (2)
	finalize (1)
	finalized (1)
	finance (1)
	financial (1)
	financier (1)
	financiers (1)
	financing (3)
	find (2)
	Finding (14)
	Findings (3)
	fine (24)
	fire (13)
	fired (5)
	fired/propane (1)
	firm (2)
	first (25)
	Fish (3)
	five (2)
	five-nine (2)
	fix (2)
	fixed (2)
	flammable (1)
	flat (1)
	flip (1)
	flipping (1)
	flood (1)
	flows (1)
	fluffy (2)
	fly (2)
	focus (6)
	focused (1)
	focusing (3)
	follow (3)
	follow-up (1)
	following (2)
	FONTES (96)
	foolishness (1)
	Force (1)
	form (3)
	formally (4)
	former (1)
	forth (3)
	forum (1)
	forums (2)
	forward (3)
	found (1)
	four (15)
	frame (2)
	framework (3)
	Frankly (1)
	French (10)
	Fria (1)
	Friedrich (1)
	friendly (1)
	fringes (1)
	front (6)
	fronting (1)
	fuel (18)
	fuelled (2)
	fuels (6)
	full (2)
	function (1)
	functional (1)
	funky (1)
	Further (89)
	future (2)

	G
	Gabby (1)
	gallon (2)
	gallons (3)
	Game (2)
	garbage (1)
	gas (33)
	gas-fired (1)
	gather (1)
	gathering (1)
	gave (2)
	gear (1)
	gen-ties (1)
	general (5)
	generally (1)
	generate (1)
	generation (17)
	generator (20)
	generators (19)
	generic (2)
	generically (1)
	genuine (1)
	German (2)
	gets (3)
	giant (1)
	Gilbert (2)
	GIS (1)
	given (6)
	gives (4)
	giving (2)
	Glendale (26)
	goal (3)
	goals (1)
	goes (7)
	Good (26)
	goodness (1)
	Gotcha (1)
	governing (1)
	Grace (1)
	grammatical (2)
	grant (2)
	granted (2)
	grants (1)
	graphic (2)
	grass (1)
	Great (8)
	greater (2)
	greatest (1)
	grid (2)
	Griffith (1)
	ground (1)
	groundwater (5)
	group (12)
	groups (1)
	grove (1)
	guarantee (1)
	guess (51)
	guidance (2)
	guy (5)
	guys (3)

	H
	half (5)
	hand (2)
	handcuffing (1)
	handle (1)
	handling (5)
	hands (3)
	Hang (1)
	happen (5)
	happened (3)
	happening (3)
	happens (2)
	happily (1)
	happy (9)
	hard (5)
	hardly (1)
	Harquahala (3)
	hash (1)
	hashed (4)
	hate (2)
	hazardous (3)
	head (2)
	hear (8)
	heard (5)
	Hearing (64)
	hearings (2)
	heart (1)
	heartburn (2)
	heavy (1)
	height (2)
	held (1)
	helicopters (3)
	hell (1)
	help (1)
	helped (1)
	helpful (7)
	helps (2)
	here's (6)
	hey (8)
	high (1)
	higher (3)
	highest (1)
	highlighted (1)
	highly (2)
	HILL (113)
	hired (1)
	Hmm (1)
	hmmm (3)
	HoldCo (1)
	holistically (1)
	homes (3)
	Hoover (2)
	hope (1)
	hopefully (1)
	horrible (1)
	horsepower (1)
	hour (1)
	hours (1)
	house (8)
	houses (2)
	housework (1)
	huh (1)
	hurdle (1)
	hurdles (1)
	hurt (1)
	hydrogen (14)
	hyphenated (2)

	I
	ideas (2)
	identified (2)
	identifies (1)
	identify (2)
	identifying (1)
	ignore (2)
	image (1)
	images (2)
	imagine (1)
	immediately (1)
	immensely (1)
	imminently (1)
	impact (29)
	impacts (33)
	implementations (1)
	implies (2)
	imply (1)
	important (4)
	impose (3)
	imposed (3)
	imposing (2)
	impossible (1)
	impressed (1)
	inapplicable (2)
	include (34)
	included (6)
	includes (2)
	including (9)
	incorporate (1)
	incorporated (2)
	incorporates (1)
	incorrect (1)
	increased (1)
	increases (1)
	indicate (2)
	indicates (1)
	individual (4)
	individuals (2)
	industrial-zoned (1)
	industry (5)
	infinitely (1)
	inform (1)
	information (12)
	informational (2)
	infrastructure (3)
	initial (4)
	initially (1)
	injury (1)
	input (7)
	inputs (1)
	insert (1)
	insights (1)
	inspected (1)
	installed (1)
	instance (4)
	instances (1)
	instead (7)
	insurance (2)
	Integrated (1)
	intend (2)
	intended (3)
	intent (4)
	intention (1)
	interact (1)
	interaction (1)
	interagency (1)
	interconnect (4)
	interconnected (3)
	interconnection (34)
	interest (3)
	interested (3)
	interesting (3)
	intermediary (2)
	interpreted (2)
	interrelate (1)
	intersections (1)
	intervened (2)
	into (24)
	introduce (2)
	introducing (1)
	introduction (3)
	involved (1)
	iPad (1)
	irresponsible (1)
	islands (1)
	isobutane (2)
	issue (4)
	issued (1)
	issues (2)
	issuing (1)
	items (3)

	J
	January (1)
	Jason (3)
	job (3)
	jobs (1)
	joint (6)
	jointly (1)
	Julie (1)
	jump (1)
	jumping (1)
	jurisdiction (17)
	jurisdictional (4)
	jurisdictions (3)
	Justice (2)
	Justices (1)
	Justus (14)

	K
	keep (4)
	key (1)
	kind (30)
	knowledge (1)
	known (1)
	knows (5)
	KRYDER (131)
	Kryder's (1)

	L
	label (7)
	labeled (1)
	labeling (2)
	labels (1)
	land (12)
	landowner (4)
	landowners (1)
	language (59)
	large (9)
	Larsen (1)
	last (4)
	late-filed (1)
	later (13)
	Latin (1)
	law (16)
	lawyers (1)
	laying (1)
	layout (4)
	leading (1)
	lean (1)
	learned (4)
	learning (2)
	lease (2)
	leasing (1)
	least (4)
	leave (10)
	leaving (2)
	left (10)
	legal (3)
	legend (17)
	legislation (1)
	lender (2)
	lender's (1)
	lenders (1)
	less (4)
	lessees (2)
	letter (11)
	letters (1)
	letting (1)
	level (6)
	levels (1)
	leverage (1)
	LGIA (2)
	LGIP (5)
	life (2)
	light (2)
	lights (1)
	liked (2)
	likely (3)
	likes (1)
	limit (1)
	limited (1)
	limits (1)
	line (50)
	lines (12)
	liquid (1)
	list (4)
	listed (2)
	Listened (1)
	Litchfield (1)
	LITTLE (211)
	LLC (3)
	load (13)
	Local (10)
	located (5)
	location (8)
	locations (5)
	lock (1)
	logistical (1)
	long (5)
	long-term (2)
	longer (4)
	look (26)
	looked (5)
	looking (35)
	looks (6)
	lost (1)
	lot (18)
	love (1)
	lower (2)
	Luke (2)
	lumping (1)
	lunch (2)

	M
	maintain (3)
	maintenance (1)
	major (1)
	majority (1)
	makes (12)
	making (6)
	man (2)
	management (11)
	mandate (2)
	mandates (1)
	mandating (2)
	manufacture (1)
	manufacturer (3)
	manufacturing (2)
	many (7)
	map (35)
	maps (3)
	Maricopa (20)
	mark (1)
	marked (1)
	marks (1)
	match (1)
	matches (1)
	matter (7)
	matters (1)
	maximize (2)
	maximum (1)
	May (49)
	Maybe (26)
	McCleod (1)
	MCKESSON (1)
	mean (30)
	meaning (2)
	meaningful (2)
	means (3)
	measure (4)
	measured (1)
	measures (6)
	meet (4)
	meeting (7)
	meetings (5)
	meets (3)
	megawatt (2)
	megawatts (13)
	Member (734)
	Members (15)
	members' (1)
	mention (6)
	mentioned (4)
	mentioning (1)
	MERCER (73)
	merely (2)
	merits (3)
	messing (1)
	met (1)
	meter (1)
	methane (1)
	Mexico (1)
	microphone (2)
	mid-construction (1)
	middle (3)
	might (16)
	mile (7)
	miles (2)
	military (2)
	million (8)
	mind (3)
	minds (1)
	mindset (2)
	minimize (8)
	minimum (6)
	minutes (1)
	Mirage (6)
	misperceptions (1)
	miss (1)
	missing (4)
	misspoke (1)
	mistaken (2)
	mitigate (17)
	mitigating (3)
	mitigation (30)
	mitigations (4)
	mix (1)
	models (1)
	modern (1)
	modifies (1)
	modify (3)
	modifying (1)
	moment (2)
	Monday (2)
	monetary (1)
	money (5)
	monitor (1)
	monitoring (1)
	monitors (1)
	months (2)
	moot (1)
	more (57)
	morning (3)
	most (8)
	mostly (1)
	motion (65)
	motor (1)
	move (58)
	moved (59)
	moves (1)
	moving (6)
	Moyes (184)
	Moyes' (2)
	much (18)
	mud (1)
	mull (1)
	multiple (2)
	municipalities (1)
	must (1)
	mutual (8)
	myopic (1)

	N
	name (8)
	name-plate (1)
	named (3)
	nameplate (12)
	narrowing (1)
	national (1)
	natural (26)
	nature (2)
	navigate (1)
	nay (2)
	nays (1)
	Near (4)
	nearby (1)
	necessarily (5)
	necessary (9)
	need (69)
	needed (2)
	needle (1)
	needs (13)
	negative (4)
	neighborhood (4)
	neighborhoods (6)
	neighboring (1)
	neighbors (10)
	net (3)
	Network (3)
	new (14)
	next (17)
	nice (2)
	night (2)
	nine (1)
	nine-day (1)
	NITS (14)
	nobody (3)
	nods (1)
	noise (8)
	nomenclature (1)
	non-attainment (1)
	non-jurisdictional (1)
	non-specular (1)
	none (53)
	nonjurisdictional (2)
	nonreflective (1)
	noon (1)
	nor (1)
	normal (2)
	normally (2)
	north (4)
	north-south (1)
	notation (1)
	note (3)
	noted (1)
	notes (1)
	notice (4)
	notices (1)
	notification (6)
	noting (1)
	notion (1)
	notions (1)
	nowhere (1)
	nuke (1)
	number (60)
	numbers (5)

	O
	object (3)
	objection (1)
	obligate (2)
	obligated (1)
	obligates (1)
	obligation (2)
	obscure (1)
	obscures (1)
	observation (2)
	observe (1)
	observing (1)
	obtain (3)
	obvious (1)
	obviously (2)
	occupy (2)
	OEM (4)
	off (11)
	off-site (1)
	off-taker (1)
	offer (6)
	offered (5)
	offering (3)
	officer (1)
	offline (1)
	often (2)
	oftentimes (1)
	old (1)
	older (3)
	on-site (19)
	once (7)
	One (124)
	one's (2)
	One-line (6)
	one-mile (4)
	ones (4)
	online (3)
	only (28)
	onto (2)
	open (6)
	open-ended (2)
	opening (1)
	opens (1)
	operate (4)
	operated (3)
	operates (1)
	operation (3)
	operational (1)
	operations (2)
	opine (1)
	opinion (4)
	opinions (1)
	opportunities (1)
	opportunity (2)
	oppose (1)
	Opposed (68)
	option (3)
	options (1)
	order (8)
	ordinance (2)
	organization (5)
	orientation (1)
	original (4)
	originally (3)
	other's (1)
	others (3)
	otherwise (7)
	ought (3)
	ourselves (1)
	out (77)
	outage (1)
	outlandish (1)
	outline (1)
	outlining (1)
	outreach (9)
	outside (2)
	outstanding (1)
	outweigh (2)
	over (25)
	overlap (1)
	overly (1)
	overspeak (1)
	own (7)
	owned (7)
	owner (5)
	ownership (8)
	owning (1)
	owns (1)
	Oxford (1)

	P
	pads (1)
	page (24)
	pages (3)
	paid (3)
	pain (1)
	Palo (1)
	paper (2)
	paragraph (6)
	parallel (1)
	parcel (1)
	paren (1)
	parentheses (2)
	parenthetical (1)
	parentheticals (1)
	park (2)
	parking (1)
	part (28)
	partially (1)
	participate (1)
	participating (4)
	particular (11)
	parties (5)
	partner (5)
	parts (2)
	pass (2)
	passed (3)
	passes (2)
	passing (1)
	past (4)
	paste (2)
	path (1)
	pause (1)
	pay (4)
	PDF (2)
	Peaks (2)
	pending (1)
	people (17)
	people's (1)
	Peoria (2)
	per (3)
	percent (1)
	percentage (1)
	perceptions (1)
	perform (1)
	performed (2)
	performing (2)
	perhaps (8)
	period (2)
	permit (7)
	permitable (2)
	permits (2)
	permitting (1)
	person (2)
	personally (3)
	perspective (9)
	pertains (1)
	petroleum (2)
	phase (11)
	phased-in (1)
	Phases (3)
	Phoenix (3)
	phrase (9)
	phrases (1)
	physical (2)
	physically (1)
	pick (2)
	picture (3)
	piece (1)
	pieces (1)
	Pima (1)
	Pinal (5)
	pipeline (7)
	pipelines (6)
	place (12)
	placemat (17)
	places (3)
	Plains (1)
	plan (39)
	planes (1)
	planned (1)
	planner (1)
	planning (4)
	plans (4)
	plant (33)
	planted (1)
	planting (1)
	plants (4)
	plate (2)
	Play-Doh (1)
	playwright (1)
	please (8)
	plural (2)
	plus (3)
	pm (5)
	POI (1)
	point (38)
	pointed (6)
	pointing (2)
	points (8)
	pole (2)
	police (5)
	policies (1)
	Polish (1)
	politically (1)
	pollution (1)
	pond (1)
	pond's (1)
	ponds (3)
	populated (1)
	portion (3)
	position (2)
	positive (1)
	possibility (2)
	possible (3)
	post (1)
	post-CEC (1)
	post-project (1)
	posted (5)
	posting (1)
	pot (1)
	potato (2)
	potential (4)
	potentially (2)
	power (18)
	power's (1)
	PowerPoint (1)
	practice (1)
	preamble (1)
	preannexation (1)
	precedence (1)
	precedent (3)
	precise (2)
	precision (1)
	predilection (1)
	prefer (5)
	preference (2)
	preparation (1)
	prepare (1)
	prepared (2)
	prescribe (1)
	prescribing (1)
	prescriptive (1)
	presence (1)
	present (1)
	presentable (1)
	presentations (2)
	presented (2)
	preserved (1)
	pretty (7)
	prevalent (1)
	previous (15)
	previously (3)
	primarily (2)
	Primary (2)
	prior (15)
	private (3)
	privilege (1)
	probably (23)
	probation (1)
	problem (7)
	problems (1)
	procedures (1)
	proceed (3)
	Proceedings (1)
	proceeds (1)
	process (13)
	products (2)
	professionalism (1)
	program (5)
	programs (2)
	project (202)
	project's (4)
	project-level (1)
	projects (6)
	propane (21)
	propane-fueled (1)
	proper (2)
	property (14)
	proposals (2)
	propose (7)
	proposed (22)
	proposes (1)
	proposing (6)
	prospect (1)
	prospective (1)
	protect (2)
	protection (6)
	protective (12)
	provide (32)
	provided (7)
	provider (2)
	provides (1)
	providing (3)
	provision (1)
	provisions (1)
	psychiatrist (1)
	psychotic (1)
	public (28)
	Pull (6)
	pulled (1)
	pulling (1)
	pump (1)
	Punto (1)
	purchase (1)
	purple (1)
	purport (1)
	purpose (5)
	purposes (7)
	pursued (1)
	purview (2)
	put (60)
	puts (2)
	putting (14)

	Q
	quagmire (1)
	quality (2)
	queue (2)
	queued (2)
	quick (3)
	quite (3)

	R
	r's (3)
	R18 (1)
	R2 (6)
	R26 (1)
	R27 (10)
	R32 (2)
	radius (7)
	railroad (1)
	range (2)
	rate (1)
	rather (6)
	reach (2)
	read (25)
	readers (1)
	reading (3)
	reads (1)
	ready (2)
	real (6)
	realistically (1)
	realize (2)
	really (19)
	reason (4)
	reasonable (6)
	reasonableness (1)
	reasonably (1)
	reasons (2)
	recall (9)
	recap (1)
	receipt (4)
	receive (2)
	received (3)
	recent (3)
	recess (7)
	recognize (1)
	recollection (1)
	recommend (2)
	recommendation (1)
	recommendations (3)
	recommended (3)
	reconsider (2)
	reconsideration (1)
	record (14)
	records (1)
	recouped (1)
	recycled (1)
	recycling (1)
	red (5)
	Redhawk (1)
	reduce (2)
	redundant (1)
	refer (4)
	reference (31)
	referenced (7)
	references (5)
	referencing (2)
	referred (4)
	referring (4)
	refers (5)
	reflect (3)
	regarding (5)
	region (2)
	regional (1)
	registrations (1)
	regularly (1)
	regulated (1)
	regulations (8)
	regulatory (3)
	reinsert (1)
	reiterate (2)
	relabel (1)
	relate (1)
	related (9)
	relates (2)
	relation (1)
	relations (1)
	relationship (2)
	relative (1)
	relevant (16)
	reliability (2)
	reliable (1)
	remain (5)
	remaining (4)
	remember (5)
	remembered (1)
	remind (1)
	reminded (1)
	remove (13)
	removed (3)
	renewable (1)
	repaired (1)
	repeat (1)
	repeating (1)
	replace (7)
	replaced (1)
	replanted (2)
	reply (1)
	report (1)
	Reporter (3)
	reporting (2)
	represent (1)
	representative (1)
	request (15)
	requested (2)
	requesting (2)
	require (11)
	required (10)
	requirement (4)
	requirements (12)
	requires (9)
	requiring (7)
	rescue (1)
	rescued (1)
	resemble (1)
	residences (1)
	residential (1)
	residents (7)
	resources (2)
	respect (3)
	respectfully (1)
	respond (2)
	responders (1)
	responding (1)
	response (119)
	responsibility (2)
	responsible (5)
	rest (5)
	restoring (1)
	restrict (1)
	restriction (2)
	restrictions (1)
	results (4)
	retention (5)
	revenue (1)
	review (7)
	reviewed (1)
	revised (2)
	RFP (1)
	rid (1)
	right (152)
	right-hand (4)
	right-of-way (1)
	right-of-ways (1)
	rights (2)
	rights-of-way (6)
	rights-of-ways (1)
	risk (1)
	road (2)
	roads (1)
	roadways (1)
	rock (3)
	role (3)
	roll (1)
	Roman (1)
	room (3)
	route (1)
	routinely (1)
	rubber (1)
	rule (1)
	rules (1)
	rulings (1)
	run (4)
	running (4)
	rural (2)
	RV (3)
	RVs (1)

	S
	safe (3)
	safety (2)
	same (15)
	San (2)
	saw (2)
	saying (23)
	scares (1)
	schedule (1)
	Schiller (1)
	school (4)
	schools (3)
	screen (25)
	screening (11)
	screens (1)
	scrivener's (2)
	Scroll (4)
	scrolling (1)
	se (1)
	Second (103)
	secondary (1)
	seconded (20)
	section (4)
	seeing (7)
	seek (5)
	seeking (4)
	seem (7)
	seemed (2)
	seems (5)
	self-storage (1)
	sell (1)
	sense (20)
	sent (2)
	sentence (14)
	sentences (1)
	separate (4)
	servers (1)
	service (6)
	services (3)
	serving (1)
	set (3)
	several (3)
	shading (1)
	shakes (1)
	shaking (1)
	shall (52)
	share (2)
	shared (1)
	sharing (1)
	shift (1)
	shoes (1)
	shopped (1)
	short (3)
	shot (1)
	show (7)
	showing (4)
	shown (4)
	shows (11)
	SHPO (1)
	shrubbery (1)
	side (14)
	sides (3)
	Siemens (1)
	sign (7)
	significance (1)
	significant (1)
	significantly (6)
	signs (8)
	silent (2)
	silly (2)
	similar (8)
	simple (2)
	simply (5)
	simulating (1)
	Simultaneous (1)
	simultaneously (1)
	single (2)
	single-line (1)
	singular (3)
	SIS (6)
	SISes (1)
	sit (1)
	site (87)
	sited (1)
	siting (3)
	situation (3)
	situations (1)
	six (2)
	six-foot (3)
	size (2)
	skip (1)
	slide (6)
	slides (1)
	small (2)
	solar (1)
	solely (1)
	solicit (2)
	solicited (1)
	somebody (3)
	somehow (1)
	someone (8)
	Someplace (1)
	sometimes (3)
	somewhat (1)
	somewhere (4)
	sorry (6)
	sort (7)
	sounds (4)
	source (2)
	sourced (1)
	sources (2)
	south (1)
	southeast (1)
	Southwest (5)
	southwestern (1)
	space (1)
	Spanish (2)
	speak (5)
	speaking (2)
	spec (1)
	specific (20)
	specifically (4)
	specificity (1)
	specifics (1)
	specified (3)
	specify (4)
	spell (6)
	spelled (4)
	spelling (4)
	spells (1)
	spend (2)
	spending (3)
	spot (3)
	spur (1)
	square (1)
	squat (1)
	squeeze (1)
	SRP (3)
	Staff (34)
	STAFFORD (753)
	stage (1)
	stakeholders (1)
	stand (1)
	standard (10)
	standard's (1)
	Standards (1)
	standing (2)
	standpoint (1)
	start (31)
	started (1)
	starter (1)
	starting (2)
	starts (1)
	state (10)
	stated (3)
	statement (5)
	statements (1)
	States (4)
	status (2)
	statute (2)
	statutes (2)
	stay (1)
	stead (1)
	steadfast (1)
	STEM (4)
	step (1)
	stepping (1)
	steps (2)
	stick (1)
	still (23)
	stirring (1)
	storage (17)
	store (1)
	stored (7)
	strategies (5)
	strategy (1)
	street (1)
	strengthens (1)
	stricken (4)
	strike (11)
	striking (2)
	strong (2)
	stronger (1)
	struck (1)
	structure (3)
	structures (1)
	stubbing (1)
	studies (28)
	study (13)
	stuff (12)
	sub (1)
	subdivision (1)
	subdivisions (1)
	subject (5)
	subjective (1)
	submit (2)
	submitted (8)
	submitting (1)
	subsection (2)
	subsequent (1)
	substantial (1)
	substation (28)
	substations (1)
	subtransmission (5)
	success (2)
	successfully (1)
	sudden (1)
	suggest (31)
	suggested (5)
	suggesting (2)
	suggestion (10)
	suggestions (5)
	super (1)
	superfluous (1)
	supervisor (1)
	supervisors (1)
	supply (2)
	support (2)
	supports (1)
	Suppose (1)
	supposed (1)
	sure (39)
	Surprise (20)
	surrounding (6)
	survey (4)
	surveys (6)
	suspenders (1)
	sweet (1)
	switchgear (1)
	switchyard (1)
	system (41)

	T
	Table (2)
	tablet (2)
	tack (1)
	tailored (1)
	talk (11)
	talked (6)
	talking (16)
	talks (3)
	Tan (2)
	tangelos (2)
	tank (1)
	tanks (6)
	tax (1)
	team (6)
	technical (3)
	technicality (1)
	technically (9)
	technological (1)
	technologies (1)
	technology (1)
	telling (1)
	term (7)
	terms (4)
	territory (1)
	testimony (9)
	Texas (1)
	Thanks (1)
	that'll (2)
	thawed (1)
	theirs (1)
	There'd (1)
	therefore (3)
	therein (1)
	thermal (10)
	thinking (9)
	Third (1)
	thoroughly (1)
	though (9)
	thought (28)
	thoughtful (1)
	thoughts (2)
	thread (1)
	three (1)
	threw (1)
	throughout (2)
	throws (1)
	tie (2)
	tied (3)
	Tier (9)
	tiers (1)
	ties (1)
	tight (1)
	timed (1)
	times (13)
	tiny (1)
	titled (1)
	Tod (1)
	today (3)
	today's (2)
	together (4)
	told (3)
	Tolmachoff (1)
	Tolmachoffs (1)
	took (5)
	tool (3)
	top (8)
	total (4)
	totally (1)
	touched (1)
	touching (1)
	tough (1)
	towards (2)
	towns (1)
	track (2)
	Tradition (1)
	traffic (1)
	tranches (3)
	transcript (3)
	transfer (1)
	transferring (1)
	transmission (42)
	transparency (1)
	transportation (4)
	treated (1)
	tree (1)
	trees (11)
	tried (1)
	trip (1)
	troubles (1)
	true (6)
	truly (1)
	truncation (1)
	try (6)
	trying (14)
	turbine (7)
	turbines (20)
	turn (2)
	turns (2)
	twice (1)
	twist (1)
	two (43)
	tying (1)
	type (5)
	types (1)
	typical (1)
	typically (5)
	typo (1)

	U
	ultimately (1)
	unachievable (1)
	under (19)
	underground (2)
	underscore (1)
	understandably (1)
	understood (1)
	undisputed (1)
	unincorporated (1)
	unintended (1)
	United (2)
	units (1)
	unless (3)
	unlikely (1)
	unmitigated (1)
	unrealistic (1)
	up (60)
	update (6)
	updated (1)
	upgrade (1)
	upgrades (1)
	upheld (1)
	upon (4)
	usage (1)
	use (16)
	used (6)
	useful (1)
	uses (1)
	using (5)
	usually (3)
	utilities (2)

	V
	valid (2)
	valuable (3)
	value (7)
	values (7)
	variability (1)
	variable (1)
	variables (1)
	varies (1)
	variety (2)
	vast (3)
	vegetation (2)
	vegetative (15)
	venture (6)
	Verde (1)
	version (1)
	versions (1)
	versus (4)
	via (6)
	video (1)
	view (6)
	violating (2)
	virtually (1)
	visual (31)
	visually (2)
	volume (1)
	vote (15)
	voted (2)
	voting (3)

	W
	Wait (4)
	waiting (1)
	wall (26)
	wants (5)
	warehouse (1)
	waste (1)
	wastewater (1)
	water (10)
	way (28)
	website (1)
	weigh (2)
	wells (1)
	weren't (3)
	west (6)
	what's (26)
	whatever's (1)
	where's (3)
	whereas (4)
	wherever (1)
	who's (7)
	whole (10)
	wholeheartedly (1)
	Whoops (1)
	wider (1)
	Wildlife (1)
	willing (5)
	willingness (2)
	wind (1)
	wise (1)
	wish (2)
	withdraw (8)
	withdrew (1)
	within (15)
	without (20)
	wonder (1)
	wondering (4)
	wonders (1)
	Word (21)
	worded (5)
	wording (5)
	words (4)
	wordsmith (3)
	work (28)
	workable (1)
	working (15)
	works (4)
	workshop (1)
	world (1)
	worse (1)
	worth (7)
	wrapped (1)
	write (1)
	written (9)
	wrong (3)
	wrote (1)

	X
	XYZ (1)

	Y
	yard (4)
	yards (1)
	Yay (1)
	year (3)
	years (8)
	yellow (3)
	Yep (10)
	yesterday (5)
	yield (1)
	young (1)

	Z
	zone (1)
	zoning (8)
	zoom (2)
	zoomed (1)
	zoomed-out (1)



